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BARNES & NOBLE 2017  LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

Dear Shareholder:

Fiscal 2017 proved to be an extremely challenging year for Barnes & Noble as well 
as for the Retail industry. Comparable store sales declined 6.3% for the year, 
primarily due to a decrease in traffic. It is abundantly clear that consumers are 
changing their shopping behavior and we have to do a better job of anticipating 
their needs.

This past fiscal year we opened three new concept stores: Eastchester, NY; Edina, 
Minnesota; and Folsom, California. While we are still learning from these new 
stores, we could not be more pleased with how well they have been received in 
the communities they serve. We hope to be able to use the insights from these 
stores to develop a concept store and to improve our existing fleet of stores.

Additionally, we have made progress in strengthening Barnes & Noble.com, our 
online business, which saw a 3.7% increase in sales. Much of our focus has been 
on stabilizing the foundation of the website and, as we look ahead to the current 
year, our goal is to build upon that solid foundation. We are re-designing our 
desktop and mobile sites to provide a great online experience whether shopping 
from the comfort of your own home or anywhere using your smartphone. 

While we were disappointed with sales in this fiscal year, we worked hard at 
reducing expenses by $137 million, enabling us to generate EBITDA of $172 
million while sustaining our profitability level. NOOK® was a major contributor, 
reducing their EBITDA losses by $47 million. Cost reductions have been and 
continue to be a major focus for the entire management team. 

The Company’s balance sheet remains solid. We ended the year with $65 million 
of debt under our $750 million credit facility, while returning $67 million in cash 
to shareholders through dividends and share repurchases. 

We have a new chief executive officer, Demos Parneros, who comes to us with a 
wealth of retail experience. He is fully immersed in our business and I have great 
confidence in his ability to work with the management team to affect positive change. 

As always, I would like to thank the 26,000 booksellers who do such an amazing 
job serving our customers.

 

Sincerely,

Leonard Riggio
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SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The selected consolidated financial data of Barnes & Noble, Inc. and its subsidiaries (collectively, the Company) set forth on 
the following pages should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes included elsewhere 
in this report. The Company’s fiscal year is comprised of 52 or 53 weeks, ending on the Saturday closest to the last day of 
April. The Statement of Operations Data for the 52 weeks ended April 29, 2017 (fiscal 2017), 52 weeks ended April 30, 2016 
(fiscal 2016) and 52 weeks ended May 2, 2015 (fiscal 2015), and the Balance Sheet Data as of April 29, 2017 and April 30, 
2016 are derived from, and are incorporated by reference to, audited consolidated financial statements which are included 
elsewhere in this report. The Statement of Operations Data for the 53 weeks ended May 3, 2014 (fiscal 2014), 52 weeks 
ended April 27, 2013 (fiscal 2013), the Balance Sheet Data as of May 2, 2015, May 3, 2014 and April 27, 2013 are derived from 
audited consolidated financial statements not included elsewhere in this report.
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FISCAL YEAR

(In thousands, except per share data) Fiscal 2017 Fiscal 2016 Fiscal 2015 Fiscal 2014 Fiscal 2013

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA:

Sales

Barnes & Noble Retail $ 3,784,655 4,028,614 4,108,243 4,295,140 4,568,247

NOOK 146,514 191,520 263,833 505,862 780,433

Eliminationa (36,611) (56,290) (74,968) (167,657) (272,919)

Total sales 3,894,558 4,163,844 4,297,108 4,633,345 5,075,761

Cost of sales and occupancy 2,682,356 2,836,547 2,871,184 3,214,396 3,800,064

Gross profit 1,212,202 1,327,297 1,425,924 1,418,949 1,275,697

Selling and administrative expenses 1,040,007 1,176,778 1,192,065 1,287,163 1,380,747

Depreciation and amortization 117,887 135,863 143,665 168,793 180,285

Operating income (loss) 54,308 14,656 90,194 (37,007) (285,335)

Interest expense, net and amortization
of deferred financing feesb 7,509 8,770 17,678 29,122 30,474

Income (loss) before taxes 46,799 5,886 72,516 (66,129) (315,809)

Income taxes 24,776 (8,814) 39,644 13,011 (122,407)

Net income (loss) from continuing operations 22,023 14,700 32,872 (79,140) (193,402)

Net income (loss) from discontinued operations  — (39,146) 3,724 31,872 35,596

Net income (loss) $     22,023 (24,446) 36,596 (47,268) (157,806)

Basic income (loss) per common share:

Income (loss) from continuing operations $          0.30 0.05 0.15 (1.67) (3.63)

Income (loss) from discontinued operations  — (0.54) 0.06 0.54 0.61

Basic income (loss) per common share $         0.30 (0.49) 0.21 (1.12) (3.02)

Diluted income (loss) per common share:

Income (loss) from continuing operations $         0.30  0.05 0.15 (1.67) (3.63)

Income (loss) from discontinued operations  —  (0.54)  0.06  0.54  0.61

Diluted income (loss) per common share $         0.30  (0.49)  0.21  (1.12)  (3.02)

Weighted average common shares outstanding:

Basic 72,188 72,410 60,842 58,971 58,247

Diluted 72,328 72,542 60,928 58,971 58,247

Dividends declared per common share $        0.60  0.60  —  —  —
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FISCAL YEAR

(In thousands of dollars, except per share data) Fiscal 2017 Fiscal 2016 Fiscal 2015 Fiscal 2014 Fiscal 2013

OTHER OPERATING DATA:

Number of Barnes & Noble Retail stores 633 640 648 661 675

Comparable sales increase (decrease):

Barnes & Noble Retail store salesc (6.3)% 0.0% (1.9)% (5.8)% (3.4)%

Barnes & Noble Retail core salesd (5.7)% 0.4% 0.5% (3.1)% 0.1%

Capital expenditures $      96,258 94,274 94,805 96,728 127,075

BALANCE SHEET DATA:

Total assets – continuing operations $ 1,932,921 2,012,782  2,045,104 2,270,649 2,542,108

Total assets – discontinued operations $             — — 1,067,327 1,122,071 980,535

Total liabilities – continuing operations $ 1,358,610 1,409,272 1,347,384 1,798,649 1,880,729

Total liabilities – discontinued operations $             — — 379,630 357,180 353,009

Long-term debt $      64,900  47,200  —  — 77,000

Long-term subordinated note $             —  —  —  — 127,250

Shareholders’ equity $    574,311  603,510  1,189,358  658,696 713,743

a Represents sales from NOOK to B&N Retail on a sell-through basis.

b Amounts for fiscal 2017, fiscal 2016, fiscal 2015, fiscal 2014 and fiscal 2013 are net of interest income of $0, $0, $58, $190 and $71, respectively.

c Comparable store sales increase (decrease) is calculated on a 52-week basis, including sales from stores that have been open for at least 15 months 
and all eReader device revenue deferred in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification 605-25, Revenue Recognition, Multiple-Element 
Arrangements, and does not include sales from closed or relocated stores.

d Core comparable store sales, which exclude sales of NOOK® products, increase (decrease) is calculated on a 52-week basis, including sales from 
stores that have been open for at least 15 months and does not include sales from closed or relocated stores.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND  
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Barnes & Noble, Inc.’s (Barnes & Noble or the Company) 
fiscal year is comprised of 52 or 53 weeks, ending on the 
Saturday closest to the last day of April. As used in this sec-
tion, “fiscal 2017” represents the 52 weeks ended April 29, 
2017, “fiscal 2016” represents the 52 weeks ended April 30, 
2016 and “fiscal 2015” represents the 52 weeks ended May 
2, 2015.

GENERAL

Barnes & Noble, Inc., one of the nation’s largest 
booksellers,1 provides customers a unique experience 
across its multi-channel distribution platform. As of April 
29, 2017, the Company operates 633 bookstores in 50 states, 
maintains an eCommerce site, develops digital reading 
products and operates NOOK, one of the largest digital 
bookstores. Barnes & Noble is utilizing the strength of its 
retail footprint in combination with its online and digital 
businesses to provide an omni-channel experience for its 
customers, fulfilling its commitment to offer customers any 
book, anytime, anywhere and in any format.

Barnes & Noble Retail (B&N Retail) operates 633 
retail bookstores, primarily under the Barnes & Noble 
Booksellers® trade name, and includes the Company’s 
eCommerce site. B&N Retail also includes Sterling 
Publishing Co., Inc. (Sterling or Sterling Publishing), a 
leader in general trade book publishing. The NOOK seg-
ment represents the Company’s digital business, offering 
digital books and magazines for sale and consumption 
online, NOOK®2 reading devices, co-branded NOOK® 
tablets and reading software for iOS, Android and Windows. 
The Company employed approximately 26,000 employees 
(11,000 full-time and 15,000 part-time employees) as of 
April 29, 2017.

The Company’s principal business is the sale of trade books 
(generally, hardcover and paperback titles), mass market 
paperbacks (such as mystery, romance, science fiction and 
other popular fiction), children’s books, eBooks and other 
digital content, NOOK® and related accessories, bargain 
books, magazines, gifts, café products and services, educa-
tional toys & games, music and movies direct to customers 

1  Based upon sales reported in trade publications and public filings.
2  Any references to NOOK® include the Company’s NOOK® Tablet, Samsung 

Galaxy Tab® A NOOK®, Samsung Galaxy Tab® S2 NOOK®, Samsung 
Galaxy Tab® E NOOK® and NOOK GlowLightTM Plus devices, each of 
which includes the trademark symbol (® or ™, as applicable) even if a 
trademark symbol is not included.

through its bookstores or on www.barnesandnoble.com. 
The Company offers its customers a full suite of textbook 
options (new, used, digital and rental).

SEPARATION OF BARNES & NOBLE EDUCATION,  INC.

On February 26, 2015, Barnes & Noble announced plans 
for the legal and structural separation of Barnes & Noble 
Education, Inc. (Barnes & Noble Education or B&N 
Education) (formerly known as NOOK Media Inc.) from 
Barnes & Noble into an independent public company (the 
Spin-Off).

On July 14, 2015, the Barnes & Noble board of directors (the 
Board) approved the final distribution ratio and declared 
a pro rata dividend of the outstanding shares of B&N 
Education common stock, which resulted in the complete 
legal and structural separation of the two companies. The 
distribution was subject to the satisfaction or waiver of cer-
tain conditions as set forth in B&N Education’s Registration 
Statement on Form S-1, which was filed with the Securities 
and Exchange Commission (SEC) on February 26, 2015 and 
was amended on April 29, 2015, June 4, 2015, June 29, 2015, 
July 13, 2015, July 14, 2015 and July 15, 2015.

On August 2, 2015, Barnes & Noble completed the Spin-Off 
of Barnes & Noble Education and distributed, on a pro rata 
basis, all of the shares of B&N Education common stock to 
the Company’s stockholders of record as of July 27, 2015. 
These Barnes & Noble stockholders of record as of July 
27, 2015 received a distribution of 0.632 shares of B&N 
Education common stock for each share of Barnes & Noble 
common stock held as of the record date. Immediately 
following the completion of the Spin-Off, the Company’s 
stockholders owned 100% of the outstanding shares of 
common stock of B&N Education. Following the Spin-Off, 
B&N Education operates as an independent public company 
and as the parent of Barnes & Noble College, trading on New 
York Stock Exchange under the ticker symbol “BNED”.

In connection with the separation of B&N Education, the 
Company and B&N Education entered into a Separation and 
Distribution Agreement on July 14, 2015 and several other 
ancillary agreements on August 2, 2015. These agreements 
govern the relationship between the Company and B&N 
Education after the separation and allocate between the 
Company and B&N Education various assets, liabilities, 
rights and obligations following the separation, includ-
ing employee benefits, intellectual property, information 
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technology, insurance and tax-related assets and liabilities. 
The agreements also describe the Company’s future com-
mitments to provide B&N Education with certain transition 
services.

This Spin-Off is expected to be a non-taxable event for 
Barnes & Noble and its shareholders, and Barnes & Noble’s 
U.S. shareholders (other than those subject to special 
rules) generally will not recognize gain or loss as a result of 
the distribution of B&N Education shares.

HISTORY OF BARNES & NOBLE EDUCATION,  INC.

On September 30, 2009, Barnes & Noble acquired Barnes 
& Noble College Booksellers, LLC (B&N College) from 
Leonard and Louise Riggio. From that date until October 
4, 2012, B&N College was wholly owned by Barnes & Noble 
Booksellers, Inc. B&N Education was initially incorpo-
rated under the name NOOK Media Inc. in July 2012 to 
hold Barnes & Noble’s B&N College and NOOK digital 
businesses. On October 4, 2012, Microsoft Corporation 
(Microsoft) acquired a 17.6% non-controlling preferred 
membership interest in B&N Education’s subsidiary B&N 
Education, LLC (formerly NOOK Media LLC) (the LLC), 
and through B&N Education, Barnes & Noble maintained 
an 82.4% controlling interest of the B&N College and 
NOOK digital businesses.

On January 22, 2013, Pearson Education, Inc. (Pearson) 
acquired a 5% non-controlling preferred membership 
interest in the LLC, entered into a commercial agreement 
with the LLC relating to the B&N College business and 
received warrants to purchase an additional preferred 
membership interest in the LLC.

On December 4, 2014, B&N Education re-acquired 
Microsoft’s interest in the LLC in exchange for cash and 
common stock of Barnes & Noble and the Microsoft com-
mercial agreement was terminated effective as of such date. 
On December 22, 2014, B&N Education also re-acquired 
Pearson’s interest in the LLC and certain related warrants 
previously issued to Pearson. In connection with these 
transactions, Barnes & Noble entered into contingent pay-
ment agreements with Microsoft and Pearson providing for 
additional payments upon the occurrence of certain events, 
including upon a sale of the NOOK digital business. As a 
result of these transactions, Barnes & Noble owned, prior 
to the Spin-Off, 100% of B&N Education.

On May 1, 2015, B&N Education distributed to Barnes & 
Noble all of the membership interests in B&N Education’s 
NOOK digital business. As a result, B&N Education ceased 
to own any interest in the NOOK digital business, which 
remains a wholly owned subsidiary of Barnes & Noble.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS OF BARNES & NOBLE 
EDUCATION,  INC.

The Company has recognized the separation of B&N 
Education in accordance with Accounting Standards 
Codification (ASC) 205-20, Discontinued Operations. As 
such, the historical results of Barnes & Noble Education for 
fiscal 2015 and fiscal 2014 have been adjusted to include 
pre-spin B&N Education results and separation-related 
costs and exclude corporate allocations with B&N Retail, 
and have been classified as discontinued operations. 
Additionally, discontinued operations for fiscal 2016 
primarily consisted of pre-spin B&N Education results, 
investment banking fees (as they directly related to the 
Spin-Off) and separation-related costs, and excluded 
corporate allocation adjustments with B&N Retail.

RESIGNATION CHARGE

On August 2, 2015, Michael P. Huseby resigned from the 
Company’s Board of Directors and as Chief Executive 
Officer of the Company, which was contingent upon the 
successful separation of B&N Education. In connection 
with his termination of employment, he received severance 
payments based on the terms of his employment agreement 
with the Company, effective as of January 7, 2014. Under the 
terms of his employment agreement, upon a resignation for 
“Good Reason”, Mr. Huseby was entitled to receive lump-
sum severance equal to two times the sum of (a) annual 
base salary, (b) the average annual incentive compensation 
paid to the named executive officer with respect to the pre-
ceding two completed years and (c) the cost of benefits. In 
addition, Mr. Huseby was entitled to accelerated vesting of 
the equity-based awards granted pursuant to his employ-
ment agreement. As a result, Mr. Huseby received a sever-
ance payment equal to $7.7 million and additionally was 
entitled to 300,000 shares of the Company’s common stock 
pursuant to the accelerated vesting of the equity-based 
awards, which were settled for cash based on the closing 
price of the Company’s common stock on the record date of 
the Spin-Off in an amount equal to $8.0 million. The net 
cash payments related to Mr. Huseby’s resignation totaled 
$15.7 million during the second quarter of fiscal 2016. Mr. 
Huseby’s 300,000 shares have been ratably expensed from 
the initial grant date, thereby reducing the total resignation 
charge to $10.5 million, which was recorded within selling 
and administrative expenses during the second quarter of 
fiscal 2016.
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CEO DEPARTURE

On October 26, 2016, the Company entered into a release 
agreement (the Release Agreement) with its former Chief 
Executive Officer, Ronald D. Boire. Under the Release 
Agreement, Mr. Boire and the Company agreed to release 
claims against each other in connection with Mr. Boire’s 
termination of employment in exchange for a cash payment 
contemplated by his employment agreement. In connec-
tion with the execution of the Release Agreement, Mr. Boire 
also agreed to forfeit all equity awards that were granted to 
him by the Company.

The cash payment in connection with the Release 
Agreement totaled $4.8 million. The Company has previ-
ously recognized $1.9 million in expense relating to the 
equity awards granted to Mr. Boire during his employment. 
Taking into account the reversal of those expenses, the 
Company recorded a net charge related to the cash payment 
to Mr. Boire in connection with the Release Agreement of 
$2.9 million within selling and administrative expenses 
during the second quarter of fiscal 2017.

SERIES J  PREFERRED STOCK

On August 18, 2011, the Company entered into an invest-
ment agreement between the Company and Liberty GIC, 
Inc. (Liberty), pursuant to which the Company issued and 
sold to Liberty, and Liberty purchased, 204,000 shares of 
the Company’s Series J Preferred Stock, par value $0.001 
per share (Preferred Stock), for an aggregate purchase 
price of $204.0 million in a private placement exempt from 
the registration requirements of the 1933 Act. The shares of 
Preferred Stock were convertible, at the option of the hold-
ers, into shares of Common Stock representing 16.6% of 
the Common Stock outstanding as of August 29, 2011 (after 
giving pro forma effect to the issuance of the Preferred 
Stock) based on the initial conversion rate. The initial con-
version rate reflected an initial conversion price of $17.00 
and was subject to adjustment in certain circumstances. 
The initial dividend rate for the Preferred Stock was equal 
to 7.75% per annum of the initial liquidation preference of 
the Preferred Stock paid quarterly and subject to adjust-
ment in certain circumstances.

On April 8, 2014, Liberty sold the majority of its shares 
to qualified institutional buyers in reliance on Rule 144A 
under the Securities Act and had retained an approximate 
10% stake of its initial investment. As a result, Liberty no 
longer had the right to elect two preferred stock directors 
to the Company’s Board. Additionally, the consent rights 
and pre-emptive rights, to which Liberty was previously 

entitled, ceased to apply.

On June 5, 2015, the Company entered into conversion 
agreements with five beneficial owners (Series J Holders) 
of its Preferred Stock, pursuant to which each of the Series 
J Holders had agreed to convert (Conversion) shares of 
Preferred Stock it beneficially owned into shares of the 
Company’s common stock, par value $0.001 per share 
(Company Common Stock), and additionally received a 
cash payment from the Company in connection with the 
Conversion.

On July 9, 2015, the Company completed the Conversion. 
Pursuant to the terms of the Conversion Agreements, the 
Series J Holders converted an aggregate of 103,995 shares of 
Preferred Stock into 6,117,342 shares of Company Common 
Stock, and made an aggregate cash payment to the Series J 
Holders of $3.7 million plus cash in lieu of fractional shares 
in connection with the Conversion.

On July 10, 2015, the Company gave notice of its exercise 
of the right to force conversion of all outstanding shares 
of its Senior Convertible Redeemable Series J Preferred 
Stock into Company Common Stock pursuant to Section 
9 of the Certificate of Designations, Preferences and 
Relative Participating, Optional and Other Special Rights 
and Qualifications, Limitations and Restrictions of Series 
J Preferred Stock, dated as of August 18, 2011 (the Forced 
Conversion). The effective date of the Forced Conversion 
was July 24, 2015. On the date of the Forced Conversion, 
each share of Series J Preferred Stock was automatically 
converted into 59.8727 shares of Company Common Stock, 
which included shares of Company Common Stock reflect-
ing accrued and unpaid dividends on Series J Preferred 
Stock. Each holder of Series J Preferred Stock received 
whole shares of Company Common Stock and a cash 
amount in lieu of fractional shares of Company Common 
Stock.

As a result of the transactions described above, all shares of 
Series J Preferred Stock were retired by the Company and 
are no longer outstanding.

SEGMENTS

The Company identifies its operating segments based on 
the way the business is managed (focusing on the financial 
information distributed) and the manner in which the 
chief operating decision maker interacts with other mem-
bers of management and makes decisions on the allocation 
of resources. The Company’s two operating segments are 
B&N Retail and NOOK.
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B&N Retail
This segment includes 633 bookstores as of April 29, 2017, 
primarily under the Barnes & Noble Booksellers trade 
name. These Barnes & Noble stores generally offer a com-
prehensive trade book title base, a café, and departments 
dedicated to Juvenile, Toys & Games, DVDs, Music & Vinyl, 
Gift, Magazine, Bargain products and a dedicated NOOK® 
area. The stores also offer a calendar of ongoing events, 
including author appearances and children’s activities. The 
B&N Retail segment also includes the Company’s eCom-
merce website, www.barnesandnoble.com, and its publish-
ing operation, Sterling Publishing.

Barnes & Noble stores range in size from 3,000 to 60,000 
square feet depending upon market size, with an overall 
average store size of 26,000 square feet. In fiscal 2017, 
the Company reduced the Barnes & Noble store base by 
approximately 199,000 square feet, bringing the total 
square footage to 16.7 million square feet, a net reduction of 
1.2% from fiscal 2016.

Each Barnes & Noble store features an authoritative selec-
tion of books, ranging from 22,000 to 163,000 titles. The 
comprehensive title selection is diverse and reflects local 
interests and regional titles and authors’ works. Bestsellers 
typically represent between approximately 4% and 6% of 
Barnes & Noble store sales. Product Master, the Company’s 
proprietary inventory management database, has approxi-
mately 19.0 million titles. It includes approximately 7.3 
million active titles and provides each store with compre-
hensive title selections. By enhancing the Company’s exist-
ing merchandise replenishment systems, Product Master 
allows the Company to achieve higher in-stock positions 
and better productivity at the bookstore level through 
efficiencies in receiving, cashiering and returns process-
ing. Complementing this extensive on-site selection, all 
Barnes & Noble stores provide customers with access to 
the millions of books available to online shoppers at www.
barnesandnoble.com by offering an option to have the book 
sent to the store or shipped directly to the customer.

Sterling Publishing
Sterling Publishing is a leading publisher of non-fiction 
trade titles. Founded in 1949, Sterling publishes a wide 
range of non-fiction and illustrated books and kits across a 
variety of imprints, in categories such as health & well-
ness, music & popular culture, food & wine, crafts, puzzles 
& games, coloring books and history & current affairs, as 
well as a large children’s line. Sterling, with a solid backlist 
and robust value publishing program, has a title base of 
approximately 15,000 eBooks and print books. In addi-
tion, Sterling also distributes approximately 1,100 titles on 
behalf of client publishers.

NOOK
This segment represents the Company’s digital business, 
including the development and support of the Company’s 
NOOK® product offerings. The digital business includes 
digital content such as eBooks, digital newsstand and 
sales of NOOK® devices and accessories to B&N Retail. The 
underlying strategy of the NOOK business is to offer cus-
tomers any digital book, newspaper or magazine, anytime, 
on any device. The Company remains committed to deliv-
ering to customers the best digital bookstore experience, 
providing easy access to Barnes & Noble’s expansive digital 
collection of over four million eBooks, digital magazines 
and newspapers, while rationalizing its existing cost struc-
ture. As part of this commitment, the Company partners 
with Samsung to develop co-branded NOOK® tablets that 
feature the award-winning Barnes & Noble digital reading 
experience, while continuing to develop and offer its own 
black-and-white NOOK® eReaders.

On April 7, 2016, the Company entered into an agreement 
with Bahwan CyberTek (BCT), a global software products 
and services company, in which the Company outsourced 
certain NOOK functions, including cloud management and 
development support for NOOK® software.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

FISCAL YEAR Fiscal 2017 Fiscal 2016 Fiscal 2015

Sales (in thousands) $ 3,894,558 $ 4,163,844 $ 4,297,108

Net Income From Continuing Operations (in thousands) $       22,023 $ 14,700 $     32,872

Net Income (Loss) From Discontinued Operations (in thousands) $  — $ (39,146) $       3,724

Net Income (Loss) (in thousands) $       22,023 $   (24,446)  $     36,596

Diluted Income Per Common Share From Continuing Operations $           0.30 $  0.05 $         0.15

Diluted Income (Loss) Per Common Share From Discontinued 
Operations $  — $  (0.54) $         0.06

Diluted Income (Loss) Per Common Share $           0.30 $ (0.49) $         0.21

Comparable Sales Increase (Decrease)

Barnes & Noble Retail store salesa (6.3)% 0.0% (1.9)%

Barnes & Noble Retail core salesb (5.7)% 0.4% 0.5%

STORES OPENED

Barnes & Noble Retail stores 3 0 0

STORES CLOSED

Barnes & Noble Retail stores 10 8 13

NUMBER OF STORES OPEN AT YEAR END

Barnes & Noble Retail stores 633 640 648

SQUARE FEET OF SELLING SPACE AT YEAR END (in millions)

Barnes & Noble Retail stores 16.7 16.9 17.1

a Comparable store sales increase (decrease) is calculated on a 52-week basis, including sales from stores that have been open for at least 15 months 
and all eReader device revenue deferred in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 605-25, Revenue Recognition, Multiple-Element 
Arrangements, and does not include sales from closed or relocated stores.

b Core comparable store sales, which exclude sales of NOOK® products, increase (decrease) is calculated on a 52-week basis, including sales from 
stores that have been open for at least 15 months and does not include sales from closed or relocated stores.
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The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the percentage relationship that certain items bear to total sales of 
the Company:

FISCAL YEAR Fiscal 2017 Fiscal 2016 Fiscal 2015

Sales 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Cost of sales and occupancy 68.9  68.1  66.8

Gross profit 31.1 31.9 33.2

Selling and administrative expenses 26.7 28.3 27.7

Depreciation and amortization  3.0  3.3  3.3

Operating income 1.4 0.4 2.1

Interest expense, net and amortization of deferred financing fees  0.2  0.2  0.4

Income before taxes 1.2  0.1 1.7

Income taxes  0.6  (0.2)  0.9

Net income from continuing operations  0.6 0.4  0.8

Net income (loss) from discontinued operations  —  (0.9)  0.1

Net income (loss)  0.6%  (0.6)%  0.9%

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

Recently, Barnes & Noble has experienced declining sales 
trends due primarily to lower store traffic and the chal-
lenging retail environment. Despite sales declines, the 
Company has been able to sustain profit levels on cost 
reductions. While the Company believes it has lost share on 
its recent sales performance, it also sees opportunities in 
an industry that has become more stable.

 To grow sales, the Company will leverage the strength of 
its Barnes & Noble brand, knowledgeable booksellers, 
vast selection and retail footprint to attract customers to 
its omni-channel offerings. Merchandising initiatives are 
focused on increasing the number of value offers, improv-
ing SKU productivity, improving inventory management 
processes, testing changes to existing store layouts and 
remerchandising select business units in stores. The 
Company believes there is opportunity to increase conver-
sion, by improving navigation and discovery throughout 
the store, including a customer friendly and more intuitive 
organization of books and improved signage for easier 
browsing within and across sections.

In-store events also drive traffic, reinforcing Barnes & 
Noble as a community center where customers can meet, 
browse and discover. The Company is also utilizing social 
media, where booksellers communicate events, promo-
tions and new product offerings with customers at the local 
level.

In addition to initiatives focused on growing sales through 
its existing store base, the Company is also testing new 
bookstore formats, which it believes could foster sales 
growth in the future.

BN.com and NOOK are important components of the 
Company’s omni-channel strategy. The Company believes 
that in the long term, enhancements to its BN.com plat-
form will enable it to be more competitive in the mar-
ketplace. The Company continues to improve its overall 
eCommerce user experience across channels, including 
desktop, tablet, mobile and app based, with the goal of 
providing a great device agnostic user experience. For 
customers interested in eBooks, the Company continues to 
judiciously bring new NOOK® devices and apps to market.

The Company’s Membership program provides the 
Company with valuable data and insights into its customer 
base, enabling the Company to better understand and mar-
ket to its customers. Members are more productive than 
Non-Members, as they spend more and visit more often. 
The Company continues to test programs to grow sales to 
both Members and Non-Members, increase Membership, 
improve price perception and enhance its overall customer 
value proposition.

In light of the declining sales trends, the Company remains 
committed to right sizing its cost structure. The Company 
is focused on simplification throughout its organization 
to create efficiencies and reinvest resources to support 
sales growth. At B&N Retail, the Company is focused on 
increasing store and supply chain productivity, streamlin-
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ing operations and eliminating non-productive spend. 
At NOOK, the Company exited non-core businesses and 
outsourced certain functions, which enabled it to close 
its Santa Clara, CA and Taipei offices. NOOK expects to 
continue to re-calibrate its cost structure commensurate 
with sales, further reducing its losses.

52  WEEKS ENDED APRIL  29 ,  2017  COMPARED WITH 52 
WEEKS ENDED APRIL  30 ,  2016

The following tables summarize the Company’s results of 
operations for the 52 weeks ended April 29, 2017 and 52 
weeks ended April 30, 2016.

Sales
52 Weeks Ended 52 Weeks Ended

Dollars in thousands
April 29, 

2017 % Total
April 30, 

2016 % Total

B&N Retail $ 3,784,655 97.2% $ 4,028,614 96.8%

NOOK 146,514 3.8% 191,520 4.6%

Elimination (36,611) (0.9)% (56,290) (1.4)%

Total Sales $ 3,894,558 100.0% $ 4,163,844 100.0%

The Company’s sales decreased $269.3 million, or 6.5%, 
during fiscal 2017 to $3.895 billion from $4.164 billion 
during fiscal 2016. The changes by segment are as follows:

 • B&N Retail sales decreased $244.0 million, or 6.1%, 
to $3.785 billion from $4.029 billion during the same 
period one year ago, and accounted for 97.2% of total 
Company sales. Comparable store sales decreased $216.5 
million, or 6.3%, as compared to the prior year. Closed 
stores decreased sales by $46.7 million. B&N Retail also 
includes third-party sales of Sterling Publishing Co., 
Inc., which decreased by $13.4 million, or 27.3%, versus 
the prior year on lower coloring book sales. Online 
sales increased $10.8 million, or 3.7%, versus the prior 
year period on benefits from an eBook settlement (as 
discussed below), site improvements and increased 
promotional activity. New stores increased sales by 
$7.7 million. Gift card breakage increased $6.5 million 
as redemptions continue to run lower than historical 
patterns.

Of the $216.5 million decrease in comparable store 
sales, core comparable store sales, which exclude sales 
of NOOK® products, decreased $194.2 million, or 5.7%, 
as compared to the prior year due in large part to lower 
traffic, comparisons to last year’s coloring book and 
artist supplies phenomenon and the challenging retail 
environment. Book categories decreased sales by $134.5 
million, or 6.0%, on lower sales of Trade, Bargain (pri-

marily coloring books) and Juvenile titles, while non-
book core categories decreased sales by $59.7 million, or 
5.1% on declines in the DVD, Café, Newsstand and Gift 
businesses. Comparable sales of NOOK® products at B&N 
Retail stores decreased $22.3 million, or 37.5%, primar-
ily on lower device unit volume and lower average selling 
prices.

 • NOOK sales decreased $45.0 million, or 23.5%, to $146.5 
million from $191.5 million during the same period one 
year ago, and accounted for 3.8% of total Company sales. 
Digital content sales decreased $23.6 million, or 18.1%, 
compared to prior year on lower unit sales, partially 
offset by higher average selling prices. Current year 
content volume benefited from an eBook settlement. 
Device and accessories sales decreased $21.4 million, or 
34.9%, primarily on lower unit sales and lower average 
selling prices.

 • Elimination sales, which represent sales from NOOK to 
B&N Retail on a sell-through basis, decreased $19.7 mil-
lion, or 35.0%, versus the prior year. NOOK sales, net of 
elimination, accounted for 2.8% of total Company sales.

In fiscal 2017, the Company opened three and closed ten 
Barnes & Noble stores, bringing its total number of B&N 
Retail stores to 633, with 16.7 million square feet, in the 50 
states.

Cost of Sales and Occupancy

52 Weeks Ended 52 Weeks Ended

Dollars in thousands
April 29, 

2017 % Sales
April 30, 

2016 % Sales

B&N Retail $ 2,636,113 69.7% $ 2,770,209 68.8%

NOOK 82,854 56.6% 122,628 64.0%

Elimination (36,611) (25.0)% (56,290) (29.4)%

Total Cost of Sales  
and Occupancy $ 2,682,356 68.9% $ 2,836,547 68.1%

The Company’s cost of sales and occupancy includes costs 
such as merchandise costs, distribution center costs 
(including payroll, freight, supplies and other operating 
expenses), rental expense, common area maintenance and 
real estate taxes, partially offset by landlord tenant allow-
ances amortized over the life of the lease.

Cost of sales and occupancy decreased $154.2 million, or 
5.4%, to $2.682 billion in fiscal 2017 from $2.837 billion 
in fiscal 2016. Cost of sales and occupancy increased as a 
percentage of sales to 68.9% in fiscal 2017 from 68.1% in 
fiscal 2016. The changes by segment are as follows:
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 • B&N Retail cost of sales and occupancy increased as a 
percentage of sales to 69.7% from 68.8%, or 90 basis 
points, during the same period one year ago primar-
ily on occupancy deleverage (60 basis points), higher 
markdowns (50 basis points) from promotional activ-
ity, including Harry Potter and the Cursed Child, as well 
as markdowns to clear non-returnable merchandise 
resulting from the holiday sales shortfall. The remain-
ing variance included product mix, sales deleverage and 
general timing differences.

 • NOOK cost of sales and occupancy decreased as a per-
centage of sales to 56.6% from 64.0% during the same 
period one year ago. This decrease was primarily due 
to sales mix, improved device margins and a favorable 
channel partner settlement.

Gross Profit

52 Weeks Ended 52 Weeks Ended

Dollars in thousands
April 29, 

2017 % Sales
April 30, 

2016 % Sales

B&N Retail $ 1,148,542 30.3% $ 1,258,405 31.2%

NOOK 63,660 57.9% 68,892 50.9%

Total Gross Profit $ 1,212,202 31.1% $ 1,327,297 31.9%

The Company’s consolidated gross profit decreased $115.1 
million, or 8.7%, to $1.212 billion in fiscal 2017 from $1.327 
billion in fiscal 2016. This decrease was due to the matters 
discussed above.

Selling and Administrative Expenses

52 Weeks Ended 52 Weeks Ended

Dollars in thousands
April 29, 

2017 % Sales
April 30, 

2016 % Sales

B&N Retail $ 959,002 25.3% $ 1,043,221 25.9%

NOOK 81,005 73.7% 133,557 98.8%

Total Selling and 
Administrative  
Expenses $ 1,040,007 26.7% $ 1,176,778 28.3%

Selling and administrative expenses decreased $136.8 mil-
lion, or 11.6%, to $1.040 billion in fiscal 2017 from $1.177 
billion in fiscal 2016. Selling and administrative expenses 
decreased as a percentage of sales to 26.7% in fiscal 2017 
from 28.3% in fiscal 2016. The changes by segment are as 
follows:

 • B&N Retail selling and administrative expenses 
decreased $84.2 million as compared to prior year, 
decreasing 60 basis points as a percentage of sales to 
25.3% from 25.9% for the year. Favorable variances to 
the prior year include lower pension expense (60 basis 
points) on the prior year pension settlement charge, 

lower holiday advertising (45 basis points) and lower 
website expenses (25 basis points) as the prior year 
included investments to stabilize the site and improve 
traffic and customer experience. The prior year also 
included a net CEO separation-related severance charge 
of $10.5 million (25 basis points). Unfavorable vari-
ances to the prior year include higher store payroll (65 
basis points on store sales) as sales deleverage and wage 
increases offset productivity gains, higher non-CEO sev-
erance costs (25 basis points) primarily resulting from 
a cost reduction program and a severance charge (net 
of reversal of expense relating to equity awards) of $3.0 
million resulting from the current year CEO departure 
(10 basis points). The remaining variance included the 
general timing of expenses.

 • NOOK selling and administrative expenses decreased 
$52.6 million as compared to the prior year, decreasing 
as a percentage of sales to 73.7% from 98.8% during the 
same period a year ago. Current year expenses include 
severance and transitional costs of $10.7 million related 
to the outsourcing of certain services and the closure of 
its California and Taiwan offices. Excluding these costs, 
the decrease in dollars was primarily attributable to 
continued cost rationalization efforts, including lower 
compensation, as well as lower variable costs on the sales 
decline.

Depreciation and Amortization

52 Weeks Ended 52 Weeks Ended

Dollars in thousands
April 29, 

2017 % Sales
April 30, 

2016 % Sales

B&N Retail $ 98,877 2.6% $ 101,888 2.5%

NOOK 19,010 17.3% 33,975 25.1%

Total Depreciation and 
Amortization $ 117,887 3.0% $ 135,863 3.3%

Depreciation and amortization decreased $18.0 million, or 
13.2%, to $117.9 million in fiscal 2017 from $135.9 million 
in fiscal 2016. This decrease was primarily attributable 
to fully depreciated assets, partially offset by additional 
capital expenditures.

Operating Income (Loss)

52 Weeks Ended 52 Weeks Ended

Dollars in thousands
April 29, 

2017 % Sales
April 30, 

2016 % Sales

B&N Retail $ 90,663 2.4% $ 113,296 2.8%

NOOK (36,355) (33.1)% (98,640) (72.9)%

Total Operating Income $ 54,308 1.4% $ 14,656 0.4%
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The Company’s consolidated operating income increased 
$39.7 million, or 270.6%, to an operating income of $54.3 
million in fiscal 2017 from an operating income of $14.7 
million in fiscal 2016. This increase was due to the matters 
discussed above.

Interest Expense, Net and Amortization of Deferred 
Financing Fees

52 Weeks 
Ended

52 Weeks 
Ended

Dollars in thousands April 29, 2017 April 30, 2016  % of Change

Interest Expense, Net and 
Amortization of Deferred 
Financing Fees $ 7,509 $ 8,770 (14.4)%

Net interest expense and amortization of deferred financ-
ing fees decreased $1.3 million, or 14.4%, to $7.5 million in 
fiscal 2017 from $8.8 million in fiscal 2016. This decrease 
was primarily due to lower deferred financing fees in 
conjunction with the refinancing of the credit facility in 
August 2015.

Income Taxes

52 Weeks Ended 52 Weeks Ended

Dollars in thousands
April 29, 

2017
Effective 

Rate
April 30, 

2016
Effective 

Rate

Income Taxes $ 24,776  52.9% $ (8,814)  (149.7)%

The Company recorded an income tax provision of $24.8 
million in fiscal 2017 compared with an income tax benefit 
of $8.8 million in fiscal 2016. The Company’s effective tax 
rate was 52.9% and (149.7)% in fiscal 2017 and fiscal 2016, 
respectively. The Company’s effective tax rate differs from 
the statutory rate due to the impact of permanent items 
such as meals and entertainment, non-deductible execu-
tive compensation, tax credits, changes in uncertain tax 
positions and the impact of return to provision adjustments 
and state tax provision, net of federal benefit. The Company 
continues to maintain a valuation allowance against certain 
state items. The prior year rate was impacted by uncertain 
tax positions, finalization of the federal income tax audit 
covering the 2008 through 2012 tax years, the closure of 
many state taxing jurisdiction statutes, the impact of new 
legislation enacted by Congress permanently reinstating 
the research and development credit and the impact of 
filing the income tax returns.

In accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States (GAAP) rules on accounting 

for income taxes, the Company evaluates the realizability of 
its deferred tax assets at each reporting date. The Company 
records a valuation allowance when it determines that it 
is more likely than not that all or a portion of a particular 
deferred tax asset will not be realized. As part of this evalu-
ation, the Company reviews all evidence, both positive and 
negative, to determine if a valuation allowance is needed. 
The Company’s review of positive evidence included the 
review of historic profitability, projected profitability, fea-
sible tax planning strategies that may be implemented and 
the reversal of temporary items. The Company determined 
that there was sufficient negative evidence to establish 
valuation allowances against certain deferred tax assets, 
totaling $7.6 million. The Company will monitor the need 
for additional valuation allowances at each quarter in the 
future and adjust the valuation allowance as necessary.

Net Income from Continuing Operations

52 Weeks Ended 52 Weeks Ended

Dollars in thousands
April 29, 

2017
Diluted 

EPS
April 30, 

2016
Diluted 

EPS

Net Income from Continuing 
Operations $ 22,023 $ 0.30 $ 14,700 $ 0.05

As a result of the factors discussed above, the Company 
reported a consolidated net income from continuing 
operations of $22.0 million (or $0.30 per diluted share) 
during fiscal 2017, compared with consolidated net income 
from continuing operations of $14.7 million (or $0.05 per 
diluted share) during fiscal 2016.

Net Loss from Discontinued Operations

52 Weeks Ended 52 Weeks Ended

Dollars in thousands
April 29, 

2017
Diluted 

EPS
April 30, 

2016
Diluted 

EPS

Net Loss from Discontinued 
Operations $ — $ — $ (39,146) $ (0.54)

The Company has recognized the separation of B&N 
Education in accordance with ASC 205-20, Discontinued 
Operations. As such, the historical results of Barnes & Noble 
Education have been classified as discontinued operations.

Discontinued operations for fiscal 2016 primarily con-
sisted of pre-spin B&N Education results, investment 
banking fees (as they directly related to the Spin-Off) and 
separation-related costs, and excluded corporate allocation 
adjustments with B&N Retail.
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Net Income (Loss)

52 Weeks Ended 52 Weeks Ended

Dollars in thousands
April 29, 

2017
Diluted 

EPS
April 30, 

2016
Diluted 

EPS

Net Income (Loss) $ 22,023 $ 0.30 $ (24,446) $ (0.49)

As a result of the factors discussed above, the Company 
reported a consolidated net income of $22.0 million (or 
$0.30 per diluted share) during fiscal 2017, compared with 
consolidated net loss of $24.4 million (or $0.49 per diluted 
share) during fiscal 2016.

52  WEEKS ENDED APRIL  30 ,  2016  COMPARED WITH  
52  WEEKS ENDED MAY 2 ,  2015

The following tables summarize the Company’s results of 
operations for the 52 weeks ended April 30, 2016 and 52 
weeks ended May 2, 2015.

Sales

52 Weeks Ended 52 Weeks Ended

Dollars in thousands
April 30, 

2016 % Total
May 2,  

2015 % Total

B&N Retail $ 4,028,614 96.8% $ 4,108,243 95.6%

NOOK 191,520 4.6% 263,833 6.1%

Elimination (56,290) (1.4)% (74,968) (1.7)%

Total Sales $ 4,163,844 100.0% $ 4,297,108 100.0%

The Company’s sales decreased $133.3 million, or 3.1%, 
during fiscal 2016 to $4.164 billion from $4.297 billion 
during fiscal 2015. The changes by segment are as follows:

 • B&N Retail sales decreased $79.6 million, or 1.9%, to 
$4.029 billion from $4.108 billion during the same 
period one year ago, and accounted for 96.8% of total 
Company sales. Online sales were impacted by chal-
lenges following the launch of the new BN.com website, 
decreasing $49.0 million, or 14.4%, versus the prior 
year. Closed stores decreased sales by $40.5 million. 
Device warranty reimbursements, resulting from 
favorable claims experience with a warranty service 
provider, decreased $4.8 million on a year-to-date basis 
as compared to the prior year due to a smaller claim 
period and lower volume. These unfavorable variances 
were partially offset by a $3.0 million increase in gift 
card breakage as redemptions continue to run lower than 
historical patterns. B&N Retail also includes third-party 
sales of Sterling Publishing Co., Inc., which increased by 
$8.7 million, or 21.7%, on increased adult coloring book 
business.

Comparable store sales decreased $1.3 million, or 
essentially flat, as compared to the prior year. Of the $1.3 
million decrease in comparable store sales, core compa-
rable store sales, which exclude sales of NOOK® products, 
increased $13.0 million, or 0.4%, as compared to the 
prior year. Non-book core categories increased sales by 
$48.3 million, or 4.2%, on growth of the Toys & Games 
and Gift businesses. Book categories decreased sales 
by $35.3 million, or 1.5%, primarily on lower sales of 
Trade and Juvenile titles, partially offset by strong sales 
of coloring books. Sales of NOOK® products at B&N Retail 
stores decreased $14.3 million, or 19.2%, versus the 
prior year on lower device unit sales and lower average 
selling prices.

 • NOOK sales decreased $72.3 million, or 27.4%, to $191.5 
million from $263.8 million during the same period one 
year ago, and accounted for 4.6% of total Company sales. 
Digital content sales decreased $47.3 million, or 26.7%, 
to $130.0 million primarily on lower unit sales and to 
a lesser extent, agency vs. non-agency mix. Device and 
accessories sales decreased $25.0 million, or 28.9%, to 
$61.5 million primarily on lower unit sales.

 • Elimination sales, which represent sales from NOOK to 
B&N Retail on a sell-through basis, decreased $18.7 mil-
lion, or 24.9%, versus the prior year. NOOK sales, net of 
elimination, accounted for 3.2% of total Company sales.

In fiscal 2016, the Company closed eight Barnes & Noble 
stores, bringing its total number of B&N Retail stores to 
640, with 16.9 million square feet, in the 50 states.

Cost of Sales and Occupancy

52 Weeks Ended 52 Weeks Ended

Dollars in thousands
April 30, 

2016 % Sales
May 2,  

2015 % Sales

B&N Retail $ 2,770,209 68.8% $ 2,798,846 68.1%

NOOK 122,628 64.0% 147,306 55.8%

Elimination (56,290) (29.4)% (74,968) (28.4)%

Total Cost of Sales 
and Occupancy $ 2,836,547 68.1% $ 2,871,184 66.8%

The Company’s cost of sales and occupancy includes costs 
such as merchandise costs, distribution center costs 
(including payroll, freight, supplies and other operating 
expenses), rental expense, common area maintenance and 
real estate taxes, partially offset by landlord tenant allow-
ances amortized over the life of the lease.

Cost of sales and occupancy decreased $34.6 million, or 
1.2%, to $2.837 billion in fiscal 2016 from $2.871 billion 
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in fiscal 2015. Cost of sales and occupancy increased as a 
percentage of sales to 68.1% in fiscal 2016 from 66.8% in 
fiscal 2015. The percentage of sales changes by segment are 
as follows:

 • B&N Retail cost of sales and occupancy increased as a 
percentage of sales to 68.8% from 68.1%, or 70 basis 
points, during the same period one year ago. This 
increase was due to the following factors. Ecommerce 
margin decreased 35 basis points on the Company’s pro-
motional activity, reserves on non-returnable products 
increased 30 basis points on inventory mix, distribution 
costs increased 15 basis points on the transition to a new 
third-party service provider during the year, as well as 
expense deleverage, higher occupancy costs of 20 basis 
points on expense deleverage and the lower warranty 
reimbursement of 10 basis points, partially offset by a 
favorable product mix (45 basis points).

 • NOOK cost of sales and occupancy increased as a per-
centage of sales to 64.0% from 55.8% during the same 
period one year ago. The prior year included a favorable 
benefit from the adjustment of lease accounting items 
to reflect the impact of the Palo Alto relocations. This 
benefit, net of closing costs, was primarily driven by 
the reversal of previously deferred rent liabilities upon 
exiting the facility. In addition, the prior year included a 
favorable reduction in costs of goods sold on renegoti-
ated parts and components liabilities. Cost of sales and 
occupancy was also impacted by product mix and sales 
deleverage.

Gross Profit

52 Weeks Ended 52 Weeks Ended

Dollars in thousands
April 30, 

2016 % Sales
May 2,  

2015 % Sales

B&N Retail $ 1,258,405 31.2% $ 1,309,397 31.9%

NOOK 68,892 50.9% 116,527 61.7%

Total Gross Profit $ 1,327,297 31.9% $ 1,425,924 33.2%

The Company’s consolidated gross profit decreased $98.6 
million, or 6.9%, to $1.327 billion in fiscal 2016 from 
$1.426 billion in fiscal 2015. This decrease was due to the 
matters discussed above.

Selling and Administrative Expenses

52 Weeks Ended 52 Weeks Ended

Dollars in thousands
April 30, 

2016 % Sales
May 2, 

2015 % Sales

B&N Retail $ 1,043,221 25.9% $ 991,669 24.1%

NOOK 133,557 98.8% 200,396  106.1%

Total Selling and 
Administrative Expenses $ 1,176,778 28.3% $ 1,192,065  27.7%

Selling and administrative expenses decreased $15.3 mil-
lion, or 1.3%, to $1.177 billion in fiscal 2016 from $1.192 
billion in fiscal 2015. Selling and administrative expenses 
increased as a percentage of sales to 28.3% in fiscal 2016 
from 27.7% in fiscal 2015. The percentage of sales changes 
by segment are as follows:

 • B&N Retail selling and administrative expenses 
increased as a percentage of sales to 25.9% from 24.1% 
during the same period one year ago. The current year 
included executive severance costs of $10.5 million, 
an impairment charge on a publishing contract of $3.8 
million and a net increase in pension settlement charges 
of $13.6 million ($20.9 million in the current year and 
$7.3 million in the prior year). Excluding these charges, 
selling and administrative expenses increased 100 basis 
points as a percentage of sales to 25.0% from 24.0% 
during the same period one year ago. Advertising costs 
increased 30 basis points as the Company invested in 
the bookstore-focused “You never know who you’ll meet 
at Barnes & Noble” holiday television campaign. Store 
payroll increased 30 basis points (on store sales) as wage 
increases outpaced productivity gains. The new website 
increased expenses by 20 basis points primarily due to a 
significant amount of website fixes to stabilize the site, 
increase traffic and improve the overall user experience. 
Other increases include increased employee benefit 
costs (20 basis points).

 • NOOK selling and administrative expenses decreased as 
a percentage of sales to 98.8% from 106.1% during the 
same period one year ago. On a dollar basis, selling and 
administrative expenses decreased $66.8 million on cost 
rationalization efforts, including lower compensation-
related costs, advertising, consulting and legal costs, as 
well as lower variable costs on the sales decline, partially 
offset by higher severance, bad debt and exit costs related 
to the Video, Apps and UK businesses.
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Depreciation and Amortization

52 Weeks Ended 52 Weeks Ended

Dollars in thousands
April 30, 

2016 % Sales
May 2, 

2015 % Sales

B&N Retail $ 101,888 2.5% $ 104,373 2.5%

NOOK 33,975  25.1%  39,292 20.8%

Total Depreciation and
Amortization $ 135,863 3.3% $ 143,665 3.3%

Depreciation and amortization decreased $7.8 million, or 
5.4%, to $135.9 million in fiscal 2016 from $143.7 million 
in fiscal 2015. This decrease was primarily attributable to 
fully depreciated assets and store closings, partially offset 
by additional capital expenditures.

Operating Income (Loss)

52 Weeks Ended 52 Weeks Ended

Dollars in thousands
April 30, 

2016 % Sales
May 2, 

2015 % Sales

B&N Retail  $ 113,296  2.8%  $ 213,355  5.2%

NOOK  (98,640)  (72.9)%  (123,161)  (65.2)%

Total Operating Income  $   14,656  0.4%  $ 90,194  2.1%

The Company’s consolidated operating income decreased 
$75.5 million, or 83.8%, to an operating income of $14.7 
million in fiscal 2016 from an operating income of $90.2 
million in fiscal 2015. This decrease was due to the matters 
discussed above.

Interest Expense, Net and Amortization of Deferred 
Financing Fees

52 Weeks 
Ended

52 Weeks 
Ended

Dollars in thousands April 30, 2016 May 2, 2015  % of Change

Interest Expense, Net and 
Amortization of Deferred 
Financing Fees $ 8,770 $ 17,678 (50.4)%

Net interest expense and amortization of deferred financ-
ing fees decreased $8.9 million, or 50.4%, to $8.8 mil-
lion in fiscal 2016 from $17.7 million in fiscal 2015. This 
decrease was primarily due to lower interest related to the 
repayment of the Junior Seller Note in September 2014 
and lower deferred financing fees in conjunction with the 
refinancing of the credit facility.

Income Taxes

52 Weeks Ended 52 Weeks Ended

Dollars in thousands
April 30, 

2016
Effective 

Rate
May 2, 

2015
Effective 

Rate

Income Taxes $ (8,814)  (149.7)% $ 39,644 54.7%

The Company recorded an income tax benefit of $8.8 mil-
lion in fiscal 2016 compared with an income tax provision 
of $39.6 million in fiscal 2015. The Company’s effective 
tax rate was (149.7)% and 54.7% in fiscal 2016 and fiscal 
2015, respectively. The income tax (benefit)/provision in 
fiscal 2016 and fiscal 2015, respectively, include the impact 
of permanent items such as meals and entertainment, 
non-deductible executive compensation and changes 
in uncertain tax positions. Fiscal 2016 also includes the 
impact of the finalization of the federal income tax audit 
covering the 2008 through 2012 tax years, the closure of 
many state taxing jurisdiction statutes and the impact of 
new legislation enacted by Congress permanently reinstat-
ing the research and development credit. The Company 
continues to maintain a valuation allowance against certain 
state items. In fiscal 2015, the Company recorded the tax 
implications of the Microsoft agreement, which do not 
impact the current year, as a result of the termination of the 
Microsoft agreement in December 2014.

In accordance with GAAP rules on accounting for income 
taxes, the Company evaluates the realizability of its 
deferred tax assets at each reporting date. The Company 
records a valuation allowance when it determines that it 
is more likely than not that all or a portion of a particular 
deferred tax asset will not be realized. As part of this evalu-
ation, the Company reviews all evidence, both positive and 
negative, to determine if a valuation allowance is needed. 
The Company’s review of positive evidence included the 
review of historic profitability, projected profitability, fea-
sible tax planning strategies that may be implemented and 
the reversal of temporary items. The Company determined 
that there was sufficient negative evidence to establish 
valuation allowances against certain deferred tax assets, 
totaling $6.7 million during fiscal 2016. The Company will 
monitor the need for additional valuation allowances at 
each quarter in the future and adjust the valuation allow-
ance as necessary.
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Net Income from Continuing Operations

52 Weeks Ended 52 Weeks Ended

Dollars in thousands
April 30, 

2016
Diluted 

EPS
May 2, 

2015
Diluted 

EPS

Net Income from Continuing
Operations $ 14,700 $ 0.05 $ 32,872 $ 0.15

As a result of the factors discussed above, the Company 
reported a consolidated net income from continuing 
operations of $14.7 million (or $0.05 per diluted share) 
during fiscal 2016, compared with consolidated net income 
from continuing operations of $32.9 million (or $0.15 per 
diluted share) during fiscal 2015.

Net Income (Loss) from Discontinued Operations

52 Weeks Ended 52 Weeks Ended

Dollars in thousands
April 30, 

2016
Diluted 

EPS
May 2, 

2015
Diluted 

EPS

Net Income (Loss) from
Discontinued Operations $ (39,146) $ (0.54) $ 3,724 $ 0.06

The Company has recognized the separation of B&N 
Education in accordance with ASC 205-20, Discontinued 
Operations. As such, the historical results of Barnes & Noble 
Education for fiscal 2015 have been adjusted to include 
pre-spin B&N Education results and separation-related 
costs and exclude corporate allocations with B&N Retail, 
and have been classified as discontinued operations. 
Additionally, discontinued operations for fiscal 2016 
included investment banking fees (as they directly related 
to the Spin-Off), as well as pre-spin B&N Education results 
and separation-related costs, and excluded corporate 
allocation adjustments with B&N Retail.

Net Income (Loss)

52 Weeks Ended 52 Weeks Ended

Dollars in thousands
April 30, 

2016
Diluted 

EPS
May 2, 

2015
Diluted 

EPS

Net Income (Loss) $ (24,446) $ (0.49) $ 36,596 $ 0.21

As a result of the factors discussed above, the Company 
reported a consolidated net loss of $24.4 million (or $0.49 
per diluted share) during fiscal 2016, compared with con-
solidated net income of $36.6 million (or $0.21 per diluted 
share) during fiscal 2015.

SEASONALITY

The B&N Retail business, like that of many retailers, is sea-
sonal, with the major portion of sales and operating income 
realized during its third fiscal quarter, which includes the 
holiday selling season.

The NOOK business, like that of many technology com-
panies, is impacted by the launch of new products and the 
promotional efforts to support those new products, as well 
as the traditional retail holiday selling seasonality.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The primary sources of the Company’s cash are net cash 
flows from operating activities, funds available under its 
credit facility and short-term vendor financing.

CASH FLOWS

The Company’s cash and cash equivalents were $12.0 mil-
lion as of April 29, 2017, compared with $13.8 million as of 
April 30, 2016. The decrease in cash and cash equivalents of 
$1.8 million versus the prior year period was due to changes 
in working capital and cash flows as outlined below.

Net cash flows provided by operating activities for fiscal 
2017 were $145.2 million, as compared to net cash flows 
provided by operating activities of $195.7 million for fiscal 
2016. The unfavorable year-over-year comparison was 
primarily attributable to changes in working capital.

Net cash flows used in investing activities for fiscal 2017 
were $96.3 million, as compared to net cash flows used 
in investing activities of $94.3 million for fiscal 2016. 
The Company’s investing activities primarily consisted of 
capital expenditures for the maintenance of existing stores, 
merchandising initiatives, new store construction and 
enhancements to systems and the website.

Net cash flows used in financing activities for fiscal 2017 
were $50.8 million, as compared to net cash flows used in 
financing activities of $47.8 million for fiscal 2016. The 
Company’s financing activities during fiscal 2017 consisted 
primarily of common dividends and share repurchases, 
partially offset by net proceeds on its credit facility. 
Financing activities during fiscal 2016 consisted primarily 
of common and preferred dividends, share repurchases, 
fees incurred to enter into the New Credit Facility (as 
defined below) and other financing activities, partially 
offset by net proceeds on the Company’s credit facility.
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Over the past 12 months, the Company has returned $67.2 
million in cash to its shareholders through share repur-
chases and dividends. Since July 2015, the Company has 
returned $139.9 million in cash to its shareholders through 
share repurchases and dividends.

Additional year-over-year balance sheet changes include 
the following:

 • Receivables, net decreased $57.6 million, or 46.1%, to 
$67.3 million as of April 29, 2017, compared to $124.9 
million as of April 30, 2016, primarily due to collections 
on the eBook settlement receivable.

 • Merchandise inventories, net increased $13.2 million, 
or 1.4%, to $946.9 million as of April 29, 2017, compared 
to $933.7 million as of April 30, 2016. Retail invento-
ries increased $16.2 million, or 1.8% as the prior year 
included heavier fourth quarter return volume. NOOK 
inventories decreased $3.0 million, or 24.3%, versus the 
prior year on lower planned sales volume.

 • Prepaid expenses and other current assets decreased 
$4.1 million, or 3.9%, to $101.8 million as of April 29, 
2017, compared to $105.9 million as of April 30, 2016, 
primarily on income tax differences.

 • Property and equipment, net decreased $22.5 million, 
or 7.5%, to $276.1 million as of April 29, 2017, compared 
to $298.6 million as of April 30, 2016, as depreciation 
outpaced capital expenditures.

 • Intangible assets, net decreased $0.7 million, or 0.2%, to 
$310.2 million as of April 29, 2017, compared to $310.9 
million as of April 30, 2016, on additional amortization.

 • Other non-current assets decreased $2.4 million, or 
17.8%, to $11.2 million as of April 29, 2017, compared to 
$13.6 million as of April 30, 2016.

 • Accounts payable decreased $6.9 million, or 1.4%, to 
$473.7 million as of April 29, 2017, compared to $480.6 
million as of April 30, 2016. Accounts payable repre-
sented 50.0% and 51.5% of merchandise inventories as 
of April 29, 2017 and April 30, 2016, respectively. This 
ratio is subject to changes in product mix and the timing 
of purchases, payments and returns.

 • Accrued liabilities decreased $77.0 million, or 21.4%, to 
$283.2 million as of April 29, 2017, compared to $360.2 
million as of April 30, 2016. Accrued liabilities include 
the eBook settlement, deferred income, compensation, 
occupancy related, legal and other selling and adminis-
trative miscellaneous accruals.

 • Gift card liabilities decreased $1.7 million, or 0.5%, to 
$351.4 million as of April 29, 2017, compared to $353.1 
million as of April 30, 2016. The Company estimates the 
portion of the gift card liability for which the likelihood 
of redemption is remote based upon the Company’s 
historical redemption patterns. The Company recognized 
gift card breakage of $35.5 million and $29.1 million 
during the 52 weeks ended April 29, 2017 and April 30, 
2016, respectively. Gift card breakage increased over last 
year as redemptions continue to run lower than histori-
cal patterns. Additional breakage may be required if gift 
card redemptions continue to run lower than historical 
patterns.

 • Deferred taxes increased $32.1 million, or 59.5%, to 
$86.1 million as of April 29, 2017, compared to $54.0 
million as of April 30, 2016. This increase is primarily 
due to true-up activity upon filing of federal and state 
returns, as well as recurring movement in temporary dif-
ferences and the impact of accounting method changes.

 • Other long-term liabilities decreased $14.9 million, or 
13.0%, to $99.3 million as of April 29, 2017, compared to 
$114.2 million as of April 30, 2016, due to lower deferred 
rent and lower tax reserves.

The Company has arrangements with third-party manu-
facturers to produce certain NOOK® products. These 
manufacturers procure and assemble unfinished parts and 
components from third-party suppliers based on forecasts 
provided by the Company. Given production lead times, 
commitments are generally made far in advance of finished 
product delivery. Based on current purchase commitments 
and product development plans, the Company did not 
record any provision for purchase commitments. Future 
charges may be required based on changes in forecasted 
sales or strategic direction.

EBook Settlement
The Company provided credits to eligible customers result-
ing from the settlement reached with Apple Inc. (Apple) 
in an antitrust lawsuit filed by various State Attorneys 
General and private class plaintiffs regarding the price of 
digital books. The Company’s customers were entitled to 
$95.7 million in total credits as a result of the settlement, 
which is funded by Apple. If a customer’s credit is not 
used to make a purchase within one year, the entire credit 
will expire. The Company estimated total activations of 
$60.8 million through June 2017, which are recorded as a 
liability to its customers to the extent they have not yet been 
activated and as a receivable from Apple settlement fund to 
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the extent they have not yet been reimbursed. As of April 
29, 2017, the Company’s customers had activated $59.2 
million in credits, of which $52.7 million were redeemed. 
Total receivables from the Apple settlement fund were $2.5 
million as of April 29, 2017.

Capital Structure
Microsoft Investment
On April 27, 2012, Barnes & Noble entered into an invest-
ment agreement, pursuant to which Barnes & Noble 
transferred to the LLC its digital device, digital content and 
college bookstore businesses, and Morrison Investment 
Holdings, Inc. (Morrison) purchased from the LLC 
300,000 convertible preferred membership interests in the 
LLC (Series A Preferred) for an aggregate purchase price 
of $300.0 million. Concurrently with its entry into this 
agreement, Barnes & Noble also entered into a commercial 
agreement with Microsoft, pursuant to which, among other 
things, the LLC would develop and distribute a Windows 8 
application for eReading and digital content purchases, and 
an intellectual property license and settlement agreement 
with Microsoft and Microsoft Licensing GP. The parties 
closed Morrison’s investment in the LLC and the commer-
cial agreement became effective on October 4, 2012.

On December 3, 2014, Morrison, Microsoft, Barnes & 
Noble and Barnes & Noble Education entered into agree-
ments, pursuant to which Morrison’s interest in the LLC 
was purchased by Barnes & Noble Education and the 
Microsoft commercial agreement was terminated effective 
as of such date. Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement (the 
Purchase Agreement) among Barnes & Noble, Barnes & 
Noble Education, Morrison and Microsoft, Barnes & Noble 
Education purchased from Morrison, and Morrison sold, 
all of its $300.0 million convertible Series A preferred lim-
ited liability company interest in the LLC in exchange for 
an aggregate purchase price of $124.9 million consisting of 
(i) $62.4 million in cash and (ii) 2,737,290 shares of com-
mon stock, par value $0.001 per share, of Barnes & Noble. 
The Purchase Agreement closed on December 4, 2014. The 
Company accounted for this transaction in accordance with 
ASC 810-10, Non-Controlling Interest (ASC 810-10) and it 
accordingly was reflected as an equity transaction. In con-
nection with the closing, the parties entered into a Digital 
Business Contingent Payment Agreement, pursuant to 
which Microsoft is entitled to receive 22.7% of the proceeds 
from, among other events or transactions, (1) any future 
dividends or other distributions received from Barnes & 
Noble’s NOOK digital business at any time until the date 
that is three years from the closing, subject to a one-year 

extension under certain circumstances, and (2) the sale of 
Barnes & Noble’s NOOK digital business at any time until 
the date that is three years from the closing, subject to a 
one-year extension under certain circumstances.

Pearson Investment
On December 21, 2012, the LLC entered into an agree-
ment with a subsidiary of Pearson plc (Pearson) to make 
a strategic investment in the LLC. That transaction closed 
on January 22, 2013, and Pearson invested approximately 
$89.5 million of cash in the LLC in exchange for preferred 
membership interests representing a 5% equity stake in 
the LLC. Following the closing of the transaction, Barnes 
& Noble owned approximately 78.2% of the LLC and 
Microsoft owned approximately 16.8%. The preferred 
membership interests had a liquidation preference equal 
to the original investment. In addition, the LLC granted 
warrants to Pearson to purchase up to an additional 5% of 
the LLC under certain conditions. Upon the completion of 
the acquisition of Pearson’s interest in the LLC, as stated 
below, the temporary equity was converted to permanent 
equity.

On December 22, 2014, Barnes & Noble entered into a 
Purchase Agreement (the Pearson Purchase Agreement) 
among Barnes & Noble, Barnes & Noble Education, NOOK 
Media Member Two LLC, a Delaware limited liability 
company (NOOK Member Two), Pearson Education, 
Inc. (Pearson Education) and Pearson Inc., pursuant to 
which Barnes & Noble Education and NOOK Member 
Two purchased from Pearson Education all of its convert-
ible Series B preferred limited liability company interest 
in the LLC and all of its warrants to purchase additional 
Series B preferred limited liability company interests, 
in exchange for an aggregate purchase price equal to (i) 
$13.8 million in cash and (ii) 602,927 shares of common 
stock, par value $0.001 per share, of Barnes & Noble. The 
transactions under the Pearson Purchase Agreement closed 
on December 22, 2014. The Company accounted for this 
transaction in accordance with ASC 810-10 and it accord-
ingly was reflected as an equity transaction. As a condi-
tion to closing, the parties entered into an amended and 
restated Digital Business Contingent Payment Agreement, 
pursuant to which a Digital Business Contingent Payment 
Agreement dated as of December 3, 2014, by and between 
Barnes & Noble, the LLC and Pearson, was amended and 
restated to include provisions consistent with the Digital 
Business Contingent Payment Agreement entered into with 
Morrison on December 3, 2014.
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Series J Preferred Stock
On August 18, 2011, the Company entered into an invest-
ment agreement between the Company and Liberty GIC, 
Inc. (Liberty), pursuant to which the Company issued and 
sold to Liberty, and Liberty purchased, 204,000 shares of 
the Company’s Series J Preferred Stock, par value $0.001 
per share (Preferred Stock), for an aggregate purchase price 
of $204.0 million in a private placement exempt from the 
registration requirements of the 1933 Act. The shares of 
Preferred Stock were convertible, at the option of the hold-
ers, into shares of Common Stock representing 16.6% of 
the Common Stock outstanding as of August 29, 2011 (after 
giving pro forma effect to the issuance of the Preferred 
Stock) based on the initial conversion rate. The initial con-
version rate reflected an initial conversion price of $17.00 
and was subject to adjustment in certain circumstances. 
The initial dividend rate for the Preferred Stock was equal 
to 7.75% per annum of the initial liquidation preference of 
the Preferred Stock paid quarterly and subject to adjust-
ment in certain circumstances.

On April 8, 2014, Liberty sold the majority of its shares 
to qualified institutional buyers in reliance on Rule 144A 
under the Securities Act and had retained an approximate 
10% stake of its initial investment. As a result, Liberty no 
longer had the right to elect two preferred stock directors 
to the Company’s Board. Additionally, the consent rights 
and pre-emptive rights, to which Liberty was previously 
entitled, ceased to apply.

On June 5, 2015, the Company entered into conversion 
agreements with five beneficial owners (Series J Holders) 
of its Preferred Stock, pursuant to which each of the Series 
J Holders had agreed to convert (Conversion) shares of 
Preferred Stock it beneficially owned into shares of the 
Company’s common stock, par value $0.001 per share 
(Company Common Stock), and additionally received a 
cash payment from the Company in connection with the 
Conversion.

On July 9, 2015, the Company completed the Conversion. 
Pursuant to the terms of the Conversion Agreements, the 
Series J Holders converted an aggregate of 103,995 shares of 
Preferred Stock into 6,117,342 shares of Company Common 
Stock, and made an aggregate cash payment to the Series J 
Holders of $3.7 million plus cash in lieu of fractional shares 
in connection with the Conversion.

On July 10, 2015, the Company gave notice of its exercise 
of the right to force conversion of all outstanding shares 
of its Senior Convertible Redeemable Series J Preferred 
Stock into Company Common Stock pursuant to Section 

9 of the Certificate of Designations, Preferences and 
Relative Participating, Optional and Other Special Rights 
and Qualifications, Limitations and Restrictions of Series 
J Preferred Stock, dated as of August 18, 2011 (the Forced 
Conversion). The effective date of the Forced Conversion 
was July 24, 2015. On the date of the Forced Conversion, 
each share of Series J Preferred Stock was automatically 
converted into 59.8727 shares of Company Common Stock, 
which included shares of Company Common Stock reflect-
ing accrued and unpaid dividends on Series J Preferred 
Stock. Each holder of Series J Preferred Stock received 
whole shares of Company Common Stock and a cash 
amount in lieu of fractional shares of Company Common 
Stock.

As a result of the transactions described above, all shares of 
Series J Preferred Stock were retired by the Company and 
are no longer outstanding.

Credit Facility
Prior to August 3, 2015, the Company was party to an 
amended and restated credit facility with Bank of America, 
N.A., as administrative agent, collateral agent and swing 
line lender, and other lenders, dated as of April 29, 2011 (as 
amended and modified through August 3, 2015, the Prior 
Credit Facility), consisting of up to $1.0 billion in aggregate 
commitments under a five-year asset-backed revolving 
credit facility, which was scheduled to expire on April 29, 
2016.

On August 3, 2015, the Company and certain of its sub-
sidiaries entered into a credit agreement (New Credit 
Agreement) with Bank of America, N.A., as administrative 
agent, collateral agent and swing line lender, and the other 
lenders from time to time party thereto, under which the 
lenders committed to provide a five-year asset-backed 
revolving credit facility in an aggregate committed prin-
cipal amount of up to $700.0 million (Revolving Credit 
Facility). On September 30, 2016, the Company amended 
the New Credit Agreement to provide for a new “first-in, 
last-out” revolving credit facility (the FILO Credit Facility 
and, together with the Revolving Credit Facility, the New 
Credit Facility) in an aggregate principal amount of up to 
$50.0 million, which supplements availability under the 
Revolving Credit Facility. The Company generally must 
draw down the FILO Credit Facility before making any bor-
rowings under the Revolving Credit Facility.

Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, 
J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. and 
SunTrust Robinson Humphrey, Inc. are the joint lead 
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arrangers for the New Credit Facility. The New Credit 
Facility replaced the Prior Credit Facility. Proceeds from 
the New Credit Facility are used for general corporate 
purposes, including seasonal working capital needs.

The Company and certain of its subsidiaries are permitted 
to borrow under the New Credit Facility. The New Credit 
Facility is secured by substantially all of the inventory, 
accounts receivable and related assets of the borrow-
ers under the New Credit Facility (collectively, the Loan 
Parties), but excluding the equity interests in the Company 
and its subsidiaries, intellectual property, equipment and 
certain other property. Borrowings under the New Credit 
Facility are limited to a specified percentage of eligible col-
lateral. The Company has the option to request an increase 
in commitments under the New Credit Facility of up to 
$250.0 million, subject to certain restrictions.

The New Credit Facility allows the Company to declare 
and pay up to $70.0 million in dividends annually to its 
stockholders without compliance with any availability or 
ratio-based limitations.

Interest under the Revolving Credit Facility accrues, at the 
election of the Company, at a LIBOR or alternate base rate, 
plus, in each case, an applicable interest rate margin, which 
is determined by reference to the level of excess availability 
under the Revolving Credit Facility. Through the end of the 
fiscal quarter during which the closing of the Revolving 
Credit Facility occurred, loans under the Revolving Credit 
Facility bore interest at LIBOR plus 1.750% per annum, in 
the case of LIBOR borrowings, or at the alternate base rate 
plus 0.750% per annum, in the alternative, and thereafter 
the interest rate began to fluctuate between LIBOR plus 
2.000% per annum and LIBOR plus 1.500% per annum (or 
between the alternate base rate plus 1.000% per annum 
and the alternate base rate plus 0.500% per annum), based 
upon the average daily availability under the Revolving 
Credit Facility for the immediately preceding fiscal quarter. 
Interest under the FILO Credit Facility accrues, at the elec-
tion of the Company, at a LIBOR or alternate base rate, plus, 
in each case, an applicable interest rate margin, which is 
also determined by reference to the level of excess avail-
ability under the Revolving Credit Facility. Loans under 
the FILO Credit Facility bear interest at 1.000% per annum 
more than loans under the Revolving Credit Facility.

The New Credit Agreement contains customary negative 
covenants, which limit the Company’s ability to incur 
additional indebtedness, create liens, make investments, 
make restricted payments or specified payments and 
merge or acquire assets, among other things. In addition, if 

excess availability under the New Credit Facility were to fall 
below certain specified levels, certain additional covenants 
(including fixed charge coverage ratio requirements) would 
be triggered, and the lenders would assume dominion and 
control over the Loan Parties’ cash.

The New Credit Agreement contains customary events of 
default, including payment defaults, material breaches of 
representations and warranties, covenant defaults, default 
on other material indebtedness, customary ERISA events 
of default, bankruptcy and insolvency, material judgments, 
invalidity of liens on collateral, change of control or cessa-
tion of business. The New Credit Agreement also contains 
customary affirmative covenants and representations and 
warranties.

The following table presents selected information related 
to the Company’s credit facilities (in thousands):

Fiscal
2017

Fiscal
2016

Fiscal
2015

Credit facility at period end $ 64,900 47,200  —

Average balance outstanding 
during the period $ 96,297 66,948 18,227

Maximum borrowings 
outstanding during the period $ 285,278 293,200 202,800

Weighted average interest 
rate during the perioda 5.77% 8.21% 38.18%

Interest rate at end of period 3.73% 2.69% 0.00%

a Includes commitment fees.

The Company wrote off $0.5 million of deferred financing 
fees related to the Prior Credit Facility during the 52 weeks 
ended April 30, 2016 and the remaining unamortized 
deferred financing fees of $3.5 million were deferred and 
are being amortized over the five-year term of the New 
Credit Facility. The Company also incurred $5.7 million 
of fees to secure the New Credit Facility, which are being 
amortized over the five-year term accordingly. During the 
52 weeks ended April 29, 2017, the Company incurred $0.5 
million of fees to secure the FILO Credit Facility, which 
are being amortized over the same term as the New Credit 
Facility.

Fees expensed with respect to the unused portion of the 
credit facilities were $2.2 million, $2.8 million and $4.7 
million during fiscal 2017, fiscal 2016 and fiscal 2015, 
respectively.

The Company had $64.9 million and $47.2 million of 
outstanding debt under the New Credit Facility as of April 
29, 2017 and April 30, 2016, respectively. The Company had 
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$38.8 million and $47.9 million of outstanding letters of 
credit under its New Credit Facility as of April 29, 2017 and 
April 30, 2016, respectively.

The Company has no agreements to maintain compensat-
ing balances.

Capital Investment
The Company’s investing activities consist principally 
of capital expenditures for the maintenance of existing 
stores, merchandising initiatives, new store construction 
and enhancements to systems and the website. Capital 
expenditures totaled $96.3 million, $94.3 million and 
$94.8 million during fiscal 2017, fiscal 2016 and fiscal 
2015, respectively. Fiscal 2018 capital expenditure levels 
are expected to be approximately $100.0 million, although 
commitment to many such expenditures has not yet 
been made. Capital expenditures planned for fiscal 2018 
primarily include new store development, merchandising 
initiatives, maintenance of existing stores, enhancements 
to systems and the website.

Based upon the Company’s current operating levels and 
capital expenditures for fiscal 2018, management believes 
cash and cash equivalents on hand, funds available under 
its credit facility and short-term vendor financing will 
be sufficient to meet the Company’s normal working 
capital and debt service requirements for at least the next 
12 months. The Company regularly evaluates its capital 
structure and conditions in the financing markets to ensure 

it maintains adequate flexibility to successfully execute its 
business plan.

On October 20, 2015, the Company’s Board of Directors 
authorized a stock repurchase program (prior repurchase 
plan) of up to $50.0 million of its common shares. During 
fiscal 2016, the Company repurchased 2,763,142 shares at 
a cost of $26.7 million under the prior repurchase plan. 
During fiscal 2017, the Company repurchased 2,019,798 
shares at a cost of $23.3 million under the prior repurchase 
plan. On March 15, 2017, subsequent to completing the 
prior repurchase plan, the Company’s Board of Directors 
authorized a new stock repurchase program of up to $50.0 
million of its common shares. Stock repurchases under this 
program may be made through open market and privately 
negotiated transactions from time to time and in such 
amounts as management deems appropriate. The new 
stock repurchase program has no expiration date and may 
be suspended or discontinued at any time. The Company’s 
repurchase plan is intended to comply with the require-
ments of Rule 10b-18 under the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934. The Company has not repurchased shares under this 
plan in fiscal 2017. The Company has remaining capacity 
of $50.0 million under the new repurchase program as of 
April 29, 2017.

As of April 29, 2017, the Company has repurchased 
39,496,765 shares at a cost of approximately $1.1 billion 
since the inception of the Company’s stock repurchase 
programs. The repurchased shares are held in treasury.

Contractual Obligations
The following table sets forth the Company’s contractual obligations as of April 29, 2017 (in millions):

Contractual Obligations Payments Due by Period

Total
Less Than  

1 Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years
More Than 5 

Years

Operating lease obligationsa $ 1,125.0 $ 314.3 $ 465.8 $ 238.3 $ 106.6

Purchase obligationsb 55.4 34.1 21.2 0.1 —

Interest obligationsc 9.3 2.9 5.7 0.7 —

Other long-term liabilities reflected on 
the Company’s balance sheet under U.S. 
GAAPd — — — — —

Total  $ 1,189.7  $ 351.3  $ 492.7  $ 239.1  $ 106.6

a Excludes obligations under store leases for insurance, taxes and other maintenance costs, which totaled approximately 19.7% of the minimum rent 
payments under those leases.

b Includes hardware and software maintenance contracts and inventory purchase commitments.

c Represents commitment fees related to the Company’s New Credit Facility.

d Excludes $9.4 million of unrecognized tax benefits for which the Company cannot make a reasonably reliable estimate of the amount and period of 
payment. See Note 13 to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

See also Note 12 to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for information concerning the Company’s pension and 
postretirement plans.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
As of April 29, 2017, the Company had no off-balance sheet 
arrangements as defined in Item 303 of Regulation S-K.

Impact of Inflation
The Company does not believe that inflation has had a 
material effect on its net sales or results of operations.

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED 
TRANSACTIONS

See Note 23 to the Notes to Consolidated Financial 
Statements.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations” section of this 
report discusses the Company’s consolidated financial 
statements, which have been prepared in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States. The preparation of these financial statements 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions 
in certain circumstances that affect amounts reported in 
the accompanying consolidated financial statements and 
related footnotes. In preparing these financial statements, 
management has made its best estimates and judgments 
with respect to certain amounts included in the financial 
statements, giving due consideration to materiality. The 
Company does not believe there is a great likelihood that 
materially different amounts would be reported related to 
the accounting policies described below. However, applica-
tion of these accounting policies involves the exercise of 
judgment and use of assumptions as to future uncertain-
ties and, as a result, actual results could differ from these 
estimates.

Revenue Recognition
Revenue from sales of the Company’s products is recog-
nized at the time of sale or shipment, other than those with 
multiple elements and Free On Board (FOB) destination 
point shipping terms. The Company accrues for estimated 
sales returns in the period in which the related revenue is 
recognized based on historical experience. ECommerce 
revenue from sales of products ordered through the 
Company’s websites is recognized upon estimated deliv-
ery and receipt of the shipment by its customers. Freight 
costs are included within the Company’s cost of sales and 
occupancy. Sales taxes collected from retail customers are 
excluded from reported revenues. All of the Company’s 
sales are recognized as revenue on a “net” basis, including 
sales in connection with any periodic promotions offered 

to customers. The Company does not treat any promotional 
offers as expenses.

In accordance with ASC 605-25, Revenue Recognition, 
Multiple-Element Arrangements, and Accounting Standards 
Updates (ASU) 2009-13 and 2009-14, for multiple-
element arrangements that involve tangible products that 
contain software that is essential to the tangible product’s 
functionality, undelivered software elements that relate 
to the tangible product’s essential software and other 
separable elements, the Company allocates revenue to all 
deliverables using the relative selling-price method. Under 
this method, revenue is allocated at the time of sale to all 
deliverables based on their relative selling price using a 
specific hierarchy. The hierarchy is as follows: vendor-
specific objective evidence, third-party evidence of selling 
price, or best estimate of selling price. NOOK® device 
revenue is recognized at the segment point of sale.

The Company includes post-service customer sup-
port (PCS) in the form of software updates and potential 
increased functionality on a when-and-if-available basis 
with the purchase of a NOOK® from the Company. Using 
the relative selling-price method described above, the 
Company allocates revenue based on the best estimate of 
selling price for the deliverables as no vendor-specific 
objective evidence or third-party evidence exists for any of 
the elements. Revenue allocated to NOOK® and the software 
essential to its functionality is recognized at the time of 
sale, provided all other conditions for revenue recognition 
are met. Revenue allocated to the PCS is deferred and rec-
ognized on a straight-line basis over the 2-year estimated 
life of a NOOK® device.

The average percentage of a NOOK®’s sales price that is 
deferred for undelivered items and recognized over its 
2-year estimated life ranges between 0% and 5%, depend-
ing on the type of device sold. The amount of NOOK®-
related deferred revenue as of April 29, 2017 and April 30, 
2016 was $0.2 million and $0.2 million, respectively. These 
amounts are classified on the Company’s balance sheet in 
accrued liabilities for the portion that is subject to deferral 
for one year or less and other long-term liabilities for the 
portion that is subject to deferral for more than one year.

The Company also pays certain vendors who distributed 
NOOK® a commission on the content sales sold through 
that device. The Company accounts for these transac-
tions as a reduction in the sales price of the NOOK® based 
on historical trends of content sales and a liability was 
established for the estimated commission expected to be 
paid over the life of the product. The Company recognizes 
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revenue of the content at the point of sale of the content. 
The Company records revenue from sales of digital content, 
sales of third-party extended warranties, service contracts 
and other products, for which the Company is not obligated 
to perform, and for which the Company does not meet the 
criteria for gross revenue recognition under ASC 605-45-
45, Reporting Revenue Gross as a Principal versus Net as an 
Agent, on a net basis. All other revenue is recognized on a 
gross basis.

The Company rents physical textbooks. Revenue from the 
rental of physical textbooks is deferred and recognized 
over the rental period commencing at point of sale. The 
Company offers a buyout option to allow the purchase of 
a rented book at the end of the semester. The Company 
records the buyout purchase when the customer exercises 
and pays the buyout option price. In these instances, the 
Company would accelerate any remaining deferred rental 
revenue at the point of sale.

NOOK acquires the rights to distribute digital content from 
publishers and distributes the content on www.barne-
sandnoble.com, NOOK® devices and other eBookstore 
platforms. Certain digital content is distributed under an 
agency pricing model, in which the publishers set prices for 
eBooks and NOOK receives a commission on content sold 
through the eBookstore. The majority of the Company’s 
eBooks are sold under the agency model.

The Barnes & Noble Member Program offers members 
greater discounts and other benefits for products and ser-
vices, as well as exclusive offers and promotions via e-mail 
or direct mail, for an annual fee of $25.00, which is non-
refundable after the first 30 days. Revenue is recognized 
over the 12-month period based upon historical spending 
patterns for Barnes & Noble Members.

Merchandise Inventories
Merchandise inventories are stated at the lower of cost or 
market. Cost is determined primarily by the retail inven-
tory method under the first-in, first-out (FIFO) basis. 
NOOK merchandise inventories are recorded based on the 
average cost method.

Market is determined based on the estimated net realiz-
able value, which is generally the selling price. Reserves 
for non-returnable inventory are based on the Company’s 
history of liquidating non-returnable inventory. The 
Company does not believe there is a reasonable likelihood 
that there will be a material change in the future estimates 
or assumptions used to calculate the non-returnable 
inventory reserve. However, if assumptions based on the 

Company’s history of liquidating non-returnable inven-
tory are incorrect, it may be exposed to losses or gains that 
could be material. A 10% change in actual non-returnable 
inventory reserve would have affected pre-tax earnings by 
approximately $5.2 million in fiscal 2017.

The Company also estimates and accrues shortage for the 
period between the last physical count of inventory and 
the balance sheet date. Shortage rates are estimated and 
accrued based on historical rates and can be affected by 
changes in merchandise mix and changes in actual shortage 
trends. The Company does not believe there is a reasonable 
likelihood that there will be a material change in the future 
estimates or assumptions used to calculate shortage rates. 
However, if the Company’s estimates regarding shortage 
rates are incorrect, it may be exposed to losses or gains that 
could be material. A 10 basis point change in actual short-
age rates would have affected pre-tax earnings by approxi-
mately $0.7 million in fiscal 2017.

Internal-Use Software and Website Development Costs
Direct costs incurred to develop software for internal use 
and website development costs are capitalized and amor-
tized over an estimated useful life of three to seven years. 
During fiscal 2017 and fiscal 2016, the Company capitalized 
costs, primarily related to labor, consulting, hardware and 
software, of $18.5 million and $31.5 million, respectively. 
Amortization of previously capitalized amounts was $23.6 
million, $30.5 million and $27.6 million for fiscal 2017, 
fiscal 2016 and fiscal 2015, respectively. Costs related to 
the design or maintenance of internal-use software and 
website development are expensed as incurred.

Research and Development Costs for Software Products
The Company follows the guidance in ASC 985-20, Cost of 
Software to be Sold, Leased or Marketed, regarding research 
and development costs for software products to be sold, 
leased, or otherwise marketed. Capitalization of software 
development costs begins upon the establishment of 
technological feasibility and is discontinued when the 
product is available for sale. A certain amount of judgment 
and estimation is required to assess when technological 
feasibility is established, as well as the ongoing assessment 
of the recoverability of capitalized costs. The Company’s 
products reach technological feasibility shortly before the 
products are released and, therefore, research and devel-
opment costs are generally expensed as incurred.

Stock-Based Compensation
The calculation of stock-based employee compensation 
expense involves estimates that require management’s 
judgment. These estimates include the fair value of each of 
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the stock option awards granted, which is estimated on the 
date of grant using a Black-Scholes option pricing model. 
There are two significant inputs into the Black-Scholes 
option pricing model: expected volatility and expected 
term. The Company estimates expected volatility based 
on traded option volatility of the Company’s stock over a 
term equal to the expected term of the option granted. The 
expected term of stock option awards granted is derived 
from historical exercise experience under the Company’s 
stock option plans and represents the period of time that 
stock option awards granted are expected to be outstand-
ing. The assumptions used in calculating the fair value of 
stock-based payment awards represent management’s best 
estimates, but these estimates involve inherent uncertain-
ties and the application of management’s judgment. As a 
result, if factors change and the Company uses different 
assumptions, stock-based compensation expense could be 
materially different in the future. In addition, the Company 
is required to estimate the expected forfeiture rate, and 
only recognize expense for those shares expected to vest. If 
the Company’s actual forfeiture rate is materially different 
from its estimate, the stock-based compensation expense 
could be significantly different from what the Company 
has recorded in the current period. See Note 7 to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements for a further discussion 
on stock-based compensation.

The Company does not believe there is a reasonable 
likelihood there will be a material change in the future 
estimates or assumptions used to determine stock-based 
compensation expense. However, if actual results are not 
consistent with the Company’s estimates or assumptions, 
the Company may be exposed to changes in stock-based 
compensation expense that could be material. If actual 
results are not consistent with the assumptions used, 
the stock-based compensation expense reported in the 
Company’s financial statements may not be representative 
of the actual economic cost of the stock-based compensa-
tion. A 10% change in the Company’s stock-based compen-
sation expense for the year ended April 29, 2017 would have 
affected pre-tax earnings by approximately $0.6 million in 
fiscal 2017.

Property and Equipment and Other Long-Lived Assets
The Company’s long-lived assets include property and 
equipment and amortizable intangibles. At April 29, 2017, 
the Company had $276.1 million of property and equip-
ment, net of accumulated depreciation, and $0.9 million of 
amortizable intangible assets, net of amortization, account-
ing for approximately 14.3% of the Company’s total assets. 
The Company reviews its long-lived assets for impairment 

whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable and 
considers market participants in accordance with ASC 360-
10, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived 
Assets. The Company evaluates long-lived assets for impair-
ment at the individual Barnes & Noble store level, which 
is the lowest level at which individual cash flows can be 
identified. When evaluating long-lived assets for potential 
impairment, the Company will first compare the carrying 
amount of the assets to the individual store’s estimated 
future undiscounted cash flows. If the estimated future cash 
flows are less than the carrying amount of the assets, an 
impairment loss calculation is prepared. The impairment 
loss calculation compares the carrying amount of the assets 
to the individual store’s fair value based on its estimated 
discounted future cash flows. If required, an impairment 
loss is recorded for that portion of the asset’s carrying 
value in excess of fair value. Impairment losses included in 
selling and administrative expenses related to amortizable 
assets totaled $0.3 million, $0.2 million and $0.4 million 
during fiscal 2017, fiscal 2016 and fiscal 2015, respectively. 
The Company does not believe there is a reasonable likeli-
hood that there will be a material change in the estimates or 
assumptions used to calculate long-lived asset impairment 
losses. However, if actual results are not consistent with 
estimates and assumptions used in estimating future cash 
flows and asset fair values, the Company may be exposed 
to losses that could be material. A 10% decrease in the 
Company’s estimated discounted cash flows would not have 
resulted in a material impairment charge on the Company’s 
results of operations in fiscal 2017.

Goodwill and Unamortizable Intangible Assets
The costs in excess of net assets of businesses acquired 
are carried as goodwill in the accompanying consolidated 
balance sheets.

At April 29, 2017, the Company had $207.4 million of 
goodwill (on its Retail reporting unit) and $309.3 million 
of unamortizable intangible assets (those with an indefinite 
useful life), accounting for approximately 26.7% of the 
Company’s total assets. ASC 350-30, Goodwill and Other 
Intangible Assets (ASC 350-30), requires that goodwill and 
other unamortizable intangible assets no longer be amor-
tized, but instead be tested for impairment at least annually 
or earlier if there are impairment indicators.

The Company performs a two-step process for impairment 
testing of goodwill as required by ASC 350-30. The first 
step of this test, used to identify potential impairment, 
compares the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying 
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amount. Fair value was determined using the combination 
of a discounted cash flow method (income approach) and 
the guideline public company method (market compa-
rable approach), weighted equally in determining the fair 
value of the Company. The market comparable approach 
estimates fair value using market multiples of various 
financial measures compared to a set of comparable 
public companies in the retail industry. The second step 
(if necessary) measures the amount of the impairment. 
The Company completed its annual goodwill impairment 
test as of the first day of the third quarter of fiscal 2017. In 
performing the valuations, the Company used cash flows 
that reflected management’s forecasts and discount rates 
that included risk adjustments consistent with the current 
market conditions. Based on the results of the Company’s 
step one testing, the fair value of the B&N Retail reporting 
unit, as of that date, exceeded its carrying values; therefore, 
the second step of the impairment test was not required 
to be performed and no goodwill impairment was recog-
nized. Goodwill is subject to further risk of impairment 
if B&N Retail comparable store sales continue to decline, 
the Company’s cost reduction plans do not materialize or 
store closings accelerate. There were no impairment losses 
included in selling and administrative expenses related to 
goodwill during fiscal 2017, fiscal 2016 and fiscal 2015.

The Company tests unamortizable intangible assets by 
comparing the fair value and the carrying value of such 
assets. The Company also completed its annual impairment 
tests for its other unamortizable intangible assets by com-
paring the estimated fair value to the carrying value of such 
assets. Impairment losses included in selling and adminis-
trative expenses related to unamortizable intangible assets 
totaled $0 million, $3.8 and $0 million during fiscal 2017, 
fiscal 2016 and fiscal 2015, respectively. Changes in market 
conditions, among other factors, could have a material 
impact on these estimates.

During fiscal 2016, the Company impaired one of its 
publishing contracts due to a significant drop in business 
with that publisher, driven by lower title offerings, product 
quality and the loss of a distribution partner. As a result, 
the Company recorded an impairment charge of $3.8 mil-
lion in selling and administrative expenses. The publishing 
contracts include the value of long-standing relationships 
with authors, agents and publishers established upon the 
Company’s acquisition of Sterling in 2003. Given Sterling’s 
strong history of maintaining such relationships, the 
Company believes they produce value indefinitely without 
an identifiable remaining useful life. However, given the 
continued declines in the physical book business, certain 
of these contracts were impaired.

A 10% decrease in the Company’s estimated discounted 
cash flows would have no impact on the Company’s evalua-
tion of publishing contracts in fiscal 2017.

Gift Cards
The Company sells gift cards, which can be used in its 
stores, on www.barnesandnoble.com, on NOOK® devices 
and at B&N Education stores. The Company does not charge 
administrative or dormancy fees on gift cards and gift 
cards have no expiration dates. Upon the purchase of a gift 
card, a liability is established for its cash value. Revenue 
associated with gift cards is deferred until redemption of 
the gift card. Gift cards redeemed at B&N Education are 
funded by the gift card liability at the Company. Over time, 
a portion of the gift cards issued is typically not redeemed. 
The Company estimates the portion of the gift card liability 
for which the likelihood of redemption is remote based 
upon the Company’s historical redemption patterns. The 
Company records this amount in revenue on a straight-line 
basis over a 12-month period beginning in the 13th month 
after the month the gift card was originally sold. Additional 
breakage may be required if gift card redemptions continue 
to run lower than historical patterns.

The Company recognized gift card breakage of $35.5 mil-
lion, $29.1 million and $26.1 million during fiscal 2017, 
fiscal 2016 and fiscal 2015, respectively. The Company had 
gift card liabilities of $351.4 million and $353.1 million as 
of April 29, 2017 and April 30, 2016, respectively. Gift card 
breakage increased over last year as redemptions continue 
to run lower than historical patterns. If estimates regarding 
the Company’s history of gift card breakage are incorrect, it 
may be exposed to losses or gains that could be material. A 
25 basis point change in the Company’s gift card breakage 
rate at April 29, 2017 would have affected pre-tax earnings 
by approximately $15.8 million in fiscal 2017.

Income Taxes
Judgment is required in determining the provision for 
income taxes and related accruals, deferred tax assets 
and liabilities. In the ordinary course of business, tax 
issues may arise where the ultimate outcome is uncertain. 
Additionally, the Company’s tax returns are subject to 
audit by various tax authorities. Consequently, changes in 
the Company’s estimates for contingent tax liabilities may 
materially impact the Company’s results of operations or 
financial position. A 1% variance in the Company’s effec-
tive tax rate would have affected the Company’s results of 
operations in fiscal 2017 by $0.5 million.
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DISCLOSURE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING 
STATEMENTS

This report contains certain forward-looking statements 
(within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act 
of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) and information 
relating to Barnes & Noble that are based on the beliefs 
of the management of Barnes & Noble as well as assump-
tions made by and information currently available to the 
management of Barnes & Noble. When used in this com-
munication, the words “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” 
“expect,” “intend,” “plan,” “will,” “forecasts,” “projections,” 
and similar expressions, as they relate to Barnes & Noble 
or the management of Barnes & Noble, identify forward-
looking statements.

Such statements reflect the current views of Barnes & Noble 
with respect to future events, the outcome of which is sub-
ject to certain risks, including, among others, the general 
economic environment and consumer spending patterns, 
decreased consumer demand for Barnes & Noble’s prod-
ucts, low growth or declining sales and net income due to 
various factors, including store closings, higher-than-
anticipated or increasing costs, including with respect to 
store closings, relocation, occupancy (including in con-
nection with lease renewals) and labor costs, the effects of 
competition, the risk of insufficient access to financing to 
implement future business initiatives, risks associated with 
data privacy and information security, risks associated with 
Barnes & Noble’s supply chain, including possible delays 
and disruptions and increases in shipping rates, various 
risks associated with the digital business, including the 
possible loss of customers, declines in digital content sales, 
risks and costs associated with ongoing efforts to rational-
ize the digital business and the digital business not being 
able to perform its obligations under the Samsung com-
mercial agreement and the consequences thereof, the risk 
that financial and operational forecasts and projections are 
not achieved, the performance of Barnes & Noble’s initia-
tives including but not limited to its new store concept 
and eCommerce initiatives, unanticipated adverse litiga-
tion results or effects, potential infringement of Barnes & 
Noble’s intellectual property by third parties or by Barnes & 
Noble of the intellectual property of third parties, and other 
factors, including those factors discussed in detail in Item 
1A, “Risk Factors,” and in Barnes & Noble’s other filings 
made hereafter from time to time with the SEC.

Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties mate-
rialize, or should underlying assumptions prove incorrect, 
actual results or outcomes may vary materially from those 
described as anticipated, believed, estimated, expected, 
intended or planned. Subsequent written and oral forward-
looking statements attributable to Barnes & Noble or 
persons acting on its behalf are expressly qualified in their 
entirety by the cautionary statements in this paragraph. 
Barnes & Noble undertakes no obligation to publicly update 
or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a 
result of new information, future events or otherwise after 
the date of this Annual Report.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(In thousands, except per share data) Fiscal 2017 Fiscal 2016 Fiscal 2015

Sales $ 3,894,558 $ 4,163,844 $ 4,297,108

Cost of sales and occupancy 2,682,356 2,836,547 2,871,184

Gross profit 1,212,202 1,327,297 1,425,924

Selling and administrative expenses 1,040,007 1,176,778 1,192,065

Depreciation and amortization 117,887 135,863 143,665

Operating income 54,308 14,656 90,194

Interest expense, net and amortization of deferred financing fees 7,509 8,770 17,678

Income before income taxes 46,799 5,886 72,516

Income taxes provision (benefit) 24,776 (8,814) 39,644

Net income from continuing operations $   22,023 $ 14,700 $       32,872

Net income (loss) from discontinued operations — (39,146) 3,724

Net income (loss) $    22,023 $ (24,446) $       36,596

Basic income (loss) per common share:

Income from continuing operations $ 0.30  $ 0.05 $           0.15

Income (loss) from discontinued operations  —  (0.54) 0.06

Basic income (loss) per common share $       0.30 $ (0.49) $           0.21

Diluted income (loss) per common share:

Income from continuing operations $ 0.30 $ 0.05 $          0.15

Income (loss) from discontinued operations — (0.54) 0.06

Diluted income (loss) per common share $       0.30 $ (0.49) $           0.21

Weighted average common shares outstanding:

Basic 72,188 72,410 60,842

Diluted 72,328 72,542 60,928

Dividends declared per common share $      0.60 $      0.60 $              —

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

(In thousands) Fiscal 2017 Fiscal 2016 Fiscal 2015

Net income (loss) $ 22,023 $ (24,446) $ 36,596

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:

(Increase) decrease in minimum pension liability (net of deferred  
tax benefit (expense) of $(107), $(2,188) and $4,603, respectively) 164 3,662 (9,370)

Pension reclassification (net of deferred tax expense of $0, $(7,780) 
and $(2,707), respectively) (see Note 12) — 13,022 4,610

Total comprehensive income (loss) $ 22,187 $   (7,762) $ 31,836

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

2017 Annual Report  29



CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except per share data) April 29, 2017 April 30, 2016

ASSETS

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $    11,993 $     13,838

Receivables, net 67,294 124,917

Merchandise inventories, net 946,909 933,723

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 101,816 105,912

Total current assets  1,128,012  1,178,390

Property and equipment:

Land and land improvements 2,541 2,541

Buildings and leasehold improvements 1,072,007 1,058,452

Fixtures and equipment 1,608,433 1,560,005

2,682,981 2,620,998

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 2,406,859 2,322,418

Net property and equipment 276,122 298,580

Goodwill 207,381 211,276

Intangible assets, net 310,205 310,904

Other non-current assets  11,201  13,632

Total assets $ 1,932,921 $ 2,012,782

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable  $ 473,686  $   480,574

Accrued liabilities 283,157 360,194

Gift card liabilities 351,424 353,103

Total current liabilities 1,108,267 1,193,871

Long-term debt 64,900 47,200

Deferred taxes 86,132 54,017

Other long-term liabilities 99,311 114,184

Shareholders’ equity:

Common stock; $0.001 par value; 300,000 shares authorized; 111,933 and 111,228 shares 
issued, respectively 112 112

Additional paid-in capital 1,741,380 1,738,034

Accumulated other comprehensive income 315 151

Retained earnings (46,425) (24,349)

Treasury stock, at cost, 39,497 and 37,941 shares, respectively (1,121,071) (1,110,438)

Total shareholders’ equity 574,311 603,510

Commitments and contingencies — —

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 1,932,921 $ 2,012,782

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’  EQUITY

 (In thousands) COMMON STOCK
ADDITIONAL 

PAID-IN CAPITAL

ACCUMULATED 
OTHER 

COMPREHENSIVE 
GAINS (LOSSES)

RETAINED 
EARNINGS

TREASURY  
STOCK AT COST TOTAL

Balance at May 3, 2014 $ 94  1,395,463  (11,773) 344,021  (1,069,109) $ 658,696

Net income — — — 36,596 — 36,596

Minimum pension liability, net of tax — — (9,370) — — (9,370)

Pension reclassification (see Note 
12) — — 4,610 — — 4,610

Exercise of 83 common stock options 1 1,282 — — — 1,283

Stock options and restricted stock 
tax benefits — 652 — — — 652

Stock-based compensation expense — 19,989 — — — 19,989

Accretive dividend on preferred 
stockholders — — — (7,340) — (7,340)

Accrued/paid dividends for preferred 
stockholders — — — (15,765) — (15,765)

Treasury stock acquired, 477 shares — — — — (10,607) (10,607)

Acquisition of preferred membership 
interest 3 313,295 — — — 313,298

Settlement of Microsoft commercial 
liability — 197,316 — — — 197,316

Balance at May 2, 2015 $ 98 1,927,997 (16,533) 357,512 (1,079,716) $1,189,358

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’  EQUITY (CONTINUED)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

 (In thousands) COMMON STOCK
ADDITIONAL 

PAID-IN CAPITAL

ACCUMULATED 
OTHER 

COMPREHENSIVE 
GAINS (LOSSES)

RETAINED 
EARNINGS

TREASURY  
STOCK AT COST TOTAL

Balance at May 2, 2015 $ 98 1,927,997 (16,533) 357,512 (1,079,716) $1,189,358

Net loss — — — (24,446) — (24,446)

Minimum pension liability, net of tax — — 3,662 — — 3,662

Pension reclassification (see Note 
12) — — 13,022 — — 13,022

Exercise of 111 common stock 
options 2 1,301  — — — 1,303

Stock options and restricted stock 
tax benefits  — 1,094  —  —  — 1,094

Stock-based compensation expense  — 14,889  —  —  — 14,889

Accretive dividend on preferred 
stockholders and membership 
interests  —  —  — (4,204)  — (4,204)

Inducement fee paid upon 
conversion of Series J preferred 
stock —  —  — (3,657)  — (3,657)

Cash dividends declared —  —  — (46,056)  — (46,056)

Accrued dividends for long-term 
incentive awards —  —  — (451)  — (451)

Purchase of treasury stock related 
to stock-based compensation, 337 
shares — — — — (4,004) (4,004)

Treasury stock repurchase plan, 
2,763 shares —  —  —  — (26,718) (26,718)

Dividend to preferred shareholders 
paid in shares — 1,783 — (1,783) — —

Common shares issued upon 
conversion of Series J preferred 
stock 12 200,250 — — — 200,262

Cash settlement of equity award — (8,022)  —  —  — (8,022)

Separation of B&N Education, Inc. — (401,258)  — (301,264)  — (702,522)

Balance at April 30, 2016 $ 112 1,738,034 151 (24,349) (1,110,438) $ 603,510
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’  EQUITY (CONTINUED)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

 (In thousands) COMMON STOCK
ADDITIONAL 

PAID-IN CAPITAL

ACCUMULATED 
OTHER 

COMPREHENSIVE 
GAINS 

RETAINED 
EARNINGS

TREASURY  
STOCK AT COST TOTAL

Balance at April 30, 2016 $ 112 1,738,034 151 (24,349) (1,110,438) $ 603,510

Net income — — — 22,023 — 22,023

Postretirement plan liability, net of 
tax — — 164 — — 164

Exercise of 31 common stock options — 312  — — — 312

Stock options and restricted stock 
tax benefit  — 1,110  —  —  — 1,110

Stock-based compensation expense  — 6,299  —  —  — 6,299

Cash dividends declared —  —  — (43,887)  — (43,887)

Accrued dividends for long-term 
incentive awards —  —  — (212)  — (212)

Purchase of treasury stock related 
to stock-based compensation, 248 
shares — — — — (2,694) (2,694)

Treasury stock repurchase plan, 
2,020 shares —  —  —  — (23,281) (23,281)

Distribution of Rabbi Trust shares 
(see Note 7) — (15,342)  —  — 15,342 —

Tax benefit from distribution of Rabbi 
Trust — 10,967 — — — 10,967

Balance at April 29, 2017 $ 112 1,741,380 315 (46,425) (1,121,071) $ 574,311
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

FISCAL YEAR (In thousands) Fiscal 2017 Fiscal 2016 Fiscal 2015

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Net income (loss) $   22,023 $  (24,446) $  36,596

Net income (loss) from discontinued operations — (39,146) 3,724

Net income from continuing operations $   22,023 $ 14,700 $ 32,872

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash flows from operating 
activities:

Depreciation and amortization (including amortization of deferred financing 
fees) 119,837 139,138 149,143

Stock-based compensation expense 6,299 14,201 16,875

Impairment charges 349 3,991 366

Deferred taxes 28,534 34,604 (3,858)

Loss on disposal of property and equipment 1,262 2,428 4,605

Net decrease in other long-term liabilities (14,602) (48,025) (4,201)

Pension contributions — (12,707) (13,667)

Pension reclassification — 20,802 7,317

Net (increase) decrease in other non-current assets 872 (3,405) 1,019

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net (19,331) 29,960 (191,201)

Net cash flows provided by (used in) operating activities $ 145,243 $ 195,687 $  (730)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Purchases of property and equipment (96,258) (94,274) (94,805)

Net cash flows used in investing activities $  (96,258) $ (94,274) $ (94,805)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Proceeds from credit facility 1,140,178 929,500 349,400

Payments on credit facility (1,122,478) (882,300) (349,400)

Cash dividends paid (43,887) (46,056) —

Treasury stock repurchase plan (23,281) (26,718) —

Purchase of treasury stock related to stock-based compensation (2,694) (4,004) (10,607)

Payment of new credit facility related fees (474) (5,701) —

Proceeds from exercise of common stock options 312 1,303 1,282

Excess tax benefit from stock-based compensation 1,579 1,838 1,865

Cash dividends paid for long-term incentive awards (85) — —

Cash settlement of equity award — (8,022) —

Cash dividends paid to preferred shareholders — (3,941) (16,026)

Inducement fee paid upon conversion of Series J preferred stock — (3,657) —

Payment of Junior Seller Note — — (127,250)

Acquisition of preferred membership interests — — (76,175)

Net proceeds from Microsoft commercial agreement financing arrangement — — 57,161

Net cash flows used in financing activities $  (50,830) $ (47,758) $  (169,750)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

FISCAL YEAR (In thousands) Fiscal 2017 Fiscal 2016 Fiscal 2015

CASH FLOWS FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS:

Operating cash flows $ — $ (86,384) $ 50,926

Investing cash flows — (11,764) (51,452)

Financing cash flows (including cash at date of Spin-Off) — (16,029) —

Net cash flows used in discontinued operations — (114,177) (526)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (1,845) (60,522) (265,811)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 13,838 74,360 340,171

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 11,993 13,838 74,360

Cash and cash equivalents of discontinued operations — — (59,714)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $   11,993 $ 13,838  $   14,646

CHANGES IN OPERATING ASSETS AND LIABILITIES, NET:

Receivables, net $   57,623 $  (64,652)  $   44,715

Merchandise inventories, net (13,186) 62,015 (36,448)

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 4,096 (11,947) (28,228)

Accounts payable, accrued liabilities and gift card liabilities (67,864) 44,544 (171,240)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net $  (19,331) $ 29,960 $   (191,201)

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION:

Cash paid during the period for:

Interest $ 5,487  $ 12,217 $     16,548

Income taxes (net of refunds) $  (16,859) $ 16,107 $      95,584

NON-CASH FINANCING ACTIVITY:

Accrued dividends for long-term incentive awards $     577 $         451 $        —

Dividends to preferred stockholders paid in shares $      — $      1,783 $        —

Issuance of common stock upon conversion of Series J preferred stock $      — $ 200,262 $        —

Accrued dividends on redeemable preferred stock $      — $ — $   3,941

Acquisition of preferred membership interests for 2,737 shares of common 
stock of Barnes & Noble, Inc. $      — $  — $  76,175

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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(Thousands of dollars, except per share data)

For the 52 weeks ended April 29, 2017 (fiscal 2017), 52 
weeks ended April 30, 2016 (fiscal 2016) and 52 weeks 
ended May 2, 2015 (fiscal 2015).

1 .  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES

Business
Barnes & Noble, Inc. (Barnes & Noble or the Company), 
one of the nation’s largest booksellers,3 provides customers 
a unique experience across its multi-channel distribution 
platform. As of April 29, 2017, the Company operates 633 
bookstores in 50 states, maintains an eCommerce site, 
develops digital reading products and operates NOOK, one 
of the largest digital bookstores. Barnes & Noble is utilizing 
the strength of its retail footprint in combination with its 
online and digital businesses to provide an omni-channel 
experience for its customers, fulfilling its commitment to 
offer customers any book, anytime, anywhere and in any 
format.

Barnes & Noble Retail (B&N Retail) operates 633 
retail bookstores, primarily under the Barnes & Noble 
Booksellers® trade name, and includes the Company’s 
eCommerce site. B&N Retail also includes Sterling 
Publishing Co., Inc. (Sterling or Sterling Publishing), a 
leader in general trade book publishing. The NOOK seg-
ment represents the Company’s digital business, offering 
digital books and magazines for sale and consumption 
online, NOOK®4 reading devices, co-branded NOOK® tab-
lets and reading software for iOS, Android and Windows.

The Company’s principal business is the sale of trade books 
(generally, hardcover and paperback titles), mass market 
paperbacks (such as mystery, romance, science fiction and 
other popular fiction), children’s books, eBooks and other 
digital content, NOOK® and related accessories, bargain 
books, magazines, gifts, café products and services, educa-
tional toys & games, music and movies direct to customers 
through its bookstores or on www.barnesandnoble.com. 
The Company offers its customers a full suite of textbook 
options (new, used, digital and rental).

The Company identifies its operating segments based on 
the way the business is managed (focusing on the financial 
information distributed) and the manner in which the chief 
operating decision maker interacts with other members 
of management, and makes decisions on the allocation of 
resources. The Company’s two operating segments are B&N 
Retail and NOOK.

Separation of Barnes & Noble Education, Inc.
On February 26, 2015, Barnes & Noble announced plans 
for the legal and structural separation of Barnes & Noble 
Education, Inc. (Barnes & Noble Education or B&N 
Education) (formerly known as NOOK Media Inc.) from 
Barnes & Noble into an independent public company (the 
Spin-Off).

On July 14, 2015, the Barnes & Noble board of directors (the 
Board) approved the final distribution ratio and declared 
a pro rata dividend of the outstanding shares of B&N 
Education common stock, which resulted in the complete 
legal and structural separation of the two companies. The 
distribution was subject to the satisfaction or waiver of cer-
tain conditions as set forth in B&N Education’s Registration 
Statement on Form S-1, which was filed with the Securities 
and Exchange Commission (SEC) on February 26, 2015 and 
was amended on April 29, 2015, June 4, 2015, June 29, 2015, 
July 13, 2015, July 14, 2015 and July 15, 2015.

On August 2, 2015, Barnes & Noble completed the Spin-Off 
of Barnes & Noble Education and distributed, on a pro rata 
basis, all of the shares of B&N Education common stock to 
the Company’s stockholders of record as of July 27, 2015. 
These Barnes & Noble stockholders of record as of July 
27, 2015 received a distribution of 0.632 shares of B&N 
Education common stock for each share of Barnes & Noble 
common stock held as of the record date. Immediately 
following the completion of the Spin-Off, the Company’s 
stockholders owned 100% of the outstanding shares of 
common stock of B&N Education. Following the Spin-Off, 
B&N Education operates as an independent public com-
pany and as the parent of Barnes & Noble College, trading 
on New York Stock Exchange under the ticker symbol 
“BNED”.

In connection with the separation of B&N Education, the 
Company and B&N Education entered into a Separation 
and Distribution Agreement on July 14, 2015 and several 
other ancillary agreements on August 2, 2015. These agree-
ments govern the relationship between the Company and 
B&N Education after the separation and allocate between 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3  Based upon sales reported in trade publications and public filings.

4  Any references to NOOK® include the Company’s NOOK® Tablet, 
Samsung Galaxy Tab® A NOOK®, Samsung Galaxy Tab® S2 NOOK®, 
Samsung Galaxy Tab® E NOOK® and NOOK GlowLightTM Plus devices, 
each of which includes the trademark symbol (® or ™, as applicable) 
even if a trademark symbol is not included.

 36 Barnes & Noble, Inc. 



the Company and B&N Education various assets, liabilities, 
rights and obligations following the separation, includ-
ing employee benefits, intellectual property, information 
technology, insurance and tax-related assets and liabilities. 
The agreements also describe the Company’s future com-
mitments to provide B&N Education with certain transition 
services.

This Spin-Off is expected to be a non-taxable event for 
Barnes & Noble and its shareholders, and Barnes & Noble’s 
U.S. shareholders (other than those subject to special 
rules) generally will not recognize gain or loss as a result of 
the distribution of B&N Education shares.

Discontinued Operations of Barnes & Noble Education, Inc.
The Company has recognized the separation of B&N 
Education in accordance with Accounting Standards 
Codification (ASC) 205-20, Discontinued Operations. As 
such, the historical results of Barnes & Noble Education 
have been adjusted to include pre-spin B&N Education 
results and separation-related costs and exclude corpo-
rate allocations with B&N Retail, and have been classified 
as discontinued operations. Additionally, discontinued 
operations for fiscal 2016 included investment banking 
fees (as they directly related to the Spin-Off).

History of Barnes & Noble Education, Inc.
On September 30, 2009, Barnes & Noble acquired Barnes 
& Noble College Booksellers, LLC (B&N College) from 
Leonard and Louise Riggio. From that date until October 
4, 2012, B&N College was wholly owned by Barnes & Noble 
Booksellers, Inc. B&N Education was initially incorpo-
rated under the name NOOK Media Inc. in July 2012 to 
hold Barnes & Noble’s B&N College and NOOK digital 
businesses. On October 4, 2012, Microsoft Corporation 
(Microsoft) acquired a 17.6% non-controlling preferred 
membership interest in B&N Education’s subsidiary B&N 
Education, LLC (formerly NOOK Media LLC) (the LLC), 
and through B&N Education, Barnes & Noble maintained 
an 82.4% controlling interest of the B&N College and 
NOOK digital businesses.

On January 22, 2013, Pearson Education, Inc. (Pearson) 
acquired a 5% non-controlling preferred membership 
interest in the LLC, entered into a commercial agreement 
with the LLC relating to the B&N College business and 
received warrants to purchase an additional preferred 
membership interest in the LLC.

On December 4, 2014, B&N Education re-acquired 
Microsoft’s interest in the LLC in exchange for cash and 
common stock of Barnes & Noble and the Microsoft com-

mercial agreement was terminated effective as of such date. 
On December 22, 2014, B&N Education also re-acquired 
Pearson’s interest in the LLC and certain related warrants 
previously issued to Pearson. In connection with these 
transactions, Barnes & Noble entered into contingent pay-
ment agreements with Microsoft and Pearson providing for 
additional payments upon the occurrence of certain events, 
including upon a sale of the NOOK digital business. As a 
result of these transactions, Barnes & Noble owned, prior 
to the Spin-Off, 100% of B&N Education.

On May 1, 2015, B&N Education distributed to Barnes & 
Noble all of the membership interests in B&N Education’s 
NOOK digital business. As a result, B&N Education ceased 
to own any interest in the NOOK digital business, which 
remains a wholly owned subsidiary of Barnes & Noble.

Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts 
of Barnes & Noble, Inc. and its wholly and majority-owned 
subsidiaries. All significant intercompany accounts and 
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates
In preparing financial statements in conformity with 
generally accepted accounting principles, the Company is 
required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclo-
sure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 
financial statements and revenues and expenses during 
the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those 
estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company considers all short-term, highly liquid 
instruments purchased with an original maturity of three 
months or less to be cash equivalents.

Merchandise Inventories
Merchandise inventories are stated at the lower of cost or 
market. Cost is determined primarily by the retail inven-
tory method under the first-in, first-out (FIFO) basis. 
NOOK merchandise inventories are recorded based on the 
average cost method.

Market is determined based on the estimated net realiz-
able value, which is generally the selling price. Reserves 
for non-returnable inventory are based on the Company’s 
history of liquidating non-returnable inventory.

The Company also estimates and accrues shortage for the 
period between the last physical count of inventory and 
the balance sheet date. Shortage rates are estimated and 
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accrued based on historical rates and can be affected by 
changes in merchandise mix and changes in actual shortage 
trends.

Property and Equipment and Other Long-Lived Assets
Property and equipment are carried at cost, less accu-
mulated depreciation and amortization. For financial 
reporting purposes, depreciation is computed using 
the straight-line method over estimated useful lives. 
Maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred, while 
major maintenance and remodeling costs are capitalized if 
they extend the useful life of the asset. Leasehold improve-
ments are capitalized and amortized over the shorter of 
their estimated useful lives or the terms of the respec-
tive leases. Fixtures and equipment are capitalized and 
amortized over the shorter of their estimated useful lives 
or 10 years. Capitalized lease acquisition costs are being 
amortized over the lease terms of the underlying leases. 
System costs are capitalized and included in property 
and equipment. These costs are depreciated over their 
estimated useful lives from the date the systems become 
operational. The Company had $276,122 and $298,580 of 
property and equipment, net of accumulated deprecia-
tion, at April 29, 2017 and April 30, 2016, respectively, and 
$117,105, $134,850 and $139,204 of depreciation expense 
for fiscal 2017, fiscal 2016 and fiscal 2015, respectively. 
Capitalized software costs of $75,893 and $79,890 for fiscal 
2017 and fiscal 2016, respectively, are included in property 
and equipment.

The Company had $911 and $1,610 of amortizable intan-
gible assets, net of amortization, at April 29, 2017 and April 
30, 2016, respectively. The Company reviews its long-lived 
assets for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset 
may not be recoverable and considers market participants 
in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification 
(ASC) 360-10, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of 
Long-Lived Assets (ASC 360-10). The Company evaluates 
long-lived assets for impairment at the individual Barnes 
& Noble store level, which is the lowest level at which 
individual cash flows can be identified. When evaluating 
long-lived assets for potential impairment, the Company 
will first compare the carrying amount of the assets to the 
individual store’s estimated future undiscounted cash 
flows. If the estimated future cash flows are less than the 
carrying amount of the assets, an impairment loss calcula-
tion is prepared. The impairment loss calculation com-
pares the carrying amount of the assets to the individual 
store’s fair value based on its estimated discounted future 
cash flows. If required, an impairment loss is recorded for 
that portion of the asset’s carrying value in excess of fair 

value. Impairment losses included in selling and adminis-
trative expenses related to amortizable assets totaled $349, 
$150 and $366 during fiscal 2017, fiscal 2016 and fiscal 
2015, respectively.

Goodwill and Unamortizable Intangible Assets
The costs in excess of net assets of businesses acquired 
are carried as goodwill in the accompanying consolidated 
balance sheets.

At April 29, 2017, the Company had $207,381 of goodwill 
(on its Retail reporting unit) and $309,294 of unamortiz-
able intangible assets (those with an indefinite useful life), 
accounting for approximately 26.7% of the Company’s total 
assets. ASC 350-30, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, 
requires that goodwill and other unamortizable intangible 
assets no longer be amortized, but instead be tested for 
impairment at least annually or earlier if there are impair-
ment indicators.

The Company performs a two-step process for impairment 
testing of goodwill as required by ASC 350-30. The first 
step of this test, used to identify potential impairment, 
compares the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying 
amount. Fair value was determined using the combination 
of a discounted cash flow method (income approach) and 
the guideline public company method (market compa-
rable approach), weighted equally in determining the fair 
value of the Company. The market comparable approach 
estimates fair value using market multiples of various 
financial measures compared to a set of comparable 
public companies in the retail industry. The second step 
(if necessary) measures the amount of the impairment. 
The Company completed its annual goodwill impairment 
test as of the first day of the third quarter of fiscal 2017. In 
performing the valuations, the Company used cash flows 
that reflected management’s forecasts and discount rates 
that included risk adjustments consistent with the current 
market conditions. Based on the results of the Company’s 
step one testing, the fair value of the B&N Retail reporting 
unit as of that date exceeded its carrying values; therefore, 
the second step of the impairment test was not required 
to be performed and no goodwill impairment was recog-
nized. Goodwill is subject to further risk of impairment 
if B&N Retail comparable store sales continue to decline, 
the Company’s cost reduction plans do not materialize or 
store closings accelerate. There were no impairment losses 
included in selling and administrative expenses related to 
goodwill during fiscal 2017, fiscal 2016 and fiscal 2015.

The Company tests unamortizable intangible assets by 
comparing the fair value and the carrying value of such 
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assets. The Company also completed its annual impairment 
tests for its other unamortizable intangible assets by com-
paring the estimated fair value to the carrying value of such 
assets. Impairment losses included in selling and adminis-
trative expenses related to unamortizable intangible assets 
totaled $0, $3,840 and $0 during fiscal 2017, fiscal 2016 and 
fiscal 2015, respectively. Changes in market conditions, 
among other factors, could have a material impact on these 
estimates.

During fiscal 2016, the Company impaired one of its 
publishing contracts due to a significant drop in business 
with that publisher, driven by lower title offerings, product 
quality and the loss of a distribution partner. As a result, 
the Company recorded an impairment charge of $3,840 
in selling and administrative expenses. The publishing 
contracts include the value of long-standing relationships 
with authors, agents and publishers established upon the 
Company’s acquisition of Sterling in 2003. Given Sterling’s 
strong history of maintaining such relationships, the 
Company believes they produce value indefinitely without 
an identifiable remaining useful life.

Deferred Charges
Costs incurred to obtain long-term financing are amortized 
over the terms of the respective debt agreements using the 
straight-line method, which approximates the effective 
interest method. Unamortized costs included in other non-
current assets as of April 29, 2017 and April 30, 2016 were 
$6,346 and $7,796, respectively. Amortization expense 
included in interest and amortization of deferred financing 
fees was $1,950, $3,276 and $5,477 during fiscal 2017, fiscal 
2016 and fiscal 2015, respectively.

Revenue Recognition
Revenue from sales of the Company’s products is recog-
nized at the time of sale or shipment, other than those with 
multiple elements and Free On Board (FOB) destination 
point shipping terms. The Company accrues for estimated 
sales returns in the period in which the related revenue is 
recognized based on historical experience. ECommerce 
revenue from sales of products ordered through the 
Company’s websites is recognized upon estimated deliv-
ery and receipt of the shipment by its customers. Freight 
costs are included within the Company’s cost of sales and 
occupancy. Sales taxes collected from retail customers are 
excluded from reported revenues. All of the Company’s 
sales are recognized as revenue on a “net” basis, including 
sales in connection with any periodic promotions offered 
to customers. The Company does not treat any promotional 
offers as expenses.

In accordance with ASC 605-25, Revenue Recognition, 
Multiple-Element Arrangements, and Accounting Standards 
Updates (ASU) 2009-13 and 2009-14, for multiple-
element arrangements that involve tangible products that 
contain software that is essential to the tangible product’s 
functionality, undelivered software elements that relate 
to the tangible product’s essential software and other 
separable elements, the Company allocates revenue to all 
deliverables using the relative selling-price method. Under 
this method, revenue is allocated at the time of sale to all 
deliverables based on their relative selling price using a 
specific hierarchy. The hierarchy is as follows: vendor-
specific objective evidence, third-party evidence of selling 
price, or best estimate of selling price. NOOK® device 
revenue is recognized at the segment point of sale.

The Company includes post-service customer sup-
port (PCS) in the form of software updates and potential 
increased functionality on a when-and-if-available basis 
with the purchase of a NOOK® from the Company. Using 
the relative selling-price method described above, the 
Company allocates revenue based on the best estimate of 
selling price for the deliverables as no vendor-specific 
objective evidence or third-party evidence exists for any of 
the elements. Revenue allocated to NOOK® and the software 
essential to its functionality is recognized at the time of 
sale, provided all other conditions for revenue recognition 
are met. Revenue allocated to the PCS is deferred and rec-
ognized on a straight-line basis over the 2-year estimated 
life of a NOOK® device.

The average percentage of a NOOK®’s sales price that is 
deferred for undelivered items and recognized over its 
2-year estimated life ranges between 0% and 5%, depend-
ing on the type of device sold. The amount of NOOK®-
related deferred revenue as of April 29, 2017 and April 
30, 2016 was $226 and $160, respectively. These amounts 
are classified on the Company’s balance sheet in accrued 
liabilities for the portion that is subject to deferral for one 
year or less and other long-term liabilities for the portion 
that is subject to deferral for more than one year.

The Company also pays certain vendors who distributed 
NOOK® a commission on the content sales sold through 
that device. The Company accounted for these transac-
tions as a reduction in the sales price of the NOOK® based 
on historical trends of content sales and a liability was 
established for the estimated commission expected to be 
paid over the life of the product. The Company recognizes 
revenue of the content at the point of sale of the content. 
The Company records revenue from sales of digital content, 
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sales of third-party extended warranties, service contracts 
and other products, for which the Company is not obligated 
to perform, and for which the Company does not meet the 
criteria for gross revenue recognition under ASC 605-45-
45, Reporting Revenue Gross as a Principal versus Net as an 
Agent, on a net basis. All other revenue is recognized on a 
gross basis.

The Company rents physical textbooks. Revenue from the 
rental of physical textbooks is deferred and recognized 
over the rental period commencing at point of sale. The 
Company offers a buyout option to allow the purchase of 
a rented book at the end of the semester. The Company 
records the buyout purchase when the customer exercises 
and pays the buyout option price. In these instances, the 
Company would accelerate any remaining deferred rental 
revenue at the point of sale.

NOOK acquires the rights to distribute digital content from 
publishers and distributes the content on www.barne-
sandnoble.com, NOOK® devices and other eBookstore 
platforms. Certain digital content is distributed under an 
agency pricing model, in which the publishers set prices for 
eBooks and NOOK receives a commission on content sold 
through the eBookstore. The majority of the Company’s 
eBooks are sold under the agency model.

The Barnes & Noble Member Program offers members 
greater discounts and other benefits for products and ser-
vices, as well as exclusive offers and promotions via e-mail 
or direct mail, for an annual fee of $25.00, which is non-
refundable after the first 30 days. Revenue is recognized 
over the 12-month period based upon historical spending 
patterns for Barnes & Noble Members.

Research and Development Costs for Software Products
 The Company follows the guidance in ASC 985-20, Cost of 
Software to Be Sold, Leased or Marketed, regarding research 
and development costs for software products to be sold, 
leased, or otherwise marketed. Capitalization of software 
development costs begins upon the establishment of 
technological feasibility and is discontinued when the 
product is available for sale. A certain amount of judgment 
and estimation is required to assess when technological 
feasibility is established, as well as the ongoing assessment 
of the recoverability of capitalized costs. The Company’s 
products reach technological feasibility shortly before the 
products are released and, therefore, research and devel-
opment costs are generally expensed as incurred.

Internal-Use Software and Website Development Costs
Direct costs incurred to develop software for internal 
use and website development costs are capitalized and 
amortized over an estimated useful life of three to seven 
years. During fiscal 2017 and fiscal 2016, the Company 
capitalized costs, primarily related to labor, consulting, 
hardware and software, of $18,450 and $31,531, respec-
tively. Amortization of previously capitalized amounts was 
$23,584, $30,461 and $27,618 for fiscal 2017, fiscal 2016 
and fiscal 2015, respectively. Costs related to the design or 
maintenance of internal-use software and website devel-
opment are expensed as incurred.

Advertising Costs
The costs of advertising are expensed as incurred dur-
ing the year pursuant to ASC 720-35, Advertising Costs. 
Advertising costs charged to selling and administrative 
expenses were $36,420, $53,569 and $50,210 during fiscal 
2017, fiscal 2016 and fiscal 2015, respectively.

The Company receives payments and credits from vendors 
pursuant to co-operative advertising and other programs, 
including payments for product placement in stores, cata-
logs and online. In accordance with ASC 605-50-25-10, 
Customer’s Accounting for Certain Consideration Received from 
a Vendor, the Company classifies certain co-op advertising 
received as a reduction in costs of sales and occupancy. 
Allowances received from vendors exceeded gross advertis-
ing costs in each of the fiscal years noted above.

Closed Store Expenses
When the Company closes or relocates a store, the 
Company charges unrecoverable costs to expense. Such 
costs include the net book value of abandoned fixtures and 
leasehold improvements and, when a store is closed prior 
to the expiration of the lease, a provision for future lease 
obligations, net of expected sublease recoveries. Costs 
associated with store closings of $1,434, $744 and $1,301 
during fiscal 2017, fiscal 2016 and fiscal 2015, respectively, 
are included in selling and administrative expenses in the 
accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Net Earnings (Loss) per Share
In accordance with ASC 260-10-45, Share-Based Payment 
Arrangements and Participating Securities and the Two-Class 
Method, unvested share-based payment awards that contain 
rights to receive non-forfeitable dividends are considered 
participating securities. The Company’s unvested restricted 
shares and unvested restricted stock units granted prior 
to July 15, 2015 and shares issuable under the Company’s 
deferred compensation plan are considered participat-
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ing securities. Cash dividends to restricted stock units 
and performance-based stock units granted on or after 
July 15, 2015 are not distributed until and except to the 
extent that the restricted stock units vest, and in the case 
of performance-based stock units, until and except to the 
extent that the performance metrics are achieved or are 
otherwise deemed satisfied. Stock options do not receive 
cash dividends. As such, these awards are not considered 
participating securities.

Basic earnings per common share is calculated by divid-
ing the net income, adjusted for preferred dividends 
and income allocated to participating securities, by the 
weighted average number of common shares outstanding 
during the period. Diluted net income per common share 
reflects the dilution that would occur if any potentially 
dilutive instruments were exercised or converted into com-
mon shares. The dilutive effect of participating securities 
is calculated using the more dilutive of the treasury stock 
method or two-class method. Other potentially dilutive 
securities include preferred stock, stock options, restricted 
stock units granted after July 15, 2015, and performance-
based stock units and are included in diluted shares to the 
extent they are dilutive under the treasury stock method 
for the applicable periods. See Note 11 to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements for further information regarding the 
calculation of basic and diluted earnings (loss) per com-
mon share.

Income Taxes
The provision for income taxes includes federal, state and 
local income taxes currently payable and those deferred 
because of temporary differences between the financial 
statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities. The 
deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using 
the enacted tax rates and laws that are expected to be in 
effect when the differences reverse. The Company regu-
larly reviews its deferred tax assets for recoverability and 
establishes a valuation allowance, if determined to be 
necessary. The Company establishes a reserve for uncertain 
tax positions. If the Company considers that a tax position 
is more likely than not of being sustained upon audit, based 
solely on the technical merits of the position, it recognizes 
the tax benefit. The Company measures the tax benefit by 
determining the largest amount that is greater than 50% 
likely of being realized upon settlement, presuming that 
the tax position is examined by the appropriate taxing 
authority that has full knowledge of all relevant informa-
tion. A reserve for an uncertain income tax position will be 
recognized if it has less than a 50% likelihood of being sus-
tained. The tax positions are analyzed periodically (at least 

quarterly) and adjustments are made as events occur that 
warrant adjustments for those positions. The Company’s 
policy is to recognize interest and penalties related to 
income tax matters in income tax expense.

Stock-Based Compensation
The calculation of stock-based employee compensation 
expense involves estimates that require management’s 
judgment. These estimates include the fair value of each of 
the stock option awards granted, which is estimated on the 
date of grant using a Black-Scholes option pricing model. 
There are two significant inputs into the Black-Scholes 
option pricing model: expected volatility and expected 
term. The Company estimates expected volatility based 
on traded option volatility of the Company’s stock over a 
term equal to the expected term of the option granted. The 
expected term of stock option awards granted is derived 
from historical exercise experience under the Company’s 
stock option plans and represents the period of time that 
stock option awards granted are expected to be outstand-
ing. The assumptions used in calculating the fair value of 
stock-based payment awards represent management’s best 
estimates, but these estimates involve inherent uncertain-
ties and the application of management’s judgment. As a 
result, if factors change and the Company uses different 
assumptions, stock-based compensation expense could be 
materially different in the future. In addition, the Company 
is required to estimate the expected forfeiture rate, and 
only recognize expense for those shares expected to vest. If 
the Company’s actual forfeiture rate is materially different 
from its estimate, the stock-based compensation expense 
could be significantly different from what the Company 
has recorded in the current period. See Note 7 to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements for a further discussion 
on stock-based compensation.

Gift Cards
The Company sells gift cards, which can be used in its 
stores, on www.barnesandnoble.com, on NOOK® devices 
and at B&N Education stores. The Company does not charge 
administrative or dormancy fees on gift cards and gift 
cards have no expiration dates. Upon the purchase of a gift 
card, a liability is established for its cash value. Revenue 
associated with gift cards is deferred until redemption of 
the gift card. Gift cards redeemed at B&N Education are 
funded by the gift card liability at the Company. Over time, 
a portion of the gift cards issued is typically not redeemed. 
The Company estimates the portion of the gift card liability 
for which the likelihood of redemption is remote based 
upon the Company’s historical redemption patterns. The 
Company records this amount in revenue on a straight-line 
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basis over a 12-month period beginning in the 13th month 
after the month the gift card was originally sold. Additional 
breakage may be required if gift card redemptions continue 
to run lower than historical patterns.

The Company recognized gift card breakage of $35,524, 
$29,074 and $26,080 during fiscal 2017, fiscal 2016 and fis-
cal 2015, respectively. The Company had gift card liabilities 
of $351,424 and $353,103 as of April 29, 2017 and April 30, 
2016, respectively.

Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable, as presented on the Company’s 
Consolidated Balance Sheets, is net of allowances. An 
allowance for doubtful accounts is determined through 
an analysis of the aging of accounts receivable and assess-
ments of collectability based on historic trends, the 
financial condition of the Company’s customers and an 
evaluation of economic conditions. The Company writes 
off uncollectible trade receivables once collection efforts 
have been exhausted. Costs associated with allowable 
customer markdowns and operational chargebacks, net 
of the expected recoveries, are part of the provision for 
allowances included in accounts receivable. These provi-
sions result from seasonal negotiations, as well as historic 
deduction trends net of expected recoveries, and the evalu-
ation of current market conditions.

Reclassifications
Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified for 
comparative purposes to conform with the fiscal 2017 
presentation.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In October 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-16, Income 
Taxes (Topic 740) – Intra-Entity Transfers of Assets Other Than 
Inventory (ASU 2016-16). This standard requires that an 
entity should recognize the income tax consequences of 
an intra-entity transfer of an asset other than inventory 
when the transfer occurs. Consequently, the amendments 
in this standard eliminate the exception for an intra-entity 
transfer of an asset other than inventory. The amendments 
in this standard do not include new disclosure require-
ments; however, existing disclosure requirements might be 
applicable. ASU 2016-16 is effective for public companies 
for annual reporting periods beginning after December 
15, 2017, including interim reporting periods within those 
annual reporting periods. The Company is currently evalu-
ating the potential impact of this standard on its consoli-
dated financial statements.

In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-15, Statement 
of Cash Flows (Topic 230) – Classification of Certain Cash 
Receipts and Cash Payments (ASU 2016-15). This update 

clarifies the classification of certain cash receipts and cash 
payments in the statement of cash flows, including debt 
prepayment or extinguishment costs, settlement of contin-
gent consideration arising from a business combination, 
insurance settlement proceeds, and distributions from 
certain equity method investees. The new standard is effec-
tive for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal 
years, beginning after December 15, 2017. Early adoption 
is permitted. ASU 2016-15 is effective for the Company 
beginning May 1, 2018 under a retrospective approach. 
Since the standard only impacts classification in the state-
ments of cash flows, adoption will not affect the Company’s 
cash and cash equivalents.

In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-09, 
Compensation-Stock Compensation: Improvements to Employee 
Share-Based Payment Accounting (ASU 2016-09). The new 
guidance changes certain aspects of accounting for share-
based payments including accounting for income taxes, 
forfeitures and classifications in the statement of cash 
flows. The Company plans to adopt this standard in the 
first quarter of fiscal 2018, which aligns with the required 
adoption date. As allowed by ASU 2016-09, the Company 
plans to change its accounting for forfeitures from its cur-
rent method of estimating the number of awards that are 
expected to vest to recording forfeitures as they occur. This 
will require a cumulative-effect adjustment to equity as of 
the beginning of fiscal 2018. The Company does not expect 
this adjustment to be material to its consolidated financial 
statements. In addition, the Company does not expect the 
remaining changes caused by ASU 2016-09 to have a mate-
rial impact to its consolidated financial statements.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases 
(Topic 842) (ASU 2016-02), in order to increase transpar-
ency and comparability among organizations by recogniz-
ing lease assets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet for 
those leases classified as operating leases under previous 
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles. ASU 2016-02 
requires that a lessee should recognize a liability to make 
lease payments (the lease liability) and a right-of-use asset 
representing its right to use the underlying asset for the 
lease term on the balance sheet. ASU 2016-02 requires 
expanded disclosures about the nature and terms of lease 
agreements and is effective for annual reporting periods 
beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim 
periods within that reporting period. Early adoption is 
permitted. A modified retrospective transition approach 
is required for leases existing at, or entered into after, the 
beginning of the earliest comparative period presented in 
the financial statements. The Company currently anticipate 
early adoption of ASU 2016-02 effective April 29, 2018 in 
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conjunction with the adoption of ASU 2014-09. While the 
Company’s ability to early adopt depends on system readi-
ness and completing the Company’s analysis of information 
necessary to restate prior period consolidated financial 
statements, the Company remains on schedule and have 
implemented key system functionality to enable the prepa-
ration of restated financial information. The Company is 
currently evaluating the potential impact of this standard 
on its consolidated financial statements, but expects that it 
will result in a significant increase to its long-term assets 
and liabilities on its consolidated balance sheet. However, 
the Company does not expect adoption will have a material 
impact on its consolidated income statement.

In July 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-11, Simplifying the 
Measurement of Inventory (ASU 2015-11), modifying the 
accounting for inventory. Under ASU 2015-11, the mea-
surement principle for inventory will change from lower 
of cost or market value to lower of cost and net realizable 
value. ASU 2015-11 defines net realizable value as the esti-
mated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less 
reasonably predictable costs of completion, disposal, and 
transportation. ASU 2015-11 is applicable to inventory that 
is accounted for under the first-in, first-out method and 
is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 
2016, including interim periods within those fiscal years, 
with early adoption permitted. The Company adopted ASU 
2015-11 effective May 1, 2017. The Company will apply the 
amendments in this update prospectively to the measure-
ment of inventory after the date of adoption. The majority 
of the Company’s merchandise inventories are valued using 
the retail inventory method, which is outside the scope of 
ASU 2015-11. The remaining inventory of the Company’s 
merchandise inventories are valued at the lower of cost or 
market using the average cost method, and the Company 
is evaluating the effect of this update on these inventory 
values. The adoption of this guidance is not expected to 
have a significant impact on the Company’s consolidated 
financial statements.

In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-03, Simplifying 
the Presentation of Debt Issuance Costs (ASU 2015-03). ASU 
2015-03 simplifies the presentation of debt issuance costs 
by requiring that debt issuance costs related to a recog-
nized debt liability be presented in the balance sheet as 
a direct deduction from the carrying amount of that debt 
liability, consistent with debt discounts. The recognition 
and measurement guidance for debt issuance costs are not 
affected by ASU 2015-03. In August 2015, FASB issued ASU 
2015-15, Presentation and Subsequent Measurement of Debt 
Issuance Costs Associated with Line-of-Credit Arrangements 

(ASU 2015-15). ASU 2015-15 clarifies the presentation 
and measuring of debt issuance costs incurred in connec-
tion with line-of-credit arrangements given the lack of 
guidance on this topic in ASU 2015-03. For line-of-credit 
arrangements, an entity can continue to present debt 
issuance costs as an asset and amortize the deferred debt 
issuance costs ratably over the term of the line-of-credit 
arrangement. ASU 2015-03, as amended, is effective for 
annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 
2015, including interim periods within such annual report-
ing periods with early adoption permitted. ASU 2015-03 is 
to be retrospectively adopted to each prior reporting period 
presented. The Company adopted ASU 2015-03 in the first 
quarter ended July 30, 2016. The Company made a policy 
election to continue recording the debt issuance costs as 
an asset, as allowed for revolving credit agreements. As the 
Company only has a line-of-credit arrangement, the adop-
tion of this ASU did not result in a change in the Company’s 
accounting for debt issuance costs related to such line of 
credit and had no impact on the Company’s consolidated 
financial statements.

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09. The standard 
provides companies with a single model for use in account-
ing for revenue arising from contracts with customers and 
supersedes current revenue recognition guidance, includ-
ing industry-specific revenue guidance. The core principle 
of the model is to recognize revenue when control of the 
goods or services transfers to the customer, as opposed to 
recognizing revenue when the risks and rewards transfer 
to the customer under the existing revenue guidance. ASU 
2014-09, as amended by ASU 2015-14, ASU 2016-08, 
ASU 2016-10, ASU 2016-12 and ASU 2016-20, is effective 
for annual reporting periods beginning after December 
15, 2017, including interim periods within that reporting 
period. Earlier application is permitted for annual report-
ing periods beginning after December 15, 2016. The guid-
ance permits companies to either apply the requirements 
retrospectively to all prior periods presented, or apply the 
requirements in the year of adoption, through a cumulative 
adjustment. The Company plans to adopt ASU 2014-09 
effective April 29, 2018. The Company currently anticipates 
adopting the standard using the modified retrospective 
method. The Company has begun the process of imple-
menting this standard, including performing a review of its 
revenue streams to identify any differences in the timing, 
measurement, or presentation of revenue recognition. The 
Company currently believes that the primary impact will be 
changes to the timing of recognition of revenues related to 
gift card breakage. The Company will continue to assess the 
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impact on all areas of its revenue recognition, disclosure 
requirements and changes that may be necessary to its 
internal controls over financial reporting. The Company 
is continuing to evaluate the impact of adopting this ASU 
on its consolidated financial statements. The Company 
remains on schedule to adopt this ASU effective April 29, 
2018.

Reporting Period
The Company’s fiscal year is comprised of 52 or 53 weeks, 
ending on the Saturday closest to the last day of April. The 
reporting periods ended April 29, 2017, April 30, 2016 and 
May 2, 2015 each contained 52 weeks.

2 .  DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS OF BARNES & 
NOBLE EDUCATION,  INC.

The Company has recognized the separation of B&N 
Education in accordance with Accounting Standards 
Codification (ASC) 205-20, Discontinued Operations. As 
such, the historical results of Barnes & Noble Education 
have been adjusted to include pre-spin B&N Education 
results and separation-related costs and exclude corpo-
rate allocations with B&N Retail, and have been classified 
as discontinued operations. Additionally, discontinued 
operations for fiscal 2016 included investment banking 
fees (as they directly related to the Spin-Off).

The following financial information presents the discon-
tinued operations for fiscal 2016 and fiscal 2015:

Fiscal 2016 Fiscal 2015

Sales $ 238,983 $ 1,772,389

Cost of sales and occupancy 186,697 1,325,814

Gross profit 52,286 446,575

Selling and administrative 
expenses 94,933 353,087

Depreciation and 
amortization 13,100 50,509

Operating income (loss) from 
discontinued operations (55,747) 42,979

Interest expense, net and 
amortization of deferred 
financing fees 3 210

Income (loss) before income 
taxes from discontinued 
operations (55,750) 42,769

Income taxes (16,604) 39,045

Net income (loss) from 
discontinued operations $ (39,146) $ 3,724

The following table presents the aggregate carrying 
amounts of the classes of assets and liabilities of discontin-
ued operations:

May 2, 2015

Carrying amounts of assets included as part of 
discontinued operations:

Cash and cash equivalents $    59,714

Receivables, net 38,311

Merchandise inventories, net 297,425

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 52,176

Total current assets 447,626

Property and equipment:

Buildings and leasehold improvements 149,065

Fixtures and equipment 335,404

484,469

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 376,911

Net property and equipment 107,558

Goodwill 274,070

Intangible assets, net 198,190

Other non-current assets 39,883

Total assets classified as discontinued 
operations in the consolidated balance sheet $1,067,327

Carrying amounts of liabilities included as part of 
discontinued operations:

Accounts payable $ 170,490

Accrued liabilities  133,123

Total current liabilities  303,613

Long-term deferred taxes  41,924

Other long-term liabilities  34,093

Total liabilities classified as discontinued 
operations in the consolidated balance sheet $ 379,630

3 .  RESIGNATION CHARGE

On August 2, 2015, Michael P. Huseby resigned from the 
Company’s Board of Directors and as Chief Executive 
Officer of the Company, which was contingent upon the 
successful separation of B&N Education. In connection 
with his termination of employment, he received severance 
payments based on the terms of his employment agreement 
with the Company, effective as of January 7, 2014. Under the 
terms of his employment agreement, upon a resignation for 
“Good Reason”, Mr. Huseby was entitled to receive lump-
sum severance equal to two times the sum of (a) annual 
base salary, (b) the average annual incentive compensation 
paid to the named executive officer with respect to the 
preceding two completed years and (c) the cost of ben-
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efits. In addition, Mr. Huseby was entitled to accelerated 
vesting of the equity-based awards granted pursuant to his 
employment agreement. As a result, Mr. Huseby received 
a severance payment equal to $7,742 and additionally was 
entitled to 300,000 shares of the Company’s common stock 
pursuant to the accelerated vesting of the equity-based 
awards, which were settled for cash based on the closing 
price of the Company’s common stock on the record date 
of the Spin-Off in an amount equal to $8,022. The net 
cash payments related to Mr. Huseby’s resignation totaled 
$15,764 during the second quarter of fiscal 2016. Mr. 
Huseby’s 300,000 shares have been ratably expensed from 
the initial grant date, thereby reducing the total resignation 
charge to $10,510, which was recorded within selling and 
administrative expenses during the second quarter of fiscal 
2016.

4 .  CEO DEPARTURE

On October 26, 2016, the Company entered into a release 
agreement (the Release Agreement) with its former Chief 
Executive Officer, Ronald D. Boire. Under the Release 
Agreement, Mr. Boire and the Company agreed to release 
claims against each other in connection with Mr. Boire’s 
termination of employment in exchange for a cash payment 
contemplated by his employment agreement. In connec-
tion with the execution of the Release Agreement, Mr. Boire 
also agreed to forfeit all equity awards that were granted to 
him by the Company.

The cash payment in connection with the Release 
Agreement totaled $4,826. The Company has previously 
recognized $1,933 in expense relating to the equity awards 
granted to Mr. Boire during his employment. Taking into 
account the reversal of those expenses, the Company 
recorded a net charge related to the cash payment to Mr. 
Boire in connection with the Release Agreement of $2,892 
within selling and administrative expenses during the 
second quarter of fiscal 2017.

5 .  EBOOK SETTLEMENT

The Company provided credits to eligible customers result-
ing from the settlement reached with Apple Inc. (Apple) 
in an antitrust lawsuit filed by various State Attorneys 
General and private class plaintiffs regarding the price of 
digital books. The Company’s customers were entitled to 
$95,707 in total credits as a result of the settlement, which 
is funded by Apple. If a customer’s credit is not used to 
make a purchase within one year, the entire credit will 
expire. The Company estimated total activations of $60,844 

through June 2017, which are recorded as a liability to 
customers to the extent they have not yet been activated and 
as a receivable from the Apple settlement fund to the extent 
they have not yet been reimbursed. As of April 29, 2017, the 
Company’s customers had activated $59,232 in credits, of 
which $52,687 were redeemed. Total receivables from the 
Apple settlement fund were $2,478 as of April 29, 2017.

6 .  CREDIT FACILITY

Prior to August 3, 2015, the Company was party to an 
amended and restated credit facility with Bank of America, 
N.A., as administrative agent, collateral agent and swing 
line lender, and other lenders, dated as of April 29, 2011 (as 
amended and modified through August 3, 2015, the Prior 
Credit Facility), consisting of up to $1,000,000 in aggregate 
commitments under a five-year asset-backed revolving 
credit facility, which was scheduled to expire on April 29, 
2016.

On August 3, 2015, the Company and certain of its sub-
sidiaries entered into a credit agreement (New Credit 
Agreement) with Bank of America, N.A., as administrative 
agent, collateral agent and swing line lender, and the other 
lenders from time to time party thereto, under which the 
lenders committed to provide a five-year asset-backed 
revolving credit facility in an aggregate committed princi-
pal amount of up to $700,000 (Revolving Credit Facility). 
On September 30, 2016, the Company amended the New 
Credit Agreement to provide for a new “first-in, last-out” 
revolving credit facility (the FILO Credit Facility and, 
together with the Revolving Credit Facility, the New Credit 
Facility) in an aggregate principal amount of up to $50,000, 
which supplements availability under the Revolving Credit 
Facility. The Company generally must draw down the FILO 
Credit Facility before making any borrowings under the 
Revolving Credit Facility.

Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, 
J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. and 
SunTrust Robinson Humphrey, Inc. are the joint lead 
arrangers for the New Credit Facility. The New Credit 
Facility replaced the Prior Credit Facility. Proceeds from 
the New Credit Facility are used for general corporate 
purposes, including seasonal working capital needs.

The Company and certain of its subsidiaries are permitted 
to borrow under the New Credit Facility. The New Credit 
Facility is secured by substantially all of the inventory, 
accounts receivable and related assets of the borrow-
ers under the New Credit Facility (collectively, the Loan 
Parties), but excluding the equity interests in the Company 
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and its subsidiaries, intellectual property, equipment and 
certain other property. Borrowings under the New Credit 
Facility are limited to a specified percentage of eligible col-
lateral. The Company has the option to request an increase 
in commitments under the New Credit Facility of up to 
$250,000, subject to certain restrictions.

The New Credit Facility allows the Company to declare and 
pay up to $70,000 in dividends annually to its stockholders 
without compliance with any availability or ratio-based 
limitations.

Interest under the Revolving Credit Facility accrues, at the 
election of the Company, at a LIBOR or alternate base rate, 
plus, in each case, an applicable interest rate margin, which 
is determined by reference to the level of excess availability 
under the Revolving Credit Facility. Through the end of the 
fiscal quarter during which the closing of the Revolving 
Credit Facility occurred, loans under the Revolving Credit 
Facility bore interest at LIBOR plus 1.750% per annum, in 
the case of LIBOR borrowings, or at the alternate base rate 
plus 0.750% per annum, in the alternative, and thereafter 
the interest rate began to fluctuate between LIBOR plus 
2.000% per annum and LIBOR plus 1.500% per annum (or 
between the alternate base rate plus 1.000% per annum 
and the alternate base rate plus 0.500% per annum), based 
upon the average daily availability under the Revolving 
Credit Facility for the immediately preceding fiscal quarter. 
Interest under the FILO Credit Facility accrues, at the elec-
tion of the Company, at a LIBOR or alternate base rate, plus, 
in each case, an applicable interest rate margin, which is 
also determined by reference to the level of excess avail-
ability under the Revolving Credit Facility. Loans under 
the FILO Credit Facility bear interest at 1.000% per annum 
more than loans under the Revolving Credit Facility.

The New Credit Agreement contains customary negative 
covenants, which limit the Company’s ability to incur 
additional indebtedness, create liens, make investments, 
make restricted payments or specified payments and 
merge or acquire assets, among other things. In addition, if 
excess availability under the New Credit Facility were to fall 
below certain specified levels, certain additional covenants 
(including fixed charge coverage ratio requirements) would 
be triggered, and the lenders would assume dominion and 
control over the Loan Parties’ cash.

The New Credit Agreement contains customary events of 
default, including payment defaults, material breaches of 
representations and warranties, covenant defaults, default 

on other material indebtedness, customary ERISA events 
of default, bankruptcy and insolvency, material judgments, 
invalidity of liens on collateral, change of control or cessa-
tion of business. The New Credit Agreement also contains 
customary affirmative covenants and representations and 
warranties.

The Company wrote off $460 of deferred financing fees 
related to the Prior Credit Facility during fiscal 2016 and 
the remaining unamortized deferred financing fees of 
$3,542 were deferred and are being amortized over the 
five-year term of the New Credit Facility. The Company also 
incurred $5,701 of fees to secure the New Credit Facility, 
which are being amortized over the five-year term accord-
ingly. During fiscal 2017, the Company incurred $474 of 
fees to secure the FILO Credit Facility, which are being 
amortized over the same term as the New Credit Facility.

The Company had $64,900 and $47,200 of outstanding 
debt under the New Credit Facility as of April 29, 2017 and 
April 30, 2016, respectively. The Company had $38,833 
and $47,895 of outstanding letters of credit under its New 
Credit Facility as of April 29, 2017 and April 30, 2016, 
respectively.

The following table presents selected information related 
to the Company’s credit facilities:

Fiscal
2017

Fiscal
2016

Fiscal
2015

Credit facility at period end $ 64,900 47,200  —

Average balance outstanding 
during the period $ 96,297 66,948 18,227

Maximum borrowings 
outstanding during the period $285,278 293,200 202,800

Weighted average interest 
rate during the perioda 5.77% 8.21% 38.18%

Interest rate at end of period 3.73% 2.69% 0.00%

a Includes commitment fees.

Fees expensed with respect to the unused portion of the 
credit facilities were $2,235, $2,781 and $4,658 during fis-
cal 2017, fiscal 2016 and fiscal 2015, respectively.

The Company has no agreements to maintain compensat-
ing balances.
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7 .  STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

The Company maintains two active share-based incen-
tive plans: the 2009 Incentive Plan and the Amended and 
Restated 2009 Incentive Plan. Prior to June 2, 2009, the 
Company issued restricted stock and stock options under 
the 1996 and 2004 Incentive Plans. On June 2, 2009, the 
Company’s shareholders approved the 2009 Incentive Plan. 
Under the 2009 Incentive Plan, the Company has issued 
restricted stock units, restricted stock and stock options. 
On September 11, 2012, the Company’s shareholders 
approved the Amended and Restated 2009 Incentive Plan. 
Under the Amended and Restated 2009 Incentive Plan, 
the Company has issued performance-based stock units, 
restricted stock units, restricted stock and stock options. At 
April 29, 2017, there were approximately 7,261,401 shares 
of common stock available for future grants under the 
Amended and Restated 2009 Incentive Plan.

A restricted stock award is an award of common stock that 
is subject to certain restrictions during a specified period. 
Restricted stock awards are independent of option grants 
and are generally subject to forfeiture if employment ter-
minates prior to the release of the restrictions. The grantee 
cannot transfer the shares before the restricted shares vest. 
Shares of unvested restricted stock have the same voting 
rights as common stock, are entitled to receive dividends 
and other distributions thereon and are considered to be 
currently issued and outstanding. The Company’s restricted 
stock awards vest over a period of one to four years. The 
Company expenses the cost of the restricted stock awards, 
which is determined to be the fair market value of the 
shares at the date of grant, straight-line over the period 
during which the restrictions lapse. For these purposes, 
the fair market value of the restricted stock is determined 
based on the closing price of the Company’s common stock 
on the grant date.

A restricted stock unit is a grant valued in terms of the 
Company’s common stock, but no stock is issued at the 
time of grant. The restricted stock units may be redeemed 
for one share of common stock each once vested. Restricted 
stock units are generally subject to forfeiture if employ-
ment terminates prior to the release of the restrictions. 
The grantee cannot transfer the units except in very limited 
circumstances and with the consent of the compensation 
committee. Shares of unvested restricted stock units have 
no voting rights but are entitled to receive dividends and 
other distributions thereon. Cash dividends to restricted 
stock units granted on or after July 15, 2015 are not distrib-

uted until the restricted stock units vest. The Company’s 
restricted stock units vest over a period of one to four years. 
The Company expenses the cost of the restricted stock 
units, which is determined to be the fair market value of 
the shares at the date of grant, straight-line over the period 
during which the restrictions lapse. For these purposes, the 
fair market value of the restricted stock unit is determined 
based on the closing price of the Company’s common stock 
on the grant date.

A performance-based stock unit is a grant valued in terms 
of the Company’s common stock, but no stock is issued 
at the time of grant. Each performance-based stock unit 
may be redeemed for one share of common stock once 
vested. In general, upon the achievement of a minimum 
threshold, 50% to 150% of these awards vest at the end of a 
three year performance period from the date of grant based 
upon achievement of the performance goal specified in the 
performance-based stock unit agreement. Performance-
based stock units are generally subject to forfeiture if 
employment terminates prior to the settlement of the 
award. The grantee cannot transfer the units except in very 
limited circumstances and with the consent of the compen-
sation committee. Shares of unvested performance-based 
stock units have no voting rights but are entitled to receive 
dividends and other distributions thereon. Cash dividends 
to performance-based stock units are not distributed until 
the award is settled. The Company expenses the cost of the 
performance-based stock units, which is determined to be 
the fair market value of the shares at the date of grant, rat-
ably over the requisite service period, based on the prob-
ability of achieving the performance goal, with changes in 
expectations recognized as an adjustment to earnings in the 
period of the change. If the performance goal is not met, 
no compensation cost is recognized and any previously 
recognized compensation cost is reversed.

The Company uses the Black-Scholes option-pricing model 
to value the Company’s stock options for each stock option 
award. Using this option-pricing model, the fair value of 
each stock option award is estimated on the date of grant. 
The fair value of the Company’s stock option awards, which 
are generally subject to pro-rata vesting annually over four 
years, is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting 
period of the stock options. The expected volatility assump-
tion is based on traded options volatility of the Company’s 
stock over a term equal to the expected term of the option 
granted. The expected term of stock option awards granted 
is derived from historical exercise experience under the 
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Company’s stock option plans and represents the period 
of time that stock option awards granted are expected to be 
outstanding. The expected term assumption incorporates 
the contractual term of an option grant, which is ten years, 
as well as the vesting period of an award, which is gener-
ally pro-rata vesting annually over four years. The risk-
free interest rate is based on the implied yield on a U.S. 
Treasury constant maturity with a remaining term equal to 
the expected term of the option granted.

The Company recognizes stock-based compensation costs, 
net of estimated forfeitures, for only those shares expected 
to vest on a straight-line basis over the requisite service 
period of the award. The Company estimates the forfeiture 
rates based on its historical experience.

No stock options were granted during fiscal 2017, fiscal 
2016 or fiscal 2015.

In September 2003, Leonard Riggio, the Company’s 
Executive Chairman, exercised 1,318,750 stock options 
by tendering in payment of the exercise price of the stock 
options 606,277 shares that he held in the Company’s 
stock. Mr. Riggio elected to defer receipt of the balance 
of the shares (712,473) due from the exercise pursuant to 
the Company’s Executive Deferred Compensation Plan 
(Plan). In accordance therewith, the Company established 
a rabbi trust (Rabbi Trust) under the Plan for the benefit of 
Mr. Riggio, which holds 712,473 shares of the Company’s 
common stock. The shares held by the Rabbi Trust were 
treated as treasury stock. Due to the deferred compensation 
arrangement, these shares were included in the denomi-
nator of the earnings per share calculation in accordance 
with ASC 260, Earnings per share, when the impact was not 
antidilutive.

On March 15, 2017, the Board of Directors of the Company 
approved the termination of the Plan and the Rabbi Trust. 
As part of the termination of the Plan, all amounts deferred 
under the Plan and held in the Rabbi Trust were distributed 
in March 2017 to Mr. Riggio, who was the sole participant in 
the Plan.

Stock-Based Compensation Activity

The following table presents a summary of the Company’s 
stock option activity:

Number of 
Shares  

(in 
thousands)

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price

Weighted 
Average 

Remaining 
Contractual 

Term

Aggregate 
Intrinsic 

Value  
(in 

thousands)

Balance, May 3, 2014 1,039 $ 20.14 4.53 years $ 725

Granted — 0.00

Exercised (83) 15.47

Forfeited (501) 24.12

Balance, May 2, 2015 455 $ 16.62 6.27 years $ 3,114

Granted — 0.00a

Exercised (111) 11.71a

Forfeited (239) 10.89a

Adjustment due to 
the Spin-Off of B&N 
Education 219

Balance, April 30, 
2016 324 $ 11.29 5.09 years $ 516

Granted — 0.00

Exercised (31) 9.91

Forfeited (38) 21.14

Balance, April 29, 
2017 255 $ 9.99 4.62 years $  11

Vested and expected 
to vest in the future 
at April 29, 2017 255 $ 9.99 4.62 years $  11

Exercisable at April 
29, 2017 255 $ 9.99 4.62 years $  11

Available for grant at 
April 29, 2017 7,261

a Weighted average exercise price is calculated using exercise price 
prior to the Spin-Off and after the Spin-Off.

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table above represents 
the total pre-tax intrinsic value (the difference between 
the Company’s closing stock price on the last trading day of 
the related fiscal year and the exercise price, multiplied by 
the related in-the-money options) that would have been 
received by the option holders had they exercised their 
options at the end of the fiscal year. This amount changes 
based on the market value of the Company’s common 
stock. Total intrinsic value of options exercised for fiscal 
2017, fiscal 2016 and fiscal 2015 (based on the difference 
between the Company’s stock price on the exercise date and 
the respective exercise price, multiplied by the number of 
options exercised) was $99, $546 and $596, respectively.

As of April 29, 2017, there was no unrecognized compensa-
tion expense related to unvested stock options granted 
under the Company’s share-based compensation plans.

 48 Barnes & Noble, Inc.  NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued



The following table presents a summary of the Company’s 
restricted stock activity:

Number of Shares  
(in thousands)

Weighted Average 
Grant Date  
Fair Value

Balance, May 3, 2014 99 $ 14.09

Granted 43 22.24

Vested (96) 14.10

Forfeited (3) 13.46

Balance, May 2, 2015 43 $ 22.24

Granted 64 13.04

Vested (43) 22.24

Forfeited — 0.00

Balance, April 30, 2016 64 $ 13.04

Granted 77 10.95

Vested (64) 13.04

Forfeited — 0.00

Balance, April 29, 2017 77 $ 10.95

Total fair value of shares of restricted stock that vested dur-
ing fiscal 2017, fiscal 2016 and fiscal 2015 was $680, $637 
and $2,188, respectively. As of April 29, 2017, there was 
$280 of unrecognized stock-based compensation expense 
related to non-vested restricted stock awards. That cost is 
expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 
0.38 years.

The following table presents a summary of the Company’s 
restricted stock unit activity:

Number of Shares  
(in thousands)

Weighted Average  
Grant Date  
Fair Value

Balance, May 3, 2014 3,127 $ 15.15

Granted 291 19.40

Vested (1,054) 15.19

Forfeited (309) 15.94

Balance, May 2, 2015 2,055 $ 15.62

Granted 692 18.82a

Vested (1,312) 10.68a

Forfeited (1,054) 10.74a

Adjustment due to the Spin-
Off of B&N Education 1,057

Balance, April 30, 2016 1,438 $ 13.76

Granted 547 12.42

Vested (609) 11.75

Forfeited (826) 14.22

Balance, April 29, 2017 550 $ 13.96

a  Weighted average grant date fair value is calculated using the grant 
price prior to the Spin-Off and after the Spin-Off.

Total fair value of shares of restricted stock units that vested 
during fiscal 2017, fiscal 2016 and fiscal 2015 were $6,612, 
$18,047 and $23,578, respectively. As of April 29, 2017, 
there was $5,084 of unrecognized stock-based compensa-
tion expense related to non-vested restricted stock units. 
That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted 
average period of 1.79 years.

The following table presents a summary of the Company’s 
performance-based stock unit activity:

Number of Shares  
(in thousands)

Weighted Average 
Grant Date  
Fair Value

Balance, May 3, 2014 — $ 0.00

Granted — 0.00

Vested — 0.00

Forfeited — 0.00

Balance, May 2, 2015 — $ 0.00

Granted 110 28.08a

Vested — 0.00a

Forfeited (17) 18.46a

Adjustment due to the  
Spin-Off of B&N Education 58

Balance, April 30, 2016 151 $ 18.41

Granted 507 12.48

Vested — 0.00

Forfeited (238) 13.55

Balance, April 29, 2017 420 $ 14.00

a Weighted average grant date fair value is calculated using the grant 
price prior to the Spin-Off and after the Spin-Off.

There were no vesting of performance-based stock units 
during fiscal 2017, fiscal 2016 and fiscal 2015. As of April 
29, 2017, there was $2,940 of unrecognized stock-based 
compensation expense related to non-vested performance-
based stock units. That cost is expected to be recognized 
over a weighted average period of 1.97 years.

For fiscal 2017, fiscal 2016 and fiscal 2015, stock-based 
compensation expense of $6,299, $14,201 and $16,875, 
respectively, is included in selling and administrative 
expenses.
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8 .  RECEIVABLES,  NET

Receivables represent customer, private and public 
institutional and government billings, credit/debit card, 
advertising, landlord and other receivables due within one 
year as follows:

April 29, 2017 April 30, 2016

Trade accounts $ 16,189 $  21,000

Credit/debit card receivables 25,136 28,232

eBook settlement receivable 
(see Note 5) 2,478 53,809

Other receivables 23,491 21,876

Total receivables, net $ 67,294 $ 124,917

9 .  OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

Other long-term liabilities consist primarily of deferred 
rent, tax liabilities and reserves, long-term insurance 
liabilities and asset retirement obligations. The Company 
provides for minimum rent expense over the lease terms 
(including the build-out period) on a straight-line basis. 
The excess of such rent expense over actual lease pay-
ments (net of tenant allowances) is classified as deferred 
rent. Other long-term liabilities also include store closing 
expenses, long-term deferred revenues and a health care 
and life insurance plan for certain retired employees. The 
Company had the following other long-term liabilities at 
April 29, 2017 and April 30, 2016:

April 29, 2017 April 30, 2016

Deferred rent $ 59,142 $  70,006

Tax liabilities and reserves 8,711 13,758

Insurance liabilities 14,225 15,219

Asset retirement obligations 11,482 11,268

Other 5,751 3,933

Total other long-term 
liabilities $ 99,311 $ 114,184

10 .  FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

In accordance with ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements and 
Disclosures (ASC 820), the fair value of an asset is consid-
ered to be the price at which the asset could be sold in an 
orderly transaction between unrelated, knowledgeable 
and willing parties. A liability’s fair value is defined as the 
amount that would be paid to transfer the liability to a new 
obligor, not the amount that would be paid to settle the 
liability with the creditor. Assets and liabilities recorded 
at fair value are measured using a three-tier fair value 

hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring 
fair value. These tiers include:

Level 1 – Observable inputs that reflect quoted prices in 
active markets

Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices in active markets 
that are either directly or indirectly observable

Level 3 – Unobservable inputs in which little or no market 
data exists, therefore requiring the Company to develop its 
own assumptions

The Company’s financial instruments include cash, receiv-
ables, gift cards, accrued liabilities, accounts payable and 
its credit facility. The fair values of cash, receivables, gift 
cards accrued liabilities and accounts payable approximate 
carrying values because of the short-term nature of these 
instruments. The Company believes that its credit facility 
approximates fair value since interest rates are adjusted to 
reflect current rates.

During fiscal 2016, the Company impaired one of its 
publishing contracts due to a significant drop in business 
with that publisher, driven by lower title offerings, product 
quality and the loss of a distribution partner. As a result, 
the Company recorded an impairment charge of $3,840 
in selling and administrative expenses. In determining 
whether the carrying value of unamortizable intangible 
assets is less than its estimated fair value, a discounted cash 
flow approach to value was used, which was based on Level 
3 inputs as defined by ASC 820.

11 .  NET EARNINGS (LOSS)  PER SHARE

In accordance with ASC 260-10-45, Share-Based Payment 
Arrangements and Participating Securities and the Two-Class 
Method, unvested share-based payment awards that contain 
rights to receive non-forfeitable dividends are considered 
participating securities. The Company’s unvested restricted 
shares and unvested restricted stock units granted prior 
to July 15, 2015 and shares issuable under the Company’s 
deferred compensation plan were considered participat-
ing securities. Cash dividends to restricted stock units 
and performance-based stock units granted on or after 
July 15, 2015 are not distributed until and except to the 
extent that the restricted stock units vest, and in the case 
of performance-based stock units, until and except to the 
extent that the performance metrics are achieved or are 
otherwise deemed satisfied. Stock options do not receive 
cash dividends. As such, these awards are not considered 
participating securities.
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Basic earnings per common share are calculated by 
dividing the net income, adjusted for preferred dividends 
and income allocated to participating securities, by the 
weighted average number of common shares outstanding 
during the period. Diluted net income per common share 
reflects the dilution that would occur if any potentially 
dilutive instruments were exercised or converted into com-
mon shares. The dilutive effect of participating securities 
is calculated using the more dilutive of the treasury stock 
method or two-class method. Other potentially dilutive 
securities include preferred stock, stock options, restricted 
stock units granted after July 15, 2015, and performance-
based stock units and are included in diluted shares to the 
extent they are dilutive under the treasury stock method for 
the applicable periods.

During periods of net loss, no effect is given to the partici-
pating securities because they do not share in the losses 
of the Company. Due to the net loss during fiscal 2016, 
participating securities in the amount of 2,163,190 were 
excluded from the calculation of loss per share using the 
two-class method because the effect would be antidilutive. 
The Company’s outstanding non-participating securities 
consisting of dilutive stock options and restricted stock 
units of 140,341, 129,450 and 86,491 for fiscal 2017, fiscal 
2016 and fiscal 2015, respectively, and accretion/payments 
of dividends on preferred shares were also excluded from 
the calculation of loss per share using the two-class method 
because the effect would be antidilutive.

The following is a reconciliation of the Company’s basic and diluted income (loss) per share calculation:

Fiscal 2017 Fiscal 2016 Fiscal 2015

Numerator for basic income (loss) per share:

Net income from continuing operations $ 22,023  14,700 32,872

Inducement fee paid upon conversion of Series J preferred stock — (3,657) —

Preferred stock dividends — — (15,767)

Preferred stock dividends paid in shares — (1,783) —

Accretion of dividends on preferred stock — (4,204) (7,339)

Less allocation of dividends to participating  securities (576) (1,219) —

Less allocation of undistributed earnings to  participating securities — — (535)

Net income from continuing operations  available to common shareholders 21,447 3,837 9,231

Net income (loss) from discontinued operations  available to common 
shareholders — (39,146) 3,724

Less allocation of undistributed earnings to  participating securities — — (204)

Net income (loss) from discontinued operations available to common 
shareholders — (39,146) 3,520

Net income (loss) available to common shareholders $ 21,447  (35,309) 12,751

Numerator for diluted income (loss) per share:

Net income from continuing operations  available to common shareholders $ 21,447  3,837 9,231

Preferred stock dividends (a) — — —

Accretion of dividends on preferred stock (a) — — —

Allocation of undistributed earnings to  participating securities — — 535

Less diluted allocation of undistributed earnings  to participating securities — — (534)

Net income from continuing operations  available to common shareholders 21,447 3,837 9,232

Net income (loss) from discontinued operations  available to common 
shareholders — (39,146) 3,520

Allocation of undistributed earnings to  participating securities — — 204

Less diluted allocation of undistributed earnings  to participating securities — — (204)

Net income (loss) from discontinued operations  available to common 
shareholders — (39,146) 3,520

Net income (loss) available to common shareholders $ 21,447  (35,309) 12,752
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Fiscal 2017 Fiscal 2016 Fiscal 2015

Denominator for basic income (loss) per share:

Basic weighted average common shares 72,188 72,410 60,842

Denominator for diluted income (loss) per share:

Basic weighted average shares 72,188 72,410 60,842

Preferred sharesa — — —

Average dilutive options 63 118 86

Average dilutive non-participating securities 77 14 —

Diluted weighted average common shares 72,328 72,542 60,928

Basic income (loss) per common share:

Income from continuing operations $   0.30  0.05 0.15

Income (loss) from discontinued operations — (0.54) 0.06

Basic income (loss) per common share $   0.30 (0.49) 0.21

Diluted income (loss) per common share:

Income from continuing operations $   0.30  0.05 0.15

Income (loss) from discontinued operations — (0.54) 0.06

Diluted income (loss) per common share $   0.30 (0.49) 0.21

a Although the Company was in a net income position during fiscal 2016 and fiscal 2015, the dilutive effect of the Company’s convertible preferred shares 
was excluded from the calculation of income per share using the two-class method because the effect would be antidilutive.

12 .  PENSION AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT  PLANS

As of December 31, 1999, substantially all employees of 
the Company were covered under a non-contributory 
defined benefit pension plan (the Pension Plan). As of 
January 1, 2000, the Pension Plan was amended so that 
employees no longer earn benefits for subsequent service. 
Effective December 31, 2004, the Barnes & Noble.com 
Employees’ Retirement Plan (the B&N.com Retirement 
Plan) was merged with the Pension Plan. Substantially all 
employees of Barnes & Noble.com were covered under the 
B&N.com Retirement Plan. As of July 1, 2000, the B&N.
com Retirement Plan was amended so that employees no 
longer earn benefits for subsequent service. Subsequent 
service continued to be the basis for vesting of benefits 
not yet vested at December 31, 1999 and June 30, 2000 
for the Pension Plan and the B&N.com Retirement Plan, 
respectively.

On June 18, 2014, the Company’s Board of Directors 
approved a resolution to terminate the Pension Plan. The 
Pension Plan termination was effective November 1, 2014 
and the accrued benefit for active participants was vested 
as of such date. As a result of the Pension Plan termination, 
pension liability and other comprehensive loss increased 
by $15,747, before tax, during the 13 weeks ended August 
2, 2014. The pension liability was settled in either a lump 
sum payment or a purchased annuity. A special lump sum 
opportunity was offered to the terminated vested par-

ticipants in the Pension Plan during the 13 weeks ended 
November 1, 2014, which triggered settlement account-
ing in the period ended January 31, 2015. The settlement 
represented 735 participants who elected to receive a lump 
sum of their benefit, totaling $15,190. The distributions 
primarily took place in December 2014 and resulted in a 
settlement charge of $7,317, which was reclassified from 
other comprehensive income to selling and administrative 
expenses during fiscal 2015. In addition, the Pension Plan 
received a favorable determination letter, dated October 
15, 2015, from the IRS. This determination letter rules that 
the termination of the Pension Plan, as amended, does not 
affect its tax-qualified status.

The net impact of the Pension Plan termination, special 
lump-sum opportunity, settlement accounting and remea-
surement and regular plan experience, was an increase in 
pension liability of $3,062 and a decrease in other compre-
hensive income of $6,503, before tax, in fiscal 2015.

In fiscal 2016, there was a final Pension Plan termination 
lump-sum opportunity offered to the remaining 2,300 
active and terminated vested participants at the final 
Pension Plan termination distribution date. As a result, 
lump-sum payments of approximately $18,100 were 
distributed in March 2016 to about 1,800 participants 
who elected to receive an immediate distribution of their 
benefit as part of the plan termination lump-sum window. 
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Benefits for the remaining plan population were trans-
ferred to Massachusetts Mutual Life Insurance Company 
for an annuity purchase premium of $34,300. Further, 
in October 2016, a payment was made by the Company to 
the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation to transfer the 
liability for benefits payable to 28 missing participants. A 
final distribution of remaining assets from the trust was 
made on November 8, 2016.

Pension expense was $276, $25,330 and $10,434 for fiscal 
2017, fiscal 2016 and fiscal 2015, respectively. For fiscal 
2016, regular annual expense was $4,433, with pension 
settlement charge of $20,897 from the plan liquidation, for 
a total pension expense for fiscal 2016 of $25,330.

The Company maintains a defined contribution plan (the 
Savings Plan) for the benefit of substantially all employees. 
Total Company contributions charged to employee benefit 
expenses for the Savings Plan were $11,815, $12,251 and 
$12,363 during fiscal 2017, fiscal 2016 and fiscal 2015, 
respectively.

13 .  INCOME TAXES

Income before income taxes for fiscal 2017, fiscal 2016 and 
fiscal 2015 are as follows:

Fiscal 2017 Fiscal 2016 Fiscal 2015

Domestic operations $ 47,127  6,827 68,535

Foreign operations (328) (941) 3,981

Total income before taxes  $ 46,799  5,886  72,516

Income tax provisions (benefits) for fiscal 2017, fiscal 2016 
and fiscal 2015 are as follows:

Fiscal 2017 Fiscal 2016 Fiscal 2015

Current:

Federal $ 3,722  (47,053)  39,514

State (7,480) 3,908 2,674

Foreign  — (273) 1,314

Total current (3,758) (43,418) 43,502

Deferred:

Federal 25,724 21,570 6,099

State 2,810 13,018 (10,001)

Foreign — 16 44

Total deferred 28,534 34,604 (3,858)

Total $ 24,776  (8,814)  39,644

Reconciliation between the effective income tax rate and 
the federal statutory income tax rate is as follows:

Fiscal 2017 Fiscal 2016 Fiscal 2015

Federal statutory income tax 
rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%

State income taxes, net of 
federal income tax benefit 10.0 8.3 10.8

Change to unrecognized tax 
benefits (5.9) (111.3) 0.2

Excess executive 
compensation 0.3 8.0 3.7

Meals and entertainment 
disallowance 0.5 5.1 1.1

Tax credits — (76.3) (3.9)

Joint venture net loss 
allocation — — 33.1

Change in valuation allowance (1.2) 108.6 (19.8)

Changes in deferred taxes and 
payables 7.0 (134.8) (5.4)

Amounts not deductible for tax 1.9 — —

State law changes 3.1 4.7 —

Other, net 2.2 3.0 (0.1)

Effective income tax rate 52.9% (149.7)% 54.7%

The Company recorded an income tax provision of $24,776 
in fiscal 2017 compared with an income tax benefit of 
$8,814 and income tax provision of $39,644 in fiscal 2016 
and fiscal 2015, respectively. The Company’s effective tax 
rate was 52.9%, (149.7)% and 54.7% in fiscal 2017, fiscal 
2016 and fiscal 2015, respectively. The primary drivers 
of the effective tax rate in fiscal 2017 include changes in 
uncertain tax positions and changes in deferred taxes and 
payables. The Company continues to maintain a valuation 
allowance against certain state items.

In fiscal 2016, the effective rate reconciliation percentages 
are impacted by the Company’s lower pre-tax earnings as 
compared to fiscal 2015. In fiscal 2016, as shown above in 
the Changes in deferred taxes and payables, Changes to 
unrecognized tax benefits and Changes in valuation allow-
ance, certain adjustments to earnings were recorded to 
correct immaterial errors attributable to prior fiscal years. 
The Company has evaluated the effects of these errors, both 
qualitatively and quantitatively, and concluded that the 
correction of these errors in prior period amounts was not 
material to the current period or any previously reported 
periods, including quarterly reporting.

The joint venture net loss allocation identified in the table 
above refers to our obligation under the joint venture with 
Microsoft and Pearson that was terminated in fiscal 2015 to 
allocate items of loss and expense to Microsoft for income 
tax purposes. In fiscal 2015, this commitment resulted in an 
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additional allocation for tax purposes of $105,542 of joint 
venture losses to Microsoft.

The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset 
and liability method. Deferred taxes are recorded based 
on differences between the financial statement basis and 
tax basis of assets and liabilities and available tax loss and 
credit carryforwards. At April 29, 2017 and April 30, 2016, 
the significant components of the Company’s deferred 
taxes consisted of the following:

April 29, 2017 April 30, 2016

Deferred tax assets:

Accrued liabilities $ 110,029 $ 124,475

Inventory — 3,844

Insurance liability 7,973 8,392

Loss and credit 
carryovers 31,221 31,100

Lease transactions 7,131 13,813

Pension and post-
retirement healthcare 581 670

Stock-based 
compensation 3,182 1,918

Other 1,379 503

Gross deferred tax 
assets 161,496 184,715

Valuation allowance (7,644) (7,903)

Net deferred tax assets 153,852 176,812

Deferred tax liabilities:

Prepaid expenses (4,670) (5,678)

Goodwill and intangible 
asset amortization (140,270) (133,267)

Inventory (2,608) —

Investment in Barnes & 
Noble.com (78,756) (78,650)

Depreciation (13,680) (13,234)

Gross deferred tax 
liabilities (239,984) (230,829)

Net deferred tax 
liabilities $  (86,132) $  (54,017)

In assessing the realizability of the deferred tax assets, 
management considered whether it is more likely than not 
that some or all of the deferred tax assets would be realized. 
In evaluating the Company’s ability to utilize its deferred 
tax assets, it considered all available evidence, both posi-
tive and negative, in determining future taxable income 
on a jurisdiction by jurisdiction basis. The Company has 
recorded a valuation allowance of $7,644 and $7,903 at 
April 29, 2017 and April 30, 2016, respectively. The $259 
decrease in the valuation allowance during fiscal 2017 is 
due principally to the reclassification between uncertain 
tax positions and valuation allowance.

At April 29, 2017, the Company had federal net operating 
loss carryforwards (NOLs) of approximately $53,222 and 
state net operating loss carryforwards of $88,217 that are 
available to offset taxable income in its respective taxing 
jurisdictions. The federal net operating losses begin to 
expire in 2019 through 2024. The utilization of federal net 
operating loss carryforward is limited to approximately 
$6,653 on an annual basis. NOLs not used during a particu-
lar period may be carried forward to future years, though 
not beyond the expiration years. Additionally, the Company 
had approximately $87,876 of state NOLs that have no 
annual limitation and expire beginning in 2030. The 
Company had state tax credits totaling $6,386, which have 
an indefinite life.

The Company has $4,219 and $3,943 of federal and state 
net operating losses, respectively, that are primarily 
windfall excess tax benefits related to stock-based com-
pensation expense, the benefit of which, if realized, will 
be an increase to additional paid-in capital as opposed to a 
reduction in income tax expense.

As of April 29, 2017, the Company had $9,419 of unrecog-
nized tax benefits, all of which, if recognized, would affect 
the Company’s effective tax rate. A reconciliation of the 
beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits 
for fiscal 2017, fiscal 2016 and fiscal 2015 is as follows:
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Balance at May 3, 2014 $ 19,155

Additions for tax positions of the current 
period 731

Additions for tax positions of prior periods —

Reductions due to settlements —

Reductions for tax positions of prior 
periods (1,504)

Balance at May 2, 2015 $ 18,382

Additions for tax positions of the current 
period 238

Additions for tax positions of prior periods 7,433

Reductions due to settlements (5,980)

Reductions for tax positions of prior 
periods (5,501)

Balance at April 30, 2016 $ 14,572

Additions for tax positions of the current 
period 337

Additions for tax positions of prior periods 1,644

Reductions due to settlements —

Reductions for tax positions of prior 
periods (7,134)

Balance at April 29, 2017 $  9,419

The Company’s policy is to recognize interest and penal-
ties related to income tax matters in income tax expense. 
The Company recorded net interest and penalties (benefit) 
expense of approximately $(2,860), $(7,774) and $1,394 
during fiscal 2017, fiscal 2016 and fiscal 2015, respectively. 
As of April 29, 2017 and April 30, 2016, the Company had 
net accrued interest and penalties of $1,561 and $4,226, 
respectively.

The amount of unrecognized tax benefits decreased 
primarily due to the expiration of various state statutes. 
Further, we believe that it is reasonably possible that the 
total amount of unrecognized tax benefits at April 29, 2017 
could decrease by approximately $3,740 within the next 
12 months as a result of settlement of certain tax audits or 
lapses of statutes of limitations, which could impact the 
effective tax rate.

During fiscal 2017, the Company finalized the liquidation of 
its foreign subsidiary operations. The Company no longer 
has unremitted foreign earnings as of the balance sheet 
date.

The Company is subject to U.S. federal income tax as well as 
income tax in jurisdictions of each state having an income 
tax. The tax years that remain subject to examination are 
primarily from fiscal 2014 and forward. Some earlier years 
remain open for a small minority of states.

14 .  INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL

As of April 29, 2017

Amortizable  
intangible assets

Useful 
 Life

Gross 
Carrying 
Amount

Accumulated 
Amortization Total

Technology 5-10  $ 10,710  $ (9,997)  $ 713

Distribution contracts 10 8,325 (8,201) 124

Other  3-10 6,458 (6,384)  74

$25,493 $(24,582) $ 911

Unamortizable  
intangible assets

Trade name $ 293,400

Publishing contracts 15,894

Total $ 309,294

Total amortizable and 
unamortizable intangible 
assets $ 310,205

 
As of April 30, 2016

Amortizable  
intangible assets

Useful 
Life

Gross 
Carrying 
Amount

Accumulated 
Amortization Total

Technology 5-10  $ 10,710  $ (9,589)  $ 1,121

Distribution contracts 10  8,325 (7,905) 420

Other  3-10  6,375  (6,306)  69

$ 25,410 $ (23,800) $ 1,610

Unamortizable  
intangible assets

Trade 
name

Publishing 
contracts Total

Balance at May 2, 2015 $ 293,400 $ 19,734 $ 313,134

Impairment — (3,840) (3,840)

Balance at April 30, 2016 $ 293,400 $ 15,894 $ 309,294

Total amortizable and 
unamortizable intangible 
assets $ 310,904

All amortizable intangible assets are being amortized over 
their useful life on a straight-line basis.

Aggregate Amortization Expense

For the 52 weeks ended April 29, 2017 $    782

For the 52 weeks ended April 30, 2016 $ 1,012

For the 52 weeks ended May 2, 2015 $ 4,461

 
Estimated Amortization Expense

(12 months ending on or about April 30)

2018 $    587

2019 $    324
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The Company tests unamortizable intangible assets by 
comparing the fair value and the carrying value of such 
assets. Impairment losses included in selling and adminis-
trative expenses related to unamortizable intangible assets 
totaled $0, $3,840 and $0 during fiscal 2017, fiscal 2016 and 
fiscal 2015, respectively. Changes in market conditions, 
among other factors, could have a material impact on these 
estimates.

During fiscal 2016, the Company impaired one of its 
publishing contracts due to a significant drop in business 
with that publisher, driven by lower title offerings, product 
quality and the loss of a distribution partner. As a result, 
the Company recorded an impairment charge of $3,840 in 
selling and administrative expenses during the 13 weeks 
ended January 30, 2016.

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by segment 
for fiscal 2017 and fiscal 2016 are as follows:

B&N Retail 
Segment

NOOK 
Segment

Total  
Company

Balance as of May 2, 2015 $ 215,197 — $ 215,197

Benefit of excess tax 
amortizationa (3,921) — (3,921)

Balance as of April 30, 2016 $ 211,276 — $ 211,276

Benefit of excess tax 
amortizationa (3,895) — (3,895)

Balance as of April 29, 2017 $ 207,381 — $ 207,381

a The tax basis of goodwill arising from an acquisition during the 52 
weeks ended January 29, 2005 exceeded the related basis for financial 
reporting purposes by approximately $96,576. In accordance with ASC 
740-10-30, Accounting for Income Taxes, the Company is recognizing 
the tax benefits of amortizing such excess as a reduction of goodwill as 
it is realized on the Company’s income tax return.

15 .  MICROSOFT INVESTMENT

On April 27, 2012, Barnes & Noble entered into an invest-
ment agreement, pursuant to which Barnes & Noble 
transferred to the LLC its digital device, digital content and 
college bookstore businesses, and Morrison Investment 
Holdings, Inc. (Morrison) purchased from the LLC 
300,000 convertible preferred membership interests in 
the LLC (Series A Preferred) for an aggregate purchase 
price of $300,000. Concurrently with its entry into this 
agreement, Barnes & Noble also entered into a commercial 
agreement with Microsoft, pursuant to which, among other 
things, the LLC would develop and distribute a Windows 8 
application for eReading and digital content purchases, and 
an intellectual property license and settlement agreement 
with Microsoft and Microsoft Licensing GP. The parties 

closed Morrison’s investment in the LLC and the commer-
cial agreement became effective on October 4, 2012.

On December 3, 2014, Morrison, Microsoft, Barnes & 
Noble and Barnes & Noble Education entered into agree-
ments, pursuant to which Morrison’s interest in the LLC 
was purchased by Barnes & Noble Education and the 
Microsoft commercial agreement was terminated effec-
tive as of such date. Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement 
(the Purchase Agreement) among Barnes & Noble, Barnes 
& Noble Education, Morrison and Microsoft, Barnes & 
Noble Education purchased from Morrison, and Morrison 
sold, all of its $300,000 convertible Series A preferred 
limited liability company interest in the LLC in exchange 
for an aggregate purchase price of $124,850 consisting of 
(i) $62,425 in cash and (ii) 2,737,290 shares of common 
stock, par value $0.001 per share, of Barnes & Noble. The 
Purchase Agreement closed on December 4, 2014. The 
Company accounted for this transaction in accordance with 
ASC 810-10, Non-Controlling Interest (ASC 810-10) and it 
accordingly was reflected as an equity transaction. In con-
nection with the closing, the parties entered into a Digital 
Business Contingent Payment Agreement, pursuant to 
which Microsoft is entitled to receive 22.7% of the proceeds 
from, among other events or transactions, (1) any future 
dividends or other distributions received from Barnes & 
Noble’s NOOK digital business at any time until the date 
that is three years from the closing, subject to a one-year 
extension under certain circumstances, and (2) the sale of 
Barnes & Noble’s NOOK digital business at any time until 
the date that is three years from the closing, subject to a 
one-year extension under certain circumstances.

16 .  PEARSON INVESTMENT

On December 21, 2012, the LLC entered into an agree-
ment with a subsidiary of Pearson plc (Pearson) to make 
a strategic investment in the LLC. That transaction closed 
on January 22, 2013, and Pearson invested approximately 
$89,500 of cash in the LLC in exchange for preferred 
membership interests representing a 5% equity stake in 
the LLC. Following the closing of the transaction, Barnes 
& Noble owned approximately 78.2% of the LLC and 
Microsoft owned approximately 16.8%. The preferred 
membership interests had a liquidation preference equal 
to the original investment. In addition, the LLC granted 
warrants to Pearson to purchase up to an additional 5% of 
the LLC under certain conditions. Upon the completion of 
the acquisition of Pearson’s interest in the LLC, as stated 
below, the temporary equity was converted to permanent 
equity.
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On December 22, 2014, Barnes & Noble entered into a 
Purchase Agreement (the Pearson Purchase Agreement) 
among Barnes & Noble, Barnes & Noble Education, NOOK 
Media Member Two LLC, a Delaware limited liability 
company (NOOK Member Two), Pearson Education, 
Inc. (Pearson Education) and Pearson Inc., pursuant to 
which Barnes & Noble Education and NOOK Member 
Two purchased from Pearson Education all of its convert-
ible Series B preferred limited liability company interest 
in the LLC and all of its warrants to purchase additional 
Series B preferred limited liability company interests, 
in exchange for an aggregate purchase price equal to (i) 
$13,750 in cash and (ii) 602,927 shares of common stock, 
par value $0.001 per share, of Barnes & Noble. The trans-
actions under the Pearson Purchase Agreement closed 
on December 22, 2014. The Company accounted for this 
transaction in accordance with ASC 810-10 and it accord-
ingly was reflected as an equity transaction. As a condi-
tion to closing, the parties entered into an amended and 
restated Digital Business Contingent Payment Agreement, 
pursuant to which a Digital Business Contingent Payment 
Agreement dated as of December 3, 2014, by and between 
Barnes & Noble, the LLC and Pearson, was amended and 
restated to include provisions consistent with the Digital 
Business Contingent Payment Agreement entered into with 
Morrison on December 3, 2014.

17 .  SERIES J  PREFERRED STOCK

On August 18, 2011, the Company entered into an invest-
ment agreement between the Company and Liberty GIC, 
Inc. (Liberty), pursuant to which the Company issued and 
sold to Liberty, and Liberty purchased, 204,000 shares of 
the Company’s Series J Preferred Stock, par value $0.001 
per share (Preferred Stock), for an aggregate purchase 
price of $204,000 in a private placement exempt from the 
registration requirements of the 1933 Act. The shares of 
Preferred Stock were convertible, at the option of the hold-
ers, into shares of Common Stock representing 16.6% of 
the Common Stock outstanding as of August 29, 2011 (after 
giving pro forma effect to the issuance of the Preferred 
Stock) based on the initial conversion rate. The initial con-
version rate reflected an initial conversion price of $17.00 
and was subject to adjustment in certain circumstances. 
The initial dividend rate for the Preferred Stock was equal 
to 7.75% per annum of the initial liquidation preference of 
the Preferred Stock paid quarterly and subject to adjust-
ment in certain circumstances.

On April 8, 2014, Liberty sold the majority of its shares 
to qualified institutional buyers in reliance on Rule 144A 
under the Securities Act and had retained an approximate 
10% stake of its initial investment. As a result, Liberty no 
longer had the right to elect two preferred stock directors 
to the Company’s Board. Additionally, the consent rights 
and pre-emptive rights, to which Liberty was previously 
entitled, ceased to apply.

On June 5, 2015, the Company entered into conversion 
agreements with five beneficial owners (Series J Holders) 
of its Preferred Stock, pursuant to which each of the Series 
J Holders had agreed to convert (Conversion) shares of 
Preferred Stock it beneficially owned into shares of the 
Company’s common stock, par value $0.001 per share 
(Company Common Stock), and additionally received a 
cash payment from the Company in connection with the 
Conversion.

On July 9, 2015, the Company completed the Conversion. 
Pursuant to the terms of the Conversion Agreements, the 
Series J Holders converted an aggregate of 103,995 shares of 
Preferred Stock into 6,117,342 shares of Company Common 
Stock, and made an aggregate cash payment to the Series J 
Holders of $3,657 plus cash in lieu of fractional shares in 
connection with the Conversion.

The number of shares of Company Common Stock issued 
was determined based on a conversion ratio of 58.8235 
shares of Company Common Stock per share of Preferred 
Stock converted, which was the conversion rate in the 
Certificate of the Designations with respect to the Preferred 
Stock, dated as of August 18, 2011.

On July 10, 2015, the Company gave notice of its exercise 
of the right to force conversion of all outstanding shares 
of its Senior Convertible Redeemable Series J Preferred 
Stock into Company Common Stock pursuant to Section 
9 of the Certificate of Designations, Preferences and 
Relative Participating, Optional and Other Special Rights 
and Qualifications, Limitations and Restrictions of Series 
J Preferred Stock, dated as of August 18, 2011 (the Forced 
Conversion). The effective date of the Forced Conversion 
was July 24, 2015. On the date of the Forced Conversion, 
each share of Series J Preferred Stock was automatically 
converted into 59.8727 shares of Company Common Stock, 
which included shares of Company Common Stock reflect-
ing accrued and unpaid dividends on Series J Preferred 
Stock. Each holder of Series J Preferred Stock received 
whole shares of Company Common Stock and a cash amount 
in lieu of fractional shares of Company Common Stock.

2017 Annual Report  57



As a result of the transactions described above, all shares of 
Series J Preferred Stock were retired by the Company and 
are no longer outstanding.

18 .  SHAREHOLDERS’  EQUITY

On October 20, 2015, the Company’s Board of Directors 
authorized a stock repurchase program (prior repurchase 
plan) of up to $50,000 of its common shares. During fiscal 
2016, the Company repurchased 2,763,142 shares at a cost 
of $26,718 under this plan. During fiscal 2017, the Company 
repurchased 2,019,798 shares at a cost of $23,281 under 
this plan. On March 15, 2017, subsequent to complet-
ing the prior repurchase plan, the Company’s Board of 
Directors authorized a new stock repurchase program of 
up to $50,000 of its common shares. Stock repurchases 
under this program may be made through open market and 
privately negotiated transactions from time to time and in 
such amounts as management deems appropriate. The new 
stock repurchase program has no expiration date and may 
be suspended or discontinued at any time. The Company’s 
repurchase plan is intended to comply with the require-
ments of Rule 10b-18 under the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934. The Company did not repurchase shares under this 
plan in fiscal 2017. The Company has remaining capacity of 
$50,000 under the new repurchase program as of April 29, 
2017.

As of April 29, 2017, the Company has repurchased 
39,496,765 shares at a cost of approximately $1,086,414 
since the inception of the Company’s stock repurchase 
programs. The repurchased shares are held in treasury.

19 .  COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The Company leases retail stores, warehouse facilities, 
office space and equipment. Substantially all of the B&N 
Retail stores are leased under non-cancelable agreements, 
which expire at various dates through 2029 with various 
renewal options for additional periods. The agreements, 
which have been classified as operating leases, generally 
provide for both minimum and percentage rentals and 
require the Company to pay insurance, taxes and other 
maintenance costs. Percentage rentals are based on sales 
performance in excess of specified minimums at various 
stores.

The Company leases office space in New York, New York 
and Santa Clara, California for its NOOK operations.

Rental expense under operating leases is as follows:

Fiscal 2017 Fiscal 2016 Fiscal 2015

Minimum rentals $ 302,784  297,322  294,214

Percentage rentals 1,353 1,821 2,305

$ 304,137  299,143  296,519

Future minimum annual rentals, excluding percentage 
rentals, required under B&N Retail leases that had initial, 
non-cancelable lease terms greater than one year, and 
NOOK leases as of April 29, 2017 are:

Fiscal Year

2018 $    314,274

2019 263,121

2020 202,711

2021 141,638

2022 96,621

After 2022 106,648

$ 1,125,013

The Company provides for minimum rent expense over the 
lease terms (including the build-out period) on a straight-
line basis. The excess of such rent expense over actual lease 
payments (net of tenant allowances) is reflected in other 
long-term liabilities and accrued liabilities in the accom-
panying balance sheets.

Purchase obligations, which include hardware and software 
maintenance contracts and inventory purchase commit-
ments, as of April 29, 2017 are as follows:

Less Than 1 Year $ 34,105

1-3 Years 21,231

3-5 Years —

More Than 5 Years —

Total $ 55,336

20 .  SEGMENT REPORTING

The Company’s two operating segments are B&N Retail and 
NOOK.

B&N Retail
This segment includes 633 bookstores as of April 29, 2017, 
primarily under the Barnes & Noble Booksellers trade 
name. These Barnes & Noble stores generally offer a com-
prehensive trade book title base, a café, and departments 
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dedicated to Juvenile, Toys & Games, DVDs, Music & Vinyl, 
Gift, Magazine, Bargain products and a dedicated NOOK® 
area. The stores also offer a calendar of ongoing events, 
including author appearances and children’s activities. The 
B&N Retail segment also includes the Company’s eCom-
merce website, www.barnesandnoble.com, and its publish-
ing operation, Sterling Publishing Co., Inc.

NOOK
This segment includes the Company’s digital business, 
including the development and support of the Company’s 
NOOK® product offerings. The digital business includes 
digital content such as eBooks, digital newsstand and sales 
of NOOK® devices and accessories to B&N Retail.

Summarized financial information concerning the 
Company’s reportable segments is presented below:

Sales by Segment

52 weeks 
ended  

April 29, 2017

52 weeks 
ended  

April 30, 2016

52 weeks 
ended  

May 2, 2015

B&N Retail $ 3,784,655 $ 4,028,614 $ 4,108,243

NOOK 146,514 191,520 263,833

Eliminationa (36,611) (56,290) (74,968)

Total $ 3,894,558 $ 4,163,844 $ 4,297,108

Sales by Product Line

52 weeks 
ended  

April 29, 2017

52 weeks 
ended  

April 30, 2016

52 weeks 
ended  

May 2, 2015

Mediab 70% 70% 70%

Digitalc 3% 5% 7%

Otherd 27% 25% 23%

Total 100% 100% 100%

Depreciation and 
Amortization

52 weeks 
ended  

April 29, 2017

52 weeks 
ended  

April 30, 2016

52 weeks 
ended  

May 2, 2015

B&N Retail $ 98,877 $ 101,888 $ 104,373

NOOK 19,010 33,975  39,292

Total $ 117,887 $ 135,863 $ 143,665

Operating Income (Loss)

52 weeks 
ended  

April 29, 2017

52 weeks 
ended  

April 30, 2016

52 weeks 
ended  

May 2, 2015

B&N Retail $ 90,663 $ 113,296  $ 213,355

NOOK (36,355) (98,640)  (123,161)

Total $ 54,308 $  14,656  $  90,194

Capital Expenditures

52 weeks 
ended  

April 29, 2017

52 weeks 
ended  

April 30, 2016

52 weeks 
ended  

May 2, 2015

B&N Retail $ 89,706 $ 81,277 $ 73,783

NOOK 6,552 12,997  21,022

Total $ 96,258 $ 94,274 $ 94,805

Total Assetse As of April 29, 2017 As of April 30, 2016

B&N Retail $ 1,897,122 $ 1,873,381

NOOKf 35,799 139,401

Total $ 1,932,921 $ 2,012,782

a Represents sales from NOOK to B&N Retail on a sell-through basis.

b Includes tangible books, music, movies, rentals and newsstand.

c Includes NOOK®, related accessories, eContent and warranties.

d Includes Toys & Games, café products, gifts and miscellaneous other.

e Excludes intercompany balances.

f Decrease in assets is related to the net tax receivable position.

A reconciliation of operating income from reportable seg-
ments to income from continuing operations before taxes 
in the consolidated financial statements is as follows:

52 weeks 
ended  

April 29, 2017

52 weeks 
ended  

April 30, 2016

52 weeks 
ended  

May 2, 2015

Reportable segments 
operating income $ 54,308 $ 14,656 $ 90,194

Interest expense, net and 
amortization of deferred 
financing costs (7,509) (8,770) (17,678)

Consolidated income 
before taxes $ 46,799 $ 5,886 $ 72,516

21 .  LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Company is involved in a variety of claims, suits, 
investigations and proceedings that arise from time to time 
in the ordinary course of its business, including actions 
with respect to contracts, intellectual property, taxation, 
employment, benefits, securities, personal injuries and 
other matters. The results of these proceedings in the ordi-
nary course of business are not expected to have a material 
adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated financial 
position or results of operations.

The Company records a liability when it believes that it 
is both probable that a liability will be incurred, and the 
amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. The Company 
evaluates, at least quarterly, developments in its legal mat-
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ters that could affect the amount of liability that has been 
previously accrued and makes adjustments as appropri-
ate. Significant judgment is required to determine both 
probability and the estimated amount of a loss or potential 
loss. The Company may be unable to reasonably estimate 
the reasonably possible loss or range of loss for a particular 
legal contingency for various reasons, including, among 
others: (i) if the damages sought are indeterminate; (ii) if 
proceedings are in the early stages; (iii) if there is uncer-
tainty as to the outcome of pending proceedings (including 
motions and appeals); (iv) if there is uncertainty as to the 
likelihood of settlement and the outcome of any negotia-
tions with respect thereto; (v) if there are significant factual 
issues to be determined or resolved; (vi) if the proceedings 
involve a large number of parties; (vii) if relevant law is 
unsettled or novel or untested legal theories are presented; 
or (viii) if the proceedings are taking place in jurisdictions 
where the laws are complex or unclear. In such instances, 
there is considerable uncertainty regarding the ultimate 
resolution of such matters, including a possible eventual 
loss, if any.

Legal matters are inherently unpredictable and subject to 
significant uncertainties, some of which are beyond the 
Company’s control. As such, there can be no assurance that 
the final outcome of these matters will not materially and 
adversely affect the Company’s business, financial condi-
tion, results of operations, or cash flows.

Except as otherwise described below with respect to the 
Adrea LLC (Adrea) matter, the Company has determined 
that a loss is reasonably possible with respect to the mat-
ters described below. Based on its current knowledge, the 
Company has determined that the amount of loss or range 
of loss that is reasonably possible, including any reasonably 
possible losses in excess of amounts already accrued, is not 
estimable. With respect to the Adrea matter, the Company 
has determined there will be a loss, as described below.

The following is a discussion of the material legal matters 
involving the Company.

PIN Pad Litigation
As previously disclosed, the Company discovered that PIN 
pads in certain of its stores had been tampered with to allow 
criminal access to card data and PIN numbers on credit and 
debit cards swiped through the terminals. Following public 
disclosure of this matter on October 24, 2012, the Company 
was served with four putative class action complaints (three 
in federal district court in the Northern District of Illinois 
and one in the Northern District of California), each of 
which alleged on behalf of national and other classes of 

customers who swiped credit and debit cards in Barnes & 
Noble Retail stores common law claims such as negligence, 
breach of contract and invasion of privacy, as well as statu-
tory claims such as violations of the Fair Credit Reporting 
Act, state data breach notification statutes, and state unfair 
and deceptive practices statutes. The actions sought various 
forms of relief including damages, injunctive or equitable 
relief, multiple or punitive damages, attorneys’ fees, 
costs, and interest. All four cases were transferred and/
or assigned to a single judge in the United States District 
Court for the Northern District of Illinois, and a single con-
solidated amended complaint was filed. The Company filed 
a motion to dismiss the consolidated amended complaint 
in its entirety, and in September 2013, the Court granted 
the motion to dismiss without prejudice. The Plaintiffs 
then filed an amended complaint, and the Company filed 
a second motion to dismiss. On October 3, 2016, the Court 
granted the second motion to dismiss, and dismissed the 
case without prejudice; in doing so, the Court permitted 
plaintiffs to file a second amended complaint by October 
31, 2016. On October 31, 2016, the plaintiffs filed a second 
amended complaint, and on January 25, 2017, the Company 
filed a motion to dismiss the second amended complaint. 
On June 13, 2017, the Court granted the Company’s motion 
to dismiss with prejudice.

Cassandra Carag individually and on behalf of others 
similarly situated v. Barnes & Noble, Inc., Barnes & Noble 
Booksellers, Inc. and DOES 1 through 100 inclusive
On November 27, 2013, former Associate Store Manager 
Cassandra Carag (Carag) brought suit in Sacramento 
County Superior Court, asserting claims on behalf of 
herself and all other hourly (non-exempt) Barnes & Noble 
employees in California in the preceding four years for 
unpaid regular and overtime wages based on alleged off-
the-clock work, penalties and pay based on missed meal 
and rest breaks, and for improper wage statements, payroll 
records, and untimely pay at separation as a result of the 
alleged pay errors during employment. Via the complaint, 
Carag seeks to recover unpaid wages and statutory penalties 
for all hourly Barnes & Noble employees within California 
from November 27, 2009 to present. On February 13, 2014, 
the Company filed an answer to the complaint in the state 
court and concurrently requested removal of the action to 
federal court. On May 30, 2014, the federal court granted 
Plaintiff’s motion to remand the case to state court and 
denied Plaintiff’s motion to strike portions of the answer 
to the complaint (referring the latter motion to the lower 
court for future consideration). The Court has not yet 
scheduled any further hearings or deadlines.
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Adrea LLC v. Barnes & Noble, Inc., barnesandnoble.com llc 
and NOOK Media LLC
On June 14, 2013, Adrea filed a complaint against Barnes & 
Noble, Inc., NOOK Digital, LLC (formerly barnesandnoble.
com llc) and B&N Education, LLC (formerly NOOK Media 
LLC) (collectively, B&N) in the United States District Court 
for the Southern District of New York alleging that various 
B&N NOOK products and related online services infringe 
U.S. Patent Nos. 7,298,851 (‘851 patent), 7,299,501 (‘501 
patent) and 7,620,703 (‘703 patent). B&N filed its Answer 
on August 9, 2013, denying infringement and asserting 
several affirmative defenses. At the same time, B&N filed 
counterclaims seeking declaratory judgments of non-
infringement and invalidity with respect to each of the 
patents-in-suit. On July 1, 2014, the Court issued a decision 
granting partial summary judgment in B&N’s favor, and in 
particular granting B&N’s motion to dismiss one of Adrea’s 
infringement claims, and granting B&N’s motion to limit 
any damages award with respect to another of Adrea’s 
infringement claims.

Beginning October 7, 2014, through and including October 
22, 2014, the case was tried to a jury in the Southern 
District of New York. The jury returned its verdict on 
October 27, 2014. The jury found no infringement with 
respect to the ‘851 patent, and infringement with respect 
to the ‘501 and ‘703 patents. It awarded damages in the 
amount of $1,330. The jury further found no willful 
infringement with respect to any patent.

On July 24, 2015, the Court granted B&N’s post-trial appli-
cation to invalidate one of the two patents (the ‘501 patent) 
the jury found to have been infringed. On September 28, 
2015, the Court heard post-trial motions on the jury’s 
infringement and validity determinations, and on February 
24, 2016, it issued a decision upholding the jury’s determi-
nation of infringement and validity with respect to the ‘703 
patent. Since the original damages award was a total award 
for infringement of both patents, the Court held a new trial 
to determine damages for infringement of the ‘703 patent, 
which trial concluded on July 15, 2016.

On December 28, 2016, the Court issued its decision on the 
issue of damages, finding that (a) Adrea should be entitled 
to a damages award of $267, based on a reasonable royalty 
rate of 5.1 cents per unit, and (ii) Adrea was not entitled to 
any enhancement of damages, as B&N’s infringement was 
not willful. Following letter briefing, in which Adrea asked 
the Court to award prejudgment interest of approximately 
$90, the Court, following B&N’s reasoning, added $3 in 
prejudgment interest to its damages award, and on January 
12, 2017, entered judgment in favor of Adrea in the total 

amount of $270. Adrea subsequently moved the Court for 
supplemental damages relating to any allegedly infring-
ing products B&N may have sold that were not taken into 
account in the first verdict, including new devices not pre-
viously accused. In addition, Adrea asked the Clerk of the 
Court to tax costs against B&N in the amount of $110. B&N 
opposed both requests, and following briefing, the court 
awarded supplemental damages for sales of accused devices 
of approximately $13, refused to award damages or ongoing 
royalties for any new devices, and entered a final judgment 
of $282. As for the issue of costs, the Clerk awarded Adrea 
approximately $27. Both parties have requested review of 
the Clerk’s award, with B&N taking the position that no 
costs should have been awarded, since Adrea was not the 
prevailing party for purposes of a costs award, and that in 
any case the award was excessive. Adrea sought to recover 
an additional $25 in costs. The parties are awaiting the 
Court’s decision on the costs issue. This will be the final 
proceeding in this action, as neither party has filed a Notice 
of Appeal.

Café Manager Class Actions
Two former Café Managers have filed separate actions 
alleging similar claims of entitlement to unpaid compensa-
tion for overtime. In each action, the plaintiff seeks to rep-
resent a class of allegedly similarly situated employees who 
performed the same position (Café Manager). Specifically, 
Christine Hartpence filed a complaint against Barnes & 
Noble, Inc. (Barnes & Noble) in Philadelphia County Court 
of Common Pleas on May 26, 2015 (Case No.: 160503426), 
alleging that she is entitled to unpaid compensation for 
overtime under Pennsylvania law and seeking to repre-
sent a class of allegedly similarly situated employees who 
performed the same position (Café Manager). On July 14, 
2016, Ms. Hartpence amended her complaint to assert a 
purported collective action for alleged unpaid overtime 
compensation under the federal Fair Labor Standards Act 
(FLSA), by which she sought to act as a class representa-
tive for similarly situated Café Managers throughout the 
United States. On July 27, 2016, Barnes & Noble removed 
the case to the U.S. District Court of the Eastern District of 
Pennsylvania (Case No.: 16-4034). Ms. Hartpence then vol-
untarily dismissed her complaint and subsequently re-filed 
a similar complaint in the Philadelphia County Court of 
Common Pleas (Case No.: 161003213), where it is currently 
pending. The re-filed complaint alleges only claims of 
unpaid overtime under Pennsylvania law and alleges class 
claims under Pennsylvania law that are limited to current 
and former Café Managers within Pennsylvania.
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On September 20, 2016, Kelly Brown filed a complaint 
against Barnes & Noble in the U.S. District Court for the 
Southern District of New York (Case No.: 16-7333) in which 
she also alleges that she is entitled to unpaid compensa-
tion under the FLSA and Illinois law. Ms. Brown seeks 
to represent a national class of all similarly situated Café 
Managers under the FLSA, as well as an Illinois-based 
class under Illinois law. On November 9, 2016, Ms. Brown 
filed an amended complaint to add an additional plaintiff 
named Tiffany Stewart, who is a former Café Manager who 
also alleges unpaid overtime compensation in violation 
of New York law and seeks to represent a class of similarly 
situated New York-based Café Managers under New York 
law. Since the commencement of the action, eight former 
Café Managers have filed consent forms to join the action 
as plaintiffs. On May 2, 2017, the Court denied Plaintiffs’ 
Motion for Conditional Certification, without prejudice.

22 .  BARNES & NOBLE EDUCATION,  INC. 
TRANSACTIONS

Direct Costs Incurred Related to On-going Agreements with 
Barnes & Noble Education, Inc. (Subsequent to the Spin-Off)
In connection with the separation of B&N Education, 
the Company entered into a Separation and Distribution 
Agreement with B&N Education on July 14, 2015 and several 
other ancillary agreements on August 2, 2015. These agree-
ments govern the relationship between the parties after the 
separation and allocate between the parties various assets, 
liabilities, rights and obligations following the separa-
tion, including inventory purchases, employee benefits, 
intellectual property, information technology, insurance 
and tax-related assets and liabilities. The agreements also 
describe the Company’s future commitments to provide 
B&N Education with certain transition services following 
the Spin-Off. These agreements include the following:

 • a Separation and Distribution Agreement that sets 
forth the Company’s and B&N Education’s agreements 
regarding the principal actions that both parties took in 
connection with the Spin-Off and aspects of this rela-
tionship following the Spin-Off. The term of the agree-
ment is perpetual after the Distribution date;

 • a Transition Services Agreement, pursuant to which 
the Company agreed to provide B&N Education with 
specified services for a limited time to help ensure an 
orderly transition following the Spin-Off. The Transition 
Services Agreement specifies the calculation of B&N 
Education costs for these services. The agreement will 

expire and services under it will cease no later than two 
years following the Spin-Off date or sooner in the event 
B&N Education no longer requires such services;

 • a Tax Matters Agreement governs the respective rights, 
responsibilities and obligations of the Company and 
B&N Education after the Spin-Off with respect to all 
tax matters (including tax liabilities, tax attributes, tax 
returns and tax contests). The agreement will expire after 
two years following the Spin-Off date;

 • an Employee Matters Agreement with B&N Education, 
addressing employment, compensation and benefits 
matters, including the allocation and treatment of assets 
and liabilities arising out of employee compensation and 
benefits programs, in which B&N Education employ-
ees participated prior to the Spin-Off. The agreement 
will expire and services under it will cease when B&N 
Education no longer requires such services; and

 • a Trademark License Agreement, pursuant to which the 
Company grants B&N Education an exclusive license in 
certain licensed trademarks and a non-exclusive license 
in other licensed trademarks. The term of the agreement 
is perpetual after the Spin-Off date.

Summary of Transactions with Barnes & Noble Education, 
Inc.
During the 52 weeks ended April 29, 2017, the Company 
charged B&N Education $29,174 for purchases of inventory 
and direct costs incurred under the agreements discussed 
above.

As of April 29, 2017, amounts due from B&N Education for 
book purchases and direct costs incurred under the agree-
ments discussed above were $8,160.

23 .  CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED 
TRANSACTIONS

The Company believes that the transactions and agree-
ments discussed below (including renewals of any exist-
ing agreements) between the Company and related third 
parties are at least as favorable to the Company as could 
have been entered into with unrelated parties at the time 
they were entered into. The Audit Committee of the Board 
of Directors utilizes procedures in evaluating the terms and 
provisions of proposed related party transactions or agree-
ments in accordance with the fiduciary duties of directors 
under Delaware law. The Company’s related party transac-
tion procedures contemplate Audit Committee review and 
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approval of all new agreements, transactions or courses 
of dealing with related parties, including any modifica-
tions, waivers or amendments to existing related party 
transactions. The Company tests to ensure that the terms 
of related party transactions are at least as favorable to 
the Company as could have been obtained from unrelated 
parties at the time of the transaction. The Audit Committee 
considers, at a minimum, the nature of the relationship 
between the Company and the related party, the history of 
the transaction (in the case of modifications, waivers or 
amendments), the terms of the proposed transaction, the 
Company’s rationale for entering the transaction and the 
terms of comparable transactions with unrelated third par-
ties. In addition, management and internal audit annually 
analyze all existing related party agreements and transac-
tions and review them with the Audit Committee.

On February 27, 2017, B&N Education purchased MBS 
Textbook Exchange, Inc. (MBS), which was then privately-
held and majority-owned by affiliates of Leonard Riggio 
(the MBS Purchase). MBS is a new and used textbook 
wholesaler, which also sells textbooks online and pro-
vides bookstore systems and distant learning distribution 
services. Following the MBS Purchase, Leonard Riggio, his 
affiliates and other members of the Riggio family ceased to 
have any ownership interest in MBS.

The Company entered into an agreement with MBS in 
2009, which has a term of ten years and contains restrictive 
covenants limiting the ability of the Company to become a 
used textbook wholesaler and placing certain limitations on 
MBS’s business activities. The Company also entered into 
an agreement with MBS in fiscal 2011, pursuant to which, 
MBS agreed to purchase at the end of a given semester 
certain agreed upon textbooks, which the Company shall 
have rented to students during such semester. Total sales 
to MBS under this program were $0, $2 and $619 for fiscal 
2017 prior to the MBS Purchase, fiscal 2016 and fiscal 2015, 
respectively. Total outstanding amounts payable to MBS for 
all arrangements, net of any amounts due, were $480 and 
$183 for fiscal 2017 and fiscal 2016, respectively.

The Company purchases new and used textbooks directly 
from MBS. Total purchases were $8,328, $7,092 and 
$14,594 for fiscal 2017 prior to the MBS Purchase, fiscal 
2016 and fiscal 2015, respectively. MBS sells used books 
through the Barnes & Noble dealer network. The Company 
earned a commission of $198, $268 and $316 on the MBS 
used book sales in fiscal 2017 prior to the MBS Purchase, 
fiscal 2016 and fiscal 2015, respectively. In addition, Barnes 
& Noble hosts pages on its website, through which Barnes 

& Noble customers are able to sell used books directly to 
MBS. The Company is paid a fixed commission on the price 
paid by MBS to the customer. Total commissions paid to the 
Company under this arrangement were $47, $68 and $91 
for fiscal 2017 prior to the MBS Purchase prior to the MBS 
Purchase, fiscal 2016 and fiscal 2015, respectively.

In fiscal 2010, the Company entered into an agreement 
with TXTB.com LLC (TXTB), a subsidiary of MBS, pursuant 
to which the marketplace program on the Barnes & Noble 
website was made available through the TXTB website. The 
Company receives a fee from third-party sellers for sales 
of marketplace items sold on the TXTB website and, upon 
receipt of such fee, the Company remits a separate fee to 
TXTB for those sales. In fiscal 2011, the Company entered 
into an agreement with TXTB, pursuant to which the 
Company became the exclusive provider of trade books to 
TXTB customers through the TXTB website. TXTB receives 
a commission from the Company on each purchase by a 
TXTB customer. In fiscal 2013, the Company also entered 
into an agreement with MBS Direct, a division of MBS, 
pursuant to which the marketplace program on the Barnes 
& Noble website was made available through the MBS 
Direct website. The Company receives a fee from third-
party sellers for sales of marketplace items sold on the MBS 
Direct website and, upon receipt of such fee, the Company 
remits a separate fee to MBS Direct for those sales. Total 
commissions paid to TXTB and MBS Direct under these 
arrangements were $645, $515 and $429 during fiscal 2017 
prior to the MBS Purchase, fiscal 2016 and fiscal 2015, 
respectively. Outstanding amounts payable to TXTB and 
MBS Direct were $5 and $0 for fiscal 2017 prior to the MBS 
Purchase and fiscal 2016, respectively.

In fiscal 2010, the Company entered into an Aircraft Time 
Sharing Agreement with LR Enterprises Management LLC 
(LR Enterprises), which is owned by Leonard Riggio and 
Louise Riggio, pursuant to which LR Enterprises granted 
the Company the right to use a jet aircraft owned by it on a 
time-sharing basis in accordance with, and subject to the 
reimbursement of certain operating costs and expenses as 
provided in, the Federal Aviation Regulations (FAR). Such 
operating costs were $153, $63 and $155 during fiscal 2017, 
fiscal 2016 and fiscal 2015, respectively. LR Enterprises is 
solely responsible for the physical and technical opera-
tion of the aircraft, aircraft maintenance and the cost of 
maintaining aircraft liability insurance, other than insur-
ance obtained for the specific flight as requested by the 
Company, as provided in the FAR.
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The Company has leases for two locations for its corporate 
offices with related parties: the first location is leased from 
an entity, in which Leonard Riggio has a majority interest, 
under a lease expiring in 2023, and the second location 
is leased from an entity, in which Leonard Riggio has a 
minority interest, under a lease expired in 2016. In fiscal 
2017, the second location was extended through 2023. 
Both locations were rented at an aggregate annual rent, 
including real estate taxes, of approximately $9,637, $7,784 
and $6,834 during fiscal 2017, fiscal 2016 and fiscal 2015, 
respectively.

The Company leased an office/warehouse from a partner-
ship, in which Leonard Riggio had a 50% interest, pursu-
ant to a lease terminated effective December 30, 2015. 
The space was rented at an annual rent of $456 and $262 
during fiscal 2016 through the date of termination and 
fiscal 2015, respectively. During fiscal 2015, the Company 
received credits totaling $418, representing the net effect 
of inadvertent overpayment of construction expenses and 
underpayment of base rent previously paid. Net of subten-
ant income, the Company paid rent of $179 during fiscal 
2016 through the date of termination and received $174 
during fiscal 2015 due to credits noted above.

The Company was provided with national freight distribu-
tion and trucking services by Argix Direct Inc. (Argix), a 
company in which a brother of Leonard Riggio owned a 
20% interest. The Company paid Argix $19,102 and $47,536 
for such services during fiscal 2016 through the date of 
termination and fiscal 2015, respectively. The contracted 
relationship between Argix and the Company has termi-
nated due to Argix exiting the industry during fiscal 2016.
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24 .  DIVIDENDS

The Company paid a dividend to preferred shareholders in the amount of $0 and $3,941 in fiscal 2017 and fiscal 2016, 
respectively.

The Company paid a dividend to common stockholders in the amount of $43,887 and $46,056 during fiscal 2017 and fiscal 
2016, respectively.

25 .  SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)

A summary of quarterly financial information for fiscal 2017 and fiscal 2016 is as follows:

Fiscal 2017 Quarterly Period Ended On
July 30,

 2016
October 29, 

2016
January 28, 

2017
April 29,  

2017
Fiscal Year  

2017

Sales $ 913,882 858,548 1,300,908 821,220 3,894,558

Gross profit 277,539 255,375 436,801 242,487 1,212,202

Net income (loss) $ (14,416) (20,409) 70,276 (13,428) 22,023

Basic income (loss) per common share $     (0.20) (0.29) 0.97 (0.19) 0.30

Diluted income (loss) per common share $     (0.20) (0.29) 0.96 (0.19) 0.30

 
 
Fiscal 2016 Quarterly Period Ended On

August 1,  
2015

October 31, 
2015

January 30, 
2016

April 30,  
2016

Fiscal Year 
2016

Sales $ 978,559 894,654 1,413,947 876,684 4,163,844

Gross profit 300,098 269,786 491,655 265,758 1,327,297

Net income (loss) from continuing operations (7,751) (27,203) 80,262 (30,608) 14,700

Net loss from discontinued operations (27,123) (12,023) — — (39,146)

Net income (loss) $ (34,874) (39,226) 80,262 (30,608) (24,446)

Basic income (loss) per common share:

Income (loss) from continuing operations $    (0.27) (0.36) 1.04 (0.42) 0.05

Loss from discontinued operations (0.41) (0.16) — — (0.54)

Basic income (loss) per common share $    (0.68) (0.52) 1.04 (0.42) (0.49)

Diluted income (loss) per common share:

Income (loss) from continuing operations $    (0.27) (0.36) 1.04 (0.42) 0.05

Loss from discontinued operations (0.41) (0.16) — — (0.54)

Diluted income (loss) per common share $    (0.68) (0.52) 1.04 (0.42) (0.49)

26 .  SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Dividends to Stockholders
On June 7, 2017, the Company announced its Board of Directors declared a quarterly cash dividend of $0.15 per share, pay-
able on July 28, 2017 to stockholders of record at the close of business on July 7, 2017.
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The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Barnes & 
Noble, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance 
sheets of Barnes & Noble, Inc. as of April 29, 2017 and April 
30, 2016, and the related consolidated statements of opera-
tions, comprehensive income (loss), shareholders’ equity 
and cash flows for each of the three years in the period 
ended April 29, 2017. Our audits also included the financial 
statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15(a). These 
financial statements and schedule are the responsibil-
ity of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is 
to express an opinion on these financial statements and 
schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards 
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the financial statements are free of material misstatement. 
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence 
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting 
principles used and significant estimates made by manage-
ment, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement 
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reason-
able basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above 
present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated 
financial position of Barnes & Noble, Inc. at April 29, 2017 
and April 30, 2016, and the consolidated results of its 
operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in 
the period ended April 29, 2017, in conformity with U.S. 
generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our 
opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when 
considered in relation to the basic financial statements 
taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material respects the 
information set forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of 
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States), Barnes & Noble, Inc.’s internal control over 
financial reporting as of April 29, 2017, based on criteria 
established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework 
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations 
of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) and our 
report dated June 22, 2017 expressed an unqualified opin-
ion thereon.

Ernst & Young LLP 

New York, NY 
June 22, 2017

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
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The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Barnes & 
Noble, Inc.

We have audited Barnes & Noble, Inc.’s internal control 
over financial reporting as of April 29, 2017, based on crite-
ria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework 
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of 
the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO 
criteria). Barnes & Noble, Inc.’s management is responsible 
for maintaining effective internal control over financial 
reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of 
internal control over financial reporting included in the 
accompanying Management’s Annual Report on Internal 
Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to 
express an opinion on the company’s internal control over 
financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of 
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
effective internal control over financial reporting was 
maintained in all material respects. Our audit included 
obtaining an understanding of internal control over finan-
cial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness 
exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating 
effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, 
and performing such other procedures as we considered 
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit 
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a 
process designed to provide reasonable assurance regard-
ing the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation 
of financial statements for external purposes in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s 
internal control over financial reporting includes those 
policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance 
of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly 
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the 
company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transac-
tions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of 
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures 
of the company are being made only in accordance with 

authorizations of management and directors of the com-
pany; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding 
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, 
use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a 
material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over 
financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstate-
ments. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness 
to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may 
become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or 
that the degree of compliance with the policies or proce-
dures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Barnes & Noble, Inc. maintained, in all 
material respects, effective internal control over financial 
reporting as of April 29, 2017, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of 
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States), the consolidated balance sheets of Barnes & Noble, 
Inc. as of April 29, 2017 and April 30, 2016, and the related 
consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive 
income (loss), shareholders’ equity and cash flows for 
each of the three years in the period ended April 29, 2017 
of Barnes & Noble, Inc. and our report dated June 22, 2017 
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Ernst & Young LLP 

New York, NY 
June 22, 2017

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
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MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The management of Barnes & Noble, Inc. is responsible 
for the contents of the Consolidated Financial Statements, 
which are prepared in conformity with accounting prin-
ciples generally accepted in the United States of America. 
The Consolidated Financial Statements necessarily include 
amounts based on judgments and estimates. Financial 
information elsewhere in the Annual Report is consistent 
with that in the Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Company maintains a comprehensive accounting 
system, which includes controls designed to provide rea-
sonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability of the 
financial records and the protection of assets. An internal 
audit staff is employed to regularly test and evaluate both 
internal accounting controls and operating procedures, 
including compliance with the Company’s statement of 
policy regarding ethical and lawful conduct. The Audit 
Committee of the Board of Directors composed of direc-
tors who are not members of management, meets regularly 
with management, the independent registered public 
accountants and the internal auditors to ensure that their 
respective responsibilities are properly discharged. Ernst 
& Young LLP and the Internal Audit Department of the 
Company have full and free independent access to the Audit 
Committee. The role of Ernst & Young LLP, an independent 
registered public accounting firm, is to provide an objec-
tive examination of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
and the underlying transactions in accordance with the 
standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight 
Board. The report of Ernst & Young LLP accompanies the 
Consolidated Financial Statements.

OTHER INFORMATION

The Company has included the Section 302 certifications 
of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial 
Officer of the Company as Exhibits 31.1 and 31.2 to its 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal 2017 filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission, and the Company 
will submit to the New York Stock Exchange a certificate of 
the Chief Executive Officer of the Company certifying that 
he is not aware of any violation by the Company of New York 
Stock Exchange corporate governance listing standards.

 68 Barnes & Noble, Inc. 



SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

BARNES & NOBLE,  INC. 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Leonard Riggio
Chairman 
Barnes & Noble, Inc.

Demos Parneros
Chief Executive Officer
Barnes & Noble, Inc.

George Campbell Jr.
Former Chairman
Webb Institute

Mark D. Carleton
Chief Financial Officer
Liberty Media 

Scott S. Cowen
President Emeritus
Tulane University

William Dillard, II
Chairman and Chief 
Executive Officer
Dillard’s, Inc.

Al Ferrara
Certified Public Accountant 
and Former Partner
BDO USA, LLP

Paul Guenther
Former President
PaineWebber Group, Inc.

Patricia L. Higgins
Former President and Chief 
Executive Officer
Switch & Data Facilities 
Company, Inc.

Kimberly A. Van Der Zon
Partner
Egon Zehnder

BARNES & NOBLE,  INC. 
EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Leonard Riggio
Chairman 

Demos Parneros
Chief Executive Officer

Allen W. Lindstrom
Chief Financial Officer

Mary Ellen Keating
Senior Vice President of 
Corporate Communications 
and Public Affairs

David S. Deason
Vice President of Barnes & 
Noble Development

Bradley A. Feuer
Vice President, General 
Counsel and Corporate 
Secretary

Mary Amicucci
Vice President, Chief 
Merchandising Officer

Frederic D. Argir
Vice President and Chief 
Digital Officer

William E. Wood
Vice President and Chief 
Information Officer

Peter M. Herpich
Vice President, Corporate 
Controller and Principal 
Accounting Officer

Michelle Smith
Vice President of Human 
Resources

COMMON STOCK PRICE RANGE AND  
DIVIDEND INFORMATION

The Company’s common stock is traded on the New York 
Stock Exchange (NYSE) under the symbol BKS.  The fol-
lowing table sets forth, for the quarterly periods indicated, 
the high and low sales prices of the common stock on the 
NYSE Composite Tape.  On August 2, 2015, Barnes & Noble 
completed the Spin-Off of Barnes & Noble Education and 
distributed, on a pro rata basis, all of the shares of B&N 
Education common stock to the Company’s stockholders of 
record as of July 27, 2015. Barnes & Noble stockholders of 
record as of July 27, 2015 received a distribution of 0.632 
shares of B&N Education common stock for each share of 
Barnes & Noble common stock held as of the record date.  

HIGH LOW

FISCAL YEAR 2017

First Quarter $13.31 $10.25

Second Quarter $13.63 $10.15

Third Quarter $13.20 $9.40

Fourth Quarter $10.95 $8.45

FISCAL YEAR 2016

First Quarter (Pre-Spin) $29.00 $21.85

Second Quarter (Post-Spin) $18.17 $11.45

Third Quarter $13.68 $7.62

Fourth Quarter $12.67 $7.25

As of June 30, 2017 there were 72,512,722 shares of com-
mon stock outstanding held by 1,676 shareholders of 
record, which includes 76,706 shares of unvested restricted 
stock that have voting rights and are held by members of 
the Board of Directors and the Company’s employees.  
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

Corporate Headquarters:

Barnes & Noble, Inc. 
122 Fifth Avenue 
New York, New York 10011 
(212) 633-3300

Common Stock:

New York Stock Exchange, Symbol: BKS

Transfer Agent and Registrar:
Computershare  
P.O. 505000  
Louisville, KY  40233 
Stockholder Inquiries:  (866) 209-1207

Website: www.computershare.com/investor

Counsel:

Cravath, Swaine & Moore LLP, New York, New York

Independent Public Accountants:

Ernst & Young LLP, New York, New York

Stockholder Services:

Inquiries from our stockholders and potential investors are 
always welcome.

General financial information can be obtained by visiting 
the Company’s Corporate Website:  
www.barnesandnobleinc.com.

You can obtain copies of our Annual Reports, Form 10-K 
and 10-Q documents and other financial information, 
free of charge, on the “Investor Relations” section of the 
Company’s Corporate Website: www.barnesandnobleinc.
com.

All other inquiries should be directed to:
Investor Relations Department, Barnes & Noble, Inc. 
122 Fifth Avenue, New York, New York 10011 
Phone: (212) 633-3489 

Stock Performance Chart
The Stock Price Performance Chart below compares the 
cumulative stockholder return of the Company with that 
of the S&P 500 Index and the Dow Jones US Specialty 
Retailers Index over the five fiscal year period beginning 
April 28, 2012. The comparison assumes $100 was invested 
on April 28, 2012 in shares of our common stock and in 
each of the indices shown, and assumes that all of the 
dividends were reinvested.

Comparison of 5-Year Total Return Among Barnes & Noble, Inc., 
S&P 500 Stock Index and Dow Jones US Specialty Retailers Index
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TOP 10  HARDCOVER 
FICTION

The Whistler 
John Grisham 
Knopf Doubleday 
Publishing Group

Two by Two  
Nicholas Sparks 
Grand Central 
Publishing

The Underground 
Railroad 
Colson Whitehead 
Knopf Doubleday 
Publishing Group

Small Great Things 
Jodi Picoult 
Random House 
Publishing Group

The Woman in Cabin 10 
Ruth Ware  
Gallery/Scout Press

Milk and Honey 
Rupi Kaur  
Andrews McMeel 
Publishing

All the Light We Cannot 
See 
Anthony Doerr  
Scribner

Cross the Line 
James Patterson  
Little, Brown and 
Company

Night School  
Lee Child  
Random House 
Publishing Group

No Man’s Land 
David Baldacci  
Grand Central 
Publishing

TOP 10  HARDCOVER 
NON-FICTION

Killing the Rising Sun 
Bill O’Reilly 
Holt, Henry & 
Company, Inc.

Hamilton 
Lin-Manuel Miranda 
and Jeremy McCarter 
Grand Central 
Publishing

Hillbilly Elegy 
J. D. Vance  
HarperCollins 
Publishers

Born to Run 
Bruce Springsteen 
Simon & Schuster

The Magnolia Story 
Chip and Joanna Gaines 
Nelson, Thomas, Inc.

Cooking for Jeffrey 
Ina Garten 
Potter/TenSpeed/
Harmony

When Breath Becomes 
Air 
Paul Kalanithi  
Random House 
Publishing Group

Settle for More 
Megyn Kelly  
HarperCollins 
Publishers

The Whole30 
Melissa Hartwig and 
Dallas Hartwig 
Houghton Mifflin 
Harcourt

The Girl with the Lower 
Back Tattoo 
Amy Schumer  
Gallery Books

TOP 10  PAPERBACK 
NON-FICTION

Rand McNally Road 
Atlas 2017 
Rand McNally  
Rand McNally

Alexander Hamilton 
Ron Chernow 
Penguin Publishing 
Group

The Official SAT Study 
Guide 2017 
The College Board 
College Board

You Are a Badass 
Jen Sincero 
Running Press Book 
Publishers

The 5 Love Languages 
Gary Chapman 
Moody Publishers

The Official ACT Prep 
Guide, 2016 - 2017 
 ACT 
Wiley

How to Win Friends and 
Influence People 
Dale Carnegie 
Gallery Books

Night 
Elie Wiesel 
Farrar, Straus and 
Giroux

Outliers 
Malcolm Gladwell 
Little, Brown and 
Company

The Boys in the Boat 
Daniel James Brown 
Penguin Publishing 
Group

TOP 10  PAPERBACK 
FICTION

The Girl on the Train 
Paula Hawkins 
Penguin Publishing 
Group

Milk and Honey 
Rupi Kaur 
Andrews McMeel 
Publishing

A Man Called Ove 
Fredrik Backman 
Washington Square 
Press

Me Before You 
Jojo Moyes 
Penguin Publishing 
Group

The Alchemist  
Paulo Coelho 
HarperCollins 
Publishers

A Dog’s Purpose 
W. Bruce Cameron 
Tom Doherty Associates

In a Dark, Dark Wood 
Ruth Ware 
Gallery/Scout Press

My Grandmother Asked 
Me to Tell You She’s 
Sorry 
Fredrik Backman 
Washington Square 
Press

The Great Gatsby 
F. Scott Fitzgerald 
Scribner

Fahrenheit 451 
Ray Bradbury 
Simon & Schuster

TOP 10  JUVENILE

Harry Potter and the 
Cursed Child 
J. K. Rowling, John 
Tiffany and Jack Thorne 
Scholastic, Inc.

Harry Potter and the 
Sorcerer’s Stone 
J. K. Rowling 
Scholastic, Inc.

The Hidden Oracle  
Rick Riordan  
Disney Press

Harry Potter and the 
Chamber of Secrets 
J. K. Rowling 
Scholastic, Inc.

Fantastic Beasts and 
Where to Find Them 
J. K. Rowling 
Scholastic, Inc.

Double Down 
Jeff Kinney 
Amulet Books

Miss Peregrine’s Home 
for Peculiar Children 
Ransom Riggs 
Quirk Publishing

Oh, the Places You’ll 
Go! 
Dr. Seuss 
Random House 
Children’s Books

Gravity Falls: Journal 3 
Alex Hirsch and Rob 
Renzetti 
Disney Press

The Hammer of Thor 
Rick Riordan 
Disney Press
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TOP 10  NOOK 
BOOKS

Harry Potter and the 
Cursed Child  
J. K. Rowling, John 
Tiffany and Jack Thorne 
Scholastic, Inc.

The Whistler 
John Grisham 
Knopf Doubleday 
Publishing Group

The Girl on the Train 
Paula Hawkins 
Penguin Publishing 
Group

15th Affair 
James Patterson 
Little, Brown and 
Company

Cross the Line 
James Patterson 
Little, Brown and 
Company

The Wrong Side of 
Goodbye 
Michael Connelly 
Little, Brown and 
Company

Night School 
Lee Child 
Random House 
Publishing Group

Small Great Things 
Jodi Picoult 
Random House 
Publishing Group

No Man’s Land 
David Baldacci 
Grand Central 
Publishing

Turbo Twenty-Three  
Janet Evanovich 
Random House 
Publishing Group

SLEEPERS

Lilac Girls 
Martha Hall Kelly 
Random House 
Publishing Group

The Couple Next Door 
Shari Lapena 
Penguin Publishing 
Group

Homegoing 
Yaa Gyasi 
Knopf Doubleday 
Publishing Group

Rest in the Mourning 
r.h. Sin 
Andrews McMeel 
Publishing

Atlas Obscura 
Joshua Foer, Ella 
Morton and Dylan 
Thuras 
Workman Publishing 
Company

White Trash 
Nancy Isenberg 
Penguin Publishing 
Group

Diary of an Oxygen 
Thief 
Anonymous 
Oxygen Thief Diaries 
Series

This Is Where It Ends 
Marieke Nijkamp 
Sourcebooks

Three Dark Crowns 
Kendare Blake 
HarperCollins 
Publishers

The Silver Eyes 
Scott Cawthon, Kira 
Breed-Wrisley 
Scholastic, Inc.

THE PULITZER 
PRIZE

The Underground 
Railroad 
Colson Whitehead 
Knopf Doubleday 
Publishing Group 
Fiction

Blood in the Water 
Heather Ann Thompson 
Knopf Doubleday 
Publishing Group 
History

Olio 
Tyehimba Jess 
Wave Books 
Poetry

The Return 
Hisham Matar 
Random House 
Publishing Group 
Biography or 
Autobiography

Evicted 
Matthew Desmond 
Crown 
General Non-fiction

Sweat 
Lynn Nottage 
Theatre 
Communications Group 
Drama

THE NATIONAL 
BOOK AWARDS

The Underground 
Railroad 
Colson Whitehead 
Knopf Doubleday 
Publishing Group 
Fiction

Stamped from the 
Beginning 
Ibram X. Kendi 
PublicAffairs 
Non-fiction

The Performance of 
Becoming Human 
Daniel Borzutzky 
Brooklyn Arts Press 
Poetry 

March: Book Three 
John Lewis, Andrew 
Aydin & Nate Powell 
IDW Publishing 
Young People’s Literature

THE NATIONAL 
BOOK CRITICS 
CIRCLE AWARDS

LaRose 
Louise Erdrich 
HarperCollins 
Publishers 
Fiction

Shirley Jackson 
Ruth Franklin 
Liveright 
Biography

Lab Girl 
Hope Jahren 
Knopf Doubleday 
Publishing Group 
Autobiography

White Rage 
Carol Anderson 
Bloomsbury 
Criticism

Evicted 
Matthew Desmond 
Crown 
General Non-fiction

House of Lords and 
Commons 
Ishion Hutchinson 
Farrar, Straus and 
Giroux 
Poetry

Homegoing 
Yaa Gyasi 
Knopf Doubleday 
Publishing Group 
The John Leonard Prize 

THE DISCOVER 
AWARDS

The Lightkeepers 
Abby Geni 
Counterpoint Press 
Fiction

Evicted 
Matthew Desmond 
Crown 
Non-fiction

THE MAN BOOKER 
PRIZE FOR FICTION

The Sellout 
Paul Beatty 
Picador

THE CALDECOTT 
MEDAL

Radiant Child 
Javaka Steptoe 
Little, Brown Books for 
Young Readers

THE NEWBERY 
MEDAL

The Girl Who Drank the 
Moon 
Kelly Barnhill 
Algonquin Books of 
Chapel Hill

THE CORETTA 
SCOTT KING 
AUTHOR AWARD

March: Book Three 
John Lewis, Andrew 
Aydin & Nate Powell 
IDW Publishing

THE HUGO AWARD

The Fifth Season 
N. K. Jemisin 
Orbit  
Novel

THE EDGAR AWARD

Before the Fall 
Noah Hawley 
Grand Central 
Publishing 
Novel

AWARD WINNERS
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